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Thursday, 4 June 1992

THE DEPUTY PRESIDENT (IHon Garry Kelly) took the Chair at 2.30 pm, and read
Prayers.

PETITION - AUSTRALIAN FLAG
Retention Support

Hon Murray Montgomery presented a petition from 131 citizens of Western Australia
supporting the retention of the existing national flag.
[See paper No 164.]

STANDING ORDERS COMMITTEE
Questions on Notice Report Tabling

HON DOUG WENN (South West) [2.34 pm]: I am directed to present the report of the
Standing Orders Committee relating to questions on notice. I move -

That the report do lie upon the Table and be printed.
Question put and passed.
[See paper No 165.]

MOTION - STANDING COMMITTEE ON CONSTITUTIONAL AFFAIRS AND
STATUTES REVISION

Women's Information and Referral Exchange -Western Women Financial
Services Pry Ltd Petition Inquiry - Progress Report

HON MARK NEVILL (Mining and Pastoral - Parliamentary Secretary) [2.36 pm): I
move -

That the Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision Committee be, and is hereby,
ordered -

(1) (a) to report not later than 18 June 1992 what progress has been made as
to its inquiry into a petition on the relationship between WIRE and
Western Women and related matters; and

(b) to report finally on the matter referred to in paragraph (a) not later than
22 October 1992; .

(2) Where the House is adjourned for more than seven days at the time at which
the committee is ready to report in accordance with order (l)(a) or (b), the
committee shall report to the President who is hereby authorised to release
and publish that report. Any report so released and published shall be tabled
at the next appropriate sitting.

I move this motion because I believe a need exists for the Constitutional Affairs and Statutes
Revision Committee to report on the progress of its activities. The committee was formed
some 18 months ago. It started this inquiry into the involvement of Government agencies
with the Western Women group in November last year. Little progress has been made since
then. The House should be informed of the committee's progress on this inquiry, which has
been proceeding for close to eight months. That is a rather long period to proceed without
reporting to the House formally.
The committee has not commenced the second leg of its inquiry; that is, to provide
recommendations to ensure that this sont of conduct is avoided in future. To date the
committee has pursued solely the first term of reference, without making much progress.
The committee got off to a bad start when the chairman, Hon Bob Pike, was critical of the
Attorney General in this Chamber, suggesting that the intention of the Attorney General was
to shut down the activities of the Standing Committee because of the inquiry into WIRE and
its involvement with the Western Women group. That was a patent distortion of events
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because when the Attorney General moved a motion to review the work of the Standing
Committee on Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision the term of reference was before
the Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations. The Attorney General gave
notice of that motion on 17 October 1991. The Estimates Committee referred the petition
relating to Western Women and WIRE to the Constitutional Affairs Committee on 13
November 1991, more than a month after the Attorney General moved his motion. There
was no way he could have anticipated that happening and there was nothing to prevent the
inquiry reporting under whichever committee the term of reference was transferred under the
new committee system; that was a blatant distortion. When Hon Joe Berinson's motion was
debated in this House there was no such intention at all; it was a later event.
Before proceeding I want to point out my record in relation to Standing Committees of this
House. I chaired the Standing Committee on Government Agencies for three years, during
which time it was a very active productive committee which worked very harmoniously, and
I found working on that committee very satisfying. I worked with a number of members of
this House, including Hon Norman Moore, Hon Max Evans, Hon Eric Charlton, and I think
Hon Colin Bell. I found that committee extremely worthwhile and felt it provided a positive
contribution in reviewing legislation and Government agencies. We covered a vast number
of areas during those three years and I am not aware of one major difference having occurred
between members of the committee during that rime.
Members should contrast that with the situation we have now with the Standing Committee
on Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision, which is being run in a very different
manner. I will talk about that in a moment. One never knows what will happen next. There
is no communication and there is continual friction. That same friction was manifest before
when the same member was the chairman of a Select Committee. Hon Robert Pike's track
record on committees is very different from mine.
I have had a very positive attitude to the committee system of this House, and argued for it
within my own party when the committee system was very unpopular. The first or second
year after I was elected I moved the Address-in-Reply to the Governor's Speech, and I spoke
then about the committee system. I worked with Hon Vic Ferry, Hon [an Pratt and Hon Jim
Brown on a report into the committee system of this House and it is quite distressing for me
to see our Standing Committee system crumbling for the want of integrity in the way one of
those committees is conducted.
I will outline how I believe committees of this House should be run, based on my own
experience and on commonsense. In recent days witnesses giving evidence before the
Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs have been asked the same questions six or
seven times by different members. When I was chairing a Standing Committee all the
committee members provided their questions to the chairman who, with the help of the
research officer, put them into logical order so that witnesses could follow through their
evidence in a fairly coherent manner. If any matters needed pursuing further individual
members had an opportunity to probe that problem or ask about other matters that had arisen
during questioning. Any material to be examined was always circulated to committee
members before the committee meeting started so that they knew what they were dealing
with.

Point of Order
Hon PETER FOSS: I raise this point of order not so much to object to what Hon Mark
Nevill is saying as to make sure that I understand the ground rules. The member is referring
to the proceedings of the Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs, I assume because it
is germane to the motion; in other words, he is saying that that is the subject matter of the
motion. If that is the case, that obviously would have to apply throughout the debate. I
would not want it to be thought that, by our sitting here mute now, we would allow the
member to refer to those proceedings but he might then object to what we say in reply.
Hon Mark Nevill. I was referring to how the Standing Committee on Government Agencies
was run.
Hon PETER FOSS: The member also referred to the way in which the Chairman of the
Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs was handling questions and the fact that
members asked the same question a number of times. I would like a ruling from you,
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Mr Deputy President, as to what we can and cannot do in this debate. I am quite happy to
abide by whatever the rules are, so long as I understand what they are.

Deputy President's Ruling
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): I rule that there is no point of order, and I
will explain my ruling. Standing Order No 356 provides that the proceedings of a committee
are not noticed by the Council until they are reported. However, if members cast their minds
back to the early hours of today they will recall that the President ruled Hon Kay Hallahan
out of order when she attempted to raise a matter which would, if allowed to proceed, have
noted the proceedings of the Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs. The President
made that ruling not because the Minister for Education attempted to seek to debate it during
the adjournment debate at 3.00 am - which I suggest would have been both necessary and
sufficient reason in its own right - but because the matter would note the proceedings of the
committee. However, the President said that if the Minister wished to move a substantive
motion, that would be a way in which she could bring matters she wished to raise before the
House. By ruling that there is no point of order I am being consistent with what the
President ruled earlier this morning.

Debate Resumed
Hon MARK NEVILL: Thank you, Mr Deputy President. I repeat that when I was chairman
any material to be used in examination of witnesses giving evidence to the Standing
Committee on Government Agencies was circulated to committee members before the
meeting so that they could read and understand it and ask sensible questions about it. It is
also a matter of natural justice that some material should be provided to witnesses to the
committee so that they can refresh their memories as to the contents of those documents and
what transpired at that time- I would have thought that suggestion might appeal to a lawyer
who is a strong civil libertarian. Committee members then followed up with additional
questions. Usually two or three days are set aside by committees to examine witnesses -
which is a very different procedure from the one adopted by the Standing Committee on
Constitutional Affairs - as in that way committees can formulate a set of questions and hear
evidence from eight or 10 key witnesses, and if necessary recall some witnesses at a later
date or write to them seeking further information. Also, I have always understood that the
research officer or legal adviser to a committee provides advice to all committee members,
and that any member of the committee has the undoubted right to approach that legal adviser
or research officer for an opinion on a private matter. However, the chief role of that person
is to provide advice to the committee, to go through documents, conduct research and to
provide information to the committee in relation to its terms of reference. That is not the
case with the Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision, as we are
told that individual members can seek assistance from the legal officer. The procedure I
outline is a more productive way to run a committee and to arrive at the facts. Once that is
done, the committee should then determine what its views are from those facts. A: our last
public hearing on Wednesday, we received quite different answers to very similar questions.
I found this to be confusing, and, as I have said before, this does not lead to any continuity in
questioning.
I now refer to the manner in which the committee has been run. As I said earlier, the
chairman takes the view that the legal adviser to the committee is available to advise
members individually;, that is, members go to the adviser and seek an opinion. I do not agree
with that. That might be all right on private matters, but generally legal advisers are present
to go through the documents, to determine the issues and facts, and then present those facts
to the committee as a whole. It is a novel view of the role of the legal advisers adopted by
this committee. Until yesterday's meeting I - I cannot speak for Hon John Caldwell - had not
been provided with any of the research material or questions. I received a copy of the
questions prepared by the legal adviser yesterday before questioning started, but that was
probably because of my complaints at previous meetings. Nevertheless, it was difficult to
obtain copies because, unfortunately, the photocopier was not working.
Hon Doug Wenn: There is only one photocopier around town, is there?
Hon MARK NEVILL: The other problem I have highlighted to the House is that of
documents being circulated during the committee meeting. This was done in difficult
situations with four or five important documents being circulated as the witness was being
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questioned on sensitive matters. This made for a difficult situation and it made it hard to ask
sensible questions. Frankly, this is unsatisfactory. I would never dream of subjecting any
member of this House to that procedure; I would never consider it. Anybody who has
worked with me on a Select or Standing Committee - whether I was the chairman or a
member - would know that, and could not charge otherwise.
Another problem with this inquiry is that it has been run to a large degree for the
convenience of the media and not members. We go into the committee room and often up to
four television cameras are set up along with radio equipment, and journalists and
photographers are in the room. During the meetings cameramen move from one part of the
room to another. This does not worry me, but it could be disconcerting to a nervous witness.
The cameras should remain set up in a stationary position and the photographer should be
allowed to take only a few shots. I counted up to 10 shots taken with a flash by one
photographer of the same witness from the same position at the last meeting. That is
unacceptable.
Another problem with the procedure is chat when the committee sits in private session we
must leave the committee room and enter the photocopier room to discuss whether we will
hear evidence in camera. This is a small closet, yet the media has the luxury of the
committee room. Two weeks ago the committee was in the photocopier room when one of
the staff barged into the room and hit Margaret James in the back with the door, she received
a severe jolt. I moved a motion there and then that the committee hold its meetings in the
committee room, and that the media be asked to set up cameras before we start our hearings;
the media should then be asked to leave the room while we have our preliminary or closed
committee meetings. At the conclusion of these meetings the media could be called back
into the committee room. That did not happen on Wednesday. The media set up in the
committee room, but only after the meeting had started.
I am a fairly tolerant person, and I do not usually fly off the handle at a minor breach of rules
or if something slightly irregular is going on; I usually take things in my stride and do not
become irate. However, things have gone too far with this committee and I must have my
say on this.
Another problem is that Hon Peter Foss has graced the private hearings of the committee,
especially with the meetings in the little photocopy room. That is a direc breach of Standing
Order No 350, which states that no person other than a member or officer of the committee
may be present during a committee's deliberation.

Point of Order
Hon PETER FOSS: I take objection to that. I have been accused of breaching Standing
Orders, which is a reflection on me as a member of this place.
Hon Mark Nevill: Do you deny it?
Hon Peter Foss: I am always kicked out before the meeting is held.
Hon Mark Nevill: I have noted that you have been present and that you have discussed
whether the witness should be giving evidence in camera. You have been present at least
twice and you have left once before the vote was taken, but you have been there.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon B.L. Jones): Order! This is a debatable point of order.
The member has not had an opportunity to clarify his accusation. He should expand a little
further on this.

Debate Resumed
Hon MARK NEVELL: As sure as I stand here, Hon Peter Foss has attended at least two
meetings of the committee in its closed session. Although he should not be present. I give
him the credit for on one occasion leaving before the vote was taken.
Hon Peter Foss: If you did not want me there, you should have said so.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: The debate will proceed better without the cross-Chamber
exchanges.
Hon MARK NEVIL.L: Another thing which disturbed me was that I recently discovered that
Hon Peter Foss had a list of the documents which were lodged with the committee
approximately two or three weeks before I was given a copy. Does he deny that?
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Hon Peter Foss: I do not have a copy to this day. I sat next to Mark Hilditch.
Hon MARK NEVILL: He has access to those documents, which is more than I have. I did
not even know they were available.
Hon Peter Foss interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Beryl Jones): Order! Perhaps the member should address
the Chair.
Hon MARK NEVILL: Perhaps Hon Peter Foss should suggest other questions I should ask
to find out what information is available.
Hon Peter Foss: You don't even bother to look at the documents.

Point of Order
Hon MARK NEVILL: That I do not bother to look at the documents was a rather sloppy
retort. I have spent many hours going through them.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: There is no point of order. The member should address his
comments to the chair.

Debate Resumed
Hon MARK NEVILL: I am tailking about the way a committee should not be run. I do not
believe any other member in this House would run a committee that way.
On, I think, Tuesday, 7 January, I was ac Mt Barnett in the Kimberley, a station and
roadhouse which is 300 or 400 krns east of Derby. It was the day after the boat people had
arrived on the coast. At that rime of the year trave! is not easy because the road is rather
greasy and wet. When I rang my office to ask about any messages I was informed that notice
had been given on the Monday afternoon that a committee meeting would be held the
following Wednesday morning.
Hon Barry House interjected.
Hon MARK NEVILL: Perhaps they do. However, I am talking about a fairly sensitive
issue.
Hon P.G. Pendal: You are not talking about the motion, that is what bothers us.
Hon MARX NEVIOLL: I think I am. In that instance a member was given notice on the
Monday afternoon about a meeting on the following Wednesday morning. It must be
remembered that two of the three members of the committee are country members. I have a
massive electorate as do some other members; for example, Hon John Caldwell has a very
large electorate. It is quite easy for Hon Bob Pike to drive from Karrinyup or wherever he
lives in the suburbs to the Chamber. It is discourteous to give members such short notice. In
the Senate, if a member of one party is not available to attend a Standing Committee the
meeting is abandoned because there is no cross-party representation. I have endeavoured to
correct a few of these problems, but it is pretty hard when one is in a minority. I do not want
to attribute any ulterior motives to my being provided with short notice of the meeting on the
Wednesday. However, as the witness that day was Christine Jones I thought it was improper
to hold the meeting without my being present.
My perception is that the committee is surrounded by a cloud of intrigue and mystery. For
example, the committee research officer suddenly departed a month or two ago. No
reference was made to the committee about that and, therefore, it did not make a decision
about whether she should go. She simply disappeared. I do not know whether her departure
was to satisfy the demands of the chairman, or what were the circumstances. The excuse
could have been made that she was overworked. I find it impossible to believe that a matter
like that was not the subject of discussion by the committee.
Hon George Cash: Did you raise the matter? Think hard.
Hon MARK NEVILL: I did not raise it in the committee.
Hon George Cash: Do you think you should have?
Hon MARK NEVILL: I have a fair idea about why that officer left. I do not see the need to
raise the matter with the committee.
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Hon George Cash: Why are you bleating about it if you did not raise it with the committee?
Hon MARK NEVELL: It is important that members know about these matters. Hon George
Cash might know why she left. None of my colleagues knows, because I have not discussed
the matter with them. Today is probably the first time they have heard about it. I would not
be surprised if Hon George Cash knew why the person left; but perhaps he does not.
Hon TOG. Butler: It sounds like a very sloppily run committee.
Hon N.F. Moore: You are not running it, that is the difference.
Hon George Cash interjected.
Hon MARK NEVILL: It sounds as though I ami hitting a few targets. Hon George Cash has
reaffirmed my reason for the motion.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon George Cash: Hon Mark Nevill sounds like a whinger who is not getting his own way
on a committee.
Hon MARK NEVTLL: I am not even being heard in the committee at times. I have no
objection to the soliciting of a legal adviser for the committee and I have no question about
his honesty. However, if staff are to be selected perhaps more members of the committee
should be involved. My objection to the way in which he was appointed is no reflection on
the competence of the present legal adviser. I will not dwell on the matter, but his
secondment should have been a decision of the committee. A pattern is evident of the
committee's being taken for granted. Members of the committee have been advised twice
that two people were appointed as research officers but they did not turn up. I can only
presume that they must have made inquiries!
Hon John Halden: It is not Bob Pike, is it?
Hon MARK NEVILL: It might have been me.
Hon John Halden: We know what the community thinks of the honourable member.
Hon MARX NEVILL: Material has been selectively leaked to the Press.
Hon P.G. Pendal: To whom did you attribute the leaking?
Hon MARX NEVILL: I am not one of those people who make shotgun allegations.
Hon George Cash: You just did.
Hon MARK NEVILL: I did not.
Hon P.G. Pendal: How do we know it was not you who leaked the material?
Hon Bob Thomas: Because we trust him.
Hon MARK NEVILL: My remarks must also be getting to Hon Phillip Pendal. The fact is
that part of confidential documents which were lodged with the committee appeared in an
article in The West Australian written by John McGlue.
Hon P.O. Pendal: Given what the Government did with Keith Simpson's financial affairs
and their leaking, it was probably someone in the Labor Party teaching you bad tricks.
Hon John Halden: You are wrong.
Hon MARX NEVILL: Hon Phillip Pendal is grasping at straws.
Documents were selectively leaked and the same documents were later used in evidence at
the committee. I do not know who leaked the documents to the Ness. I certainly did not as
there was no benefit or interest in my doing it. The fact is that copies of the documents were
lodged with the committee; they may have been leaked somewhere else. However, I do* not
have any confidence in the way the committee is run or in its integrity.
I am also concerned about documents that were subpoenaed from the Public Service
Commission. The commissioner sent some documents to the Clerk's office but withheld
others and advised the committee that he was retaining them and claiming legal professional
privilege. Before the matter was discussed, an article appeared in The West Australian
authorised by Hon Robert Pike suggesting that the Public Service Commission had refused to
give up the documents. That was an absolutely disgraceful distortion of the events. The
0680411
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commissioner had claimed legal professional privilege on some of the documents. That
matter should have been determined by the committee, not by the chairman. The committee
never discussed the matter, but the chairman went to the Press. That is the style of operation
of this committee. I and other members received a copy of a letter to the editor of The West
Australian explaining that the Public Service Commission had not refused to hand over the
documents. However, that was not published in The West Australian.
I also strongly opposed a successful motion by the chairman enabling him to subpoena
persons, documents and papers without notice to the committee. That disturbed me greatly
because, previously, a meeting was called on the Monday afternoon for the Wednesday
morning. It is essential in those cases that the committee be advised of who will be the
witness and what documents will be given to the committee because members need to do
their homework. The committee has already collected piles of documents and if members do
not know who will be the witness or find out only a couple of hours before the meeting is
held, there is no way they can prepare themselves to adequately cross-examine a witness. I
strongly opposed the chairman's being given that power. That he should have requested it is
mind boggling. I lost that vote as I lose a fair number of votes.
Hon John Halden: Two to one?
Hon Fred McKenzie: I know the feeling.
Hon MARK NEVILL: I will be fair and say that, at the following meeting, Hon Robert Pike
said he would not exercise that power although he believed it was within his rights under the
Standing Orders. He discussed the matter with the Clerk and said he would not exercise the
power.
Hon George Cash: That sounds like a generous way of cooperating.
Hon MARK NEVILL: Does Hon George Cash agree that the chairman of a committee
should have the right to call for persons, papers and records without notice to any other
member of the committee?
Hon George Cash: Do you agree that you are a disgruntled member of the committee? If
you are not, you are a failed member.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon B.L. Jones): Order! The member will address the Chair
and avoid cross-Chamber questioning.
Hon MARK NEVILL: There is not much point in asking questions of Hon George Cash if
he does not give answers.
Early in the life of the committee, the chairman drew up his own list of witnesses without
any reference to the committee. That amazed me. I have watched this charade in
amazement for eight months. I do not think any other committee would dream of operating
the way this committee operates. I have never heard of the chairmen of other committees of
this House calling whom they want without reference to members of the committee.
This committee also issues subpoenas to witnesses to appear before it or to lodge documents
before it requests them in writing to appear. That is objectionable. One witness had to be
subpoenaed, although I do not think her non-appearance was because of any malice on her
part; I think she received bad legal advice. Another witness was also subpoenaed to give
evidence. I will not mention her name because I do not want to get into the details of the
committee. The next thing I knew it was splashed across the Press that this person had to be
subpoenaed. That appears to the average person that the witness attended the committee
against her will. Again, that is objectionable. I believe we should first write to witnesses. If
they ignore the letter or obfuscate, we should subpoena them. I have never hesitated
subpoenaing witnesses who have not responded to a letter. That is on the record.
A further matter of concern to me is that correspondence is not circulated to members. I
have a copy of a letter dated 8 May from Margaret James to the Clerk of the Council,
Mr Marquet. Mr Marquet put a note "For action" at the bottom and dated it I I May. It was
tabled in the committee on 27 May 1992. at least three weeks after the Clerk had finished
with it. It was tabled the morning that Margaret James gave evidence and it was a request to
the committee to consider some matters. That is objectionable and unnecessary. The same
thing has happened in a few other cases. As I said, this committee is conducted for the
benefit of the media. I do not believe it is getting to the issues for which it was set up.
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The committee has not looked at the second limb Of its inquiry, which is to suggest ways in
which this sort of problem can be overcome. The cornmittee seems to be more interested in
notoriety than in natural justice. Itris a completely unsatisfactory state of affairs. I do not
believe any other member of this House would contemplate conducting a committee in this
manner. The House is entited to a progress report on the activities of the Constitutional
Affairs and Statutes Revision Committee, bearing in mind that it has been investigating the
Western Women group, the Women's Information and Referral Exchange and other
Government agencies for eight months. I do not believe my request is unreasonable or that
my rhetoric has been flamboyant. I have tried to be objective and to present the facts.
I ask members who look at marters objectively to support this motion, which asks that a
progress report be presented to the President of the Legislative Council on 1.8 June and that
the final report of the committee be submitted on 22 October. If carried, this motion will
focus the efforts of the committee. At the moment, the committee has no focus whatsoever
and it does not seem to be heading in any particular direction. It has not made much progress
and, while it continues to operate as it has been doing it will discredit this House and
particularly the committee system that many of us fought to get in this place and do not want
to see crumble. My experiences over the past eight months have almost killed my very
strong interest in the committee system in this House. I urge members to support the motion.
HON ILL. JONES (South West) [3.23 pm]: Although I am not officially a member of the
Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision, I have been an observer
on the last two occasions it has met. I must agree with my colleague's comments that
although the committee is conducted with decorum by the chairman, nevertheless I have
never before seen a committee which is so devoid of moral fibre in the manner in which
evidence is presented. I sat in on yesterday's meeting and I was appalled that material which
members of that committee had not been given an opportunity to read was presented to
witnesses while the committee was in session. It was necessary to try to absorb the contents
of the material while listening to the questions asked by the chairman and the answers
provided by the witness, and at the same time try to formulate one's own questions.
Committees of this type should be operated to enable all members of the committee to reach
logical conclusions. Its aim should be to establish the facts and it should not be used for
political point scoring. This committee is engaged purely in political point scoring and
attempts to get headlines in the newspapers.
I have been interested in WIRE for a number of years and I am aware of the excellent job it
has done. Therefore, I was interested in attending meetings of the committee. I was very
distressed when I saw the problems that WIRE had in its association or other-wise with
Western Women and that is why I attended committee meetings. I wanted to know the truth
of the matter and I was interested in hearing the witnesses' evidence and in asking some
questions to elicit the facts of the matter. I found that extremely difficult to do. I have been
a member of and chaired a number of committees and in my experience it is customary for
all material to be presented to committee members before witnesses appear before the
committee. The committee members work out an agenda, and make decisions on which
witnesses will be called and what questions will be asked. The committee should make the
decisions. That is clearly not the case with this committee. The chairman makes all the
decisions about who will be called and the questions that will be asked, without referring to
other members of the committee. I hope that in future the chairman will extend the courtesy
to other members of the committee of at least making material available to them at the same
time it becomes available to him, so that members can sit down and assess the matters to be
presented in future.
HON R.G. PIKE (North Metropolitan) [3.27 pmn]: In the first instance I will deal with the
comments by Hon Mark Nevill; because of the particular discourtesy and lack of cooperation
displayed by that member from the outset, I refer specifically to the comment he made about
the meeting held while he was in the north. I fortuitously asked the Clerk of the Standing
Committee on Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision to write to me on 10 January
1992 - I have a copy of that letter which I am happy to table - with regard to the meeting of
the committee to which Hon Mark Nevill objected. In that letter the clerk said that Mr
Nevill's secretary was advised on Monday of a meeting to be held the following Wednesday,
and the response was that it was too short notice. The letter is addressed to me and is signed
by Mark Hilditch, the clerk of the committee. I wI not read all the letter but it refers in part
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to procedures taken by the clerk of the Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs and
Statutes Revision to organise a meeting held on 8 January 1992. The letter states that the
clerk was asked by the chairman on Monday to endeavour to organise a meeting on the
following Wednesday. Later on the point is made that the reason for that was that the
witness, Chris Jones, said that her employer would not give her any more time off work. The
letter stares that the clerk informed the chairman who advised that, if suitable to the witness,
he would rearrange the meeting and bring it forward to 7.45 am. The witness agreed. That is
the reason the meeting was held with some urgency on 8 January. The alternative course of
action would have been to subpoena the witness. I advise the House that the committee has
had some difficulty recently with a witness who was requested to appear but who declined to
do so on the day before on the advice of her lawyer. It was necessary to ask another witness
to appear at short notice. There is an argument both ways that to be subpoenaed to appear
before a-committee has associated with it no ill will; ir is merely a normal procedure. Had it
happened on that occasion, the difficulty would not have arisen.
I refer once more to the advice from the clerk of the committee. He said that he contacted
Hon Mark Nevill's office and was informed that Hon Mark Nevill was not in his electorate
office, and it would be difficult ro contact him and also difficult for him to attend the
meeting. The clerk wrote that he got in touch with the chairman and that the chairman asked
him to ring Hon Mark Nevill's office and advise his secretary that the chairman would defer
the meeting to either Thursday or Friday of that week in an attempt to accommodate the
member, if he was unable to attend on the Wednesday.

Standing Orders Susspension
On motion without notice by Hon J.M. Berinson (Leader of the House), resolved with an
absolute majority -

That so much of Standing Orders be suspended as would enable the debate to
continue until 3.45 pm.

Debate Resumned
Hon R.G. PIKE: The member then advised his secretary, and she in turn advised the
committee, that he would be unable to attend the Wednesday meeting and would definitely
be unable to attend the Thursday or Friday meeting. The letter states also that, in view of the
fact that the two members constituted a quorum, the meeting went ahead without the
attendance of the member.
This witness had been asked to appear. She was nor subpoenaed. Indeed, the practice of the
committee is to request people to attend and not to subpoena them. The witness had
indicated that her employer would not give her any more time off work, Therefore, that
seemed to me to be the reasonable approach to take in the circumstances, and I would do
exactly the same thing again if the same circumstances arose. That was a proper and
reasonable procedure.
The petition which led to the appointment of this committee requests the Legislative Council
to appoint a committee to inquire into the links between Government agencies and the failed
Western Women's group, firstly, to determine whether the State bears any legal
responsibility for persons who relied on the investment advice of that group to their loss, and,
secondly, to consider legislation to prevent a recurrence.
This motion orders the Standing Committee to report not later than 18 June 1992. I am
currently in the process of trying to arrange a meeting on 17 June, the week after next, in
order to examine further witnesses. It is simply not practical for the committee to present an
interim report by 18 June.
Hon J.M. Berinson: When do you think it will be practical to present an interim report if
18 June is not practical?
Hon R.G. PIKE: I will address the question of the interim report. The committee has
retained Peter Atkins, a former senior partner at Parker and Parker, as its legal adviser. I
have been meticulous in checking with the authorities in the Legislative Council - contrary to
the point made by Hon Mark Nevill - what are the correct procedures for the appointment of
an adviser, particularly since the committee has been asked to determine whether the State
bears any legal responsibility for those persons who relied on investment advice from
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Western Women. Hon Joe Berinson and others would know that a number of people and
groups are involved in that inquiry: The Premier and Minister for Women's Interests; the
Minister assisting the Minister for Women's Interests, who was Hon Kay Hallahan and is
now Hon Judyth Watson; the Office of Women's Interests; the Women's Information and
Referral Exchange; the Public Service Board in respect of its inquiry; those women who lost
money; the Rt & I Bank Ltd; the South West Development Authority; and the Great Southern
Development Authority.
The totality of the committee's inquiries has been conducted in public, with the exception of
some evidence in relation to Robin Greenburg. Therefore, the totality of the committee
transcripts is available to members of this House, on inquiry. To move that the committee be
ordered to report not later than 18 June is merely to say that it must report upon the evidence
which has been given in public and has been reported upon by the media. The committee
will not be in a position to competently and properly determine the matter and to take advice
from its legal counsel until such time as it completes its investigation. We have not heard
from all of the women who lost money. We have heard from only two women from WIRE
and one from the OWL We will have to take evidence from people in the Rt & I Bank, in the
Public Service Board, and from Hon Kay Hallahan, the Minister assisting the Minister for
Women's Interests at the time, before we can look properly at the legalities of the situation
and get to the nub of the matter. It would be a waste of time to order the committee to report
not later than 18 June because that report would be incomplete and would merely restate the
evidence that is already available publicly.
I have also been advised by the legal adviser that he is planning to go on a holiday to Canada
shortly and will not be available to assist the committee for some time. That brings me to the
question of staff. On two occasions, the Clerk has sought assistants to the committee. One
person did not accept the appointment, and one person accepted the appointment but then
decided not to go ahead with it. Hon Mark Nevill is endeavouring to read into the affairs of
the committee a sinister approach, but were he to make inquiries of the Clerk he would find
out the details about that matter. I am anxious for a person to be appointed to assist the
committee. I have spoken briefly to the first person to whom I referred, and I have never met
the second person, who worked in a Government department and did not want her name to
be made public and decided not to accept the appointment. I do not intend to go into that
matter because time is short but the real issue is that the committee will not be in a position
to make a final report until it has examined all of the witnesses who are yet to appear. The
committee passed a resolution and listed by name, or by office if it did not know who was
the relevant person, all of the people who were to be requested, in the first instance, and
subpoenaed, in the second instance if they did not acquiesce to the request, to appear before
the committee. That resolution gave the chairman of the committee the right to determine
the sequence in which witnesses would be called. That is necessary because it is often the
case that people are out of the State, and we need some elasticity. That was evident this
week when some of the evidence we heard from the witness appeared to contradict that
which the first witness said, so that witness will have to be recalled. In essence, the motion
gave the chairman the right to call those witnesses. The instructions are that as soon as it is
known who is appearing and when, the correspondence and information are to be circulated
to the members forthwith, which is proper. I have already apologised to Hon Mark Nevill
when this did not happen. The committee does have staffing problems.
Hon Mark Nevill: You always blame the staff.
Hon R.G. PIKE: I am not about to blame the staff member. We have one staff member who
is run off his feet to cater for the committee.
Hon Fred McKenzie: What about the leak from the committee? It appeared in The Sydney
Morning Herald.
Hon R.G. PIKE: We have now made it very clear that in cases in which information has not
been circularised it will be done just before the meeting, if possible, and I ami sure the staff
will do their best. Because the staff member is so hard pressed for time in the morning on
the day of the meeting we have made arrangements with Rod Wahl for extra staff to be made
available if possible. There is a very real problem, but it is being addressed. In summary,
the real issue is that this House is properly proceeding to investigate a matter that has been
referred to it in a proper manner. So far members have seen published only the witnesses'
evidence.
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Hon Mark Nevill: That is good argument for a progress report.
Hon R.G. PIKE: I am noc about to go into a political donnybrook. Time does not allow me
to point out the other problems with this inquiry and the Government in another place, and
about the weaving and ducking that has occurred. It is not the chairman's function to go into
that.
HON I.N. CALDWELL (Agricultural) [3.42 pm]: Hon Bob Pike has had somne moments
in the Standing Committee on Constitutional Affairs and Statutes Revision when both the
other committee members have disagreed with his rulings; however, I compliment him by
saying that when situations have been brought to his attention he has rectified them to the
best of his ability. The committee has, at times, met under crowded conditions. Hon Bob
Pike has tried to accommodate that situation recently. Members have probably forgotten the
whole nub of this question; that is, who are we investigating? We are trying to find out why
so many women lost amounts of money that for them are fortunes. We are also trying to find
out who is to blamne.
Hon Mark Nevill: Shouldn't we report progress on that after eight months?
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: It has been reported in the paper day after day. We would be
reporting only what has been written, and I do not think there is any point in that.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Surely you could give some interim views, and indicate what work is to
be done. Eight months have passed already.
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: Maybe, but it is a complex question and we do not seem to be
getting cooperation from many people.
Hon Mark Nevill: I am about to retire!
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: We must find out exactly who is to blame; whether it is
Government agencies, the R & I Bank, or Robin Greenburg, and from where she got her
licence. Nobody seems to be clued up about her licence or even knows whether it was hung
on the wall of her office.
Hon Mark NeviU]: She got it from corporate affairs!
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: This inquiry must continue.
Hon J.M. Berinson:- Hon Mark Nevill isn't suggesting otherwise.
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: The resources are very limited and we do not have the time to go
into a report such as that being suggested. We must carry on and investigate more witnesses.
We are only about a third of the way through. We have not even started on the R & I issue
yet.
I-on J.M. Berinson: You might be finished by the end of 1993, if Hon Bob Pike is still a
member.
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: I think Hon Bob Pike will still be here, although that might be to the
detriment of members opposite. We are getting pretty hot to the situation.
Hon J.M. Berinson: It will take only another 16 months to get to the boiler!
Hon 1.N. CALDWELL: Peter Kennedy said last week that it will be left to this committee to
find out who is responsible for this situation. We must be getting fairly warm because
Hon Kay Hallahan was pretty edgy last night.
[jDebate interrupted, pursuant to the order of the House.1

Sitting suspended from 3.4S 10 4.00 pm
[Questions without notice taken.]

SELECT COMMHTEE ON ACHIEVEMENTS OF INDIGENOUS PEOPLES
OF AUSTRALIA

Report Tabling
HON MURIEL PATTERSON (South West) [4.28 pm]: I am directed to present the report
of the Select Committee into Achievements of Indigenous Peoples of Australia. I move -
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That the report do lie upon the Table of the House and be printed.
Question put and passed.
[See paper No 166.]

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE - BY THE LEADER OF THE OPPOSITION
Answers Incorporated in Mansard

HON GRAHAM EDWARDS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Police) [4.29 pm]: I
have some answers to questions to which the Leader of the Opposition asked me to give
special attention. It may assist him if I indicate that I am happy for them to be incorporated
in Mansard.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [4.30 pm]: I seek
leave of the House for answers provided by the Minister for Police and Hon Mark Nevill to
be incorporated in Mansard.

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Before I put the question, I asked whether
members had any further questions and as no member rose I called on Hon Muriel Patterson
to move her motion without notice.
[See questions without notice 306-3 10 and questions on notice 464 and 465.]

CRIMINAL LAW AMENDMENT BILL (No 2)
Introduction and First Reading

Bill introduced, on motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and read a first time.
Second Reading

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [4.32 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time.
This Bill represents part of the final phase of the Government's review of the Criminal Code.
This process has now been under way for more than eight years, and was initiated on the
basis of a two volume review of the Criminal Code by the then Crown Counsel, now
Mr Justice Michael Murray. Because of the broad scope of the review, it has been necessary
to deal with it progressively, and the present Bill is the second package of amendments to the
code to be put to the Parliament this year.
The Bill has three main aims: Firstly, a review of outmoded provisions dealing with the
punishments of whipping and hard labour secondly, the removal of bankruptcy related
offences which now duplicate Commonwealth laws; and thirdly, the modernisation of
offences dealing with endangering life or health by inclusion of provisions against deliberate
attempts to transmit AIDS and other diseases.
The deliberate infection of third parties with disease is a new class of life threatening
conduct. This is particularly so with AIDS because of its transmission by way of bodily
fluids. As a result, syringes of infected blood can become lethal weapons and sexual
intercourse a life threatening act. While AIDS is the most obviously dangerous disease,
situations involving other infectious diseases can also be envisaged. Legal advisers agree
that conduct of this nature is not satisfactorily dealt with by any existing law.
One very difficult problem which the Bill tackles is that the deliberate transfer of AIDS is
uncertain and may not come to light for many months or years. This is because the virus
remains undetectable for some time and, even then, detection may only indicate exposure co
the virus, and not necessarily that a person has succumbed to the disease itself. As a result,
an offence of deliberately transmitting ADDS may. in some cases, be very difficult to prove
beyond reasonable doubt.
The Bill deals with this issue by providing that the offence of causing or attempting to cause
grievous bodily harm can consist of an act capable of transmitting a disease and an intent to
transmit it, even where the disease is not actually contracted by the intended victim. A
penalty of 20 years imprisonment will apply, and this conforms with section 294 of the
Criminal Code dealing with acts intended to cause grievous bodily harm. Under section 294
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the criminality is attached to the intent plus the conduct in doing an act which is likely to
have the given consequence, regardless of the result. That is why section 294 has been
chosen as the most appropriate provision to deal with this offence.
These provisions will not be limited to life threatening diseases and may also apply to other
diseases which may cause bodily harm which is less than life threatening. However, an
offence will arise only where the transmission of such a disease is associated with an
unlawful act or is an offence by definition as in the new section 294(8). While the bodily
harm provision requires an unlawful act, even when it comes to grievous bodily harm, it is
not an element of the offence of section 294(8). It will obviously not apply to trivial cases
such as a person who sneezes and spreads the flu. The legislation is aimed at serious
circumstances such as deliberately puffing disease carrying bacteria into dams, or using
syringes loaded with blood as weapons. A special provision is included to ensure that the
legislation does not apply to legitimate inoculation procedures.
Clause 6 proposes to increase the penalty for unlawful acts causing bodily harm from a
maximum of two years' imprisonment to a maximum of five years' imprisonment. Where
the matter is dealt with summarily, a lesser penalty of two years or a fine of $7 500 is
proposed. This will bring section 306 into line with section 317, which deals with assaults
occasioning bodily harm. In many cases, this is an alternative charge to section 306 and it is
desirable that the penalties under these sections should be consistent. Section 18 of the
Criminal Code deals with the kinds of punishment which may be imposed under the code.
These include strict security life imprisonment, imprisonment with hard labour,
imprisonment without hard labour, whipping - other than upon a female - fines, and so on.
The Murray review observed that the section served no purpose in cataloguing what is
provided for specific offences elsewhere in the code. It is therefore proposed that section 18
be repealed.
Part 5 of the Bill and the first, second and third schedules will abolish the punishments of
whipping and hard labour. These are archaic punishments which, in any event, have long
since fallen into disuse. I understand that the last time that whipping was ordered to be
carried out in a prison in this State was in 1961. It was then found that no birch, as required
for the purpose, was available in Western Australia and a new birch whip was therefore
ordered from England. The story goes that with the first stroke the birch disintegrated, and
has not been seen or replaced since. In practice, there has also been no hard labour in pnisons
for many years. The Government prefers more enlightened and effective approaches to the
encouragement of constructive behaviour through organised work, training, education and
incentives for good behaviour. Reflecting that, Casuarina Prison, for example, has adequate
industry facilities to ensure that every prisoner can - and they are required - to be gainfully
employed.
Clause 8 implements one of the key recommendations in the report of the official visit to
Europe to examine criminal justice policies. The report was tabled in the Legislative Council
on 3 December 1991. It indicated that short prison sentences of six months or less are very
widely regarded as of no or extremely limited benefit in terms of either crime prevention or
rehabilitation. More than that, the report indicated that a strong case could be made that the
most significant effect of such sentences is negative, in that they lead to the reinforcement or
'profiessionalisation" of criminal careers. The report recommended that legislation be
introduced to provide that no custodial sentence of six months or less should be imposed,
except where the court determines that there are no other means of properiy dealing with the
case, and provides specific reasons in writing why imprisonment is the only appropriate
penalty.
It is important to note that a similar recommendation was made in the report of the Joint
Select Committee on Parole. As the House will be aware, that committee was composed of
members from bath Houses and all parties. It discussed a six month lower limit on prison
sentences but, in the event, proposed a three month limit. The principle, however, is the
same, and on the basis of more recent comments by individual members of the committee, I
believe that the longer period would be generally accepted. Exceptions to the proposed rule
are made in the case of aggregate sentences of more than six months, and for offences under
the Prisons Act committed by prisoners.
Clause 8 proposes to amend section 19A of the code to include among the factors which the
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courts must consider when deciding whether to imprison an offender the need to protect the
community. This is a factor which is now open to the courts to consider under the existing
section 19A and the amendment will direct the courts to consider this specific issue in every
case. Clause 9 is to permit State courts to direct that a sentence for an offence against the
law of the State be made cumulative on a sentence for an offence against a Commonwealth
law. This will enable sentences to take effect on a date commencing in the future on
expiration of the non-parole period of the Federal sentence.
Similar provisions are included in the Commonwealth Crimes Act to allow for Federal
sentences to be made cumulative on State sentences. Clause 10 is to reframe the penalty for
receiving stolen property under section 414 of the Criminal Code so as to make that
consistent with the penalties for stealing. The same circumstances of aggravation will apply
to increase the penalty in special cases. The current penalty for receiving property is
14 years if the offence by means of which the property was received was a crime, or seven
years in other cases. These penalties are higher than the penalties applicable to the persons
who actually stole the property. The general penalty for stealing is seven years - section
378 - and in special cases 10 years - for example, stealing as a servant or agent, or after a
previous offence - or 14 years - stealing from the person of another or from a dwelling house.
Clauses 11 and 12 repeal offences dealing with bankruptcy. These matters are now dealt
with by Commonwealth laws. The State laws in this area axe inconsistent with the
Commonwealth laws and therefore no longer apply. Section 527 applies to fraudulent
dealings by judgment debtors to avoid their creditors. This section can apply outside the
bankruptcy situation. It has accordingly been redrafted in more general terms, and the
penalty brought into line with the penalty applicable to forgery and uttering.
This Bill reflects the Government's continuing commitment to achieve and maintain a
modern and effective criminal justice system. It represents another landmark in the
Government's complete overhaul of the State's Criminal Code, a process which is now
nearing completion. I commend the Bill to the House.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Derrick Tomlinson.

ACTS AMENDMENT (JURISDICTION AND CRIMINAL PROCEDURE) BILL
Introduction and First Reading

Bill introduced, on motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and read a first time.
Second Reading

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [4.41 pm]: I move -
That the Bill be now read a second time.

On 3 May 1992 the Government approved the appointment of two additional judges. These
appointments were made necessary by continuing pressure on State courts, and a resulting
increase in the backlog of bath criminal and civil trials. The Government is very conscious
of how the backlog can compound once it starts to build. It is also keenly aware that merely
adding more judges is not the only answer to the problem. More efficient systems and
procedures are also needed.
One of the main aims of the Bill now before the House is to provide simpler and more
efficient procedures for dealing with committal proceedings. The present practice is that
when a person is charged with an indictable offence which is to be beard in the District or
Supreme Court, a Court of Petty Sessions has a preliminary hearing to determine whether
there is a sufficient case to justify that person's being committed for trial. Committal
hearings do not determine guilt or innocence, but only whether the case should proceed.
Under the current procedure, when a person is charged with an indictable offence and elects
to be dealt with in that way, or has no alternative to being so dealt with, the following
process may take place -

(a) on the first appearance, the charge is read,
(b) if there is an election for a preliminary hearing, the charge is set down for

hearing about 16 weeks from the date of the election. Normally, the longer
the estimated duration of the preliminary hearing, the longer the delay;
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(c) if the defendant elects to dispense with the preliminary hearing, he is required
to plead to the charge and is committed to the next sitting of the Supreme or
District Court for trial or sentence.

These procedures, which are set out in the Justices Act, give rise to several problems.
Firstly, there may not have been full disclosure of all evidence to the defendant. In that
event, defendants may have to elect to have a preliminary hearing to ascertain the evidence
against them. Secondly, where there are several defendants and one does not want a
preliminary hearing, that defendant may, nonetheless, be subjected to delay and legal
expense by the need to be a party to a preliminary hearing which other defendants have
required. Thirdly, persons charged with an indictable offence and pleading guilty cannot be
dealt with expeditiously. Nor can persons pleading not guilty proceed direct - that is, without
committal proceedings - to a jury trial.
This Bill provides an alternative "fast track" procedure. This will require the prosecution to
provide -the defence with copies of the statement of facts and supporting confessional
evidence in advance of the proposed hearing. After time to study this material, the defendant
will have the option either to plead guilty to the charge, when he can then be committed to a
superior court for sentencing, or to plead not guilty and elect for the more formal commiutal
procedure. Provision is made for the prosecution to amend the statement of facts or add
charges, and for a change of plea by the defence. In these cases, the committal date can be
vacated at the defence's option.
Under the new system, the sentencing judge will have before him the indictment, statement
of facts, alleged confessional material and further material that the prosecution may, after
notice to the defendant, seek to place before the judge. This full pre-trial disclosure by the
prosecution will be comprehensive, and sufficient to enable defendants to be fully apprised
of relevant facts which would be alleged in a trial or sentencing. The Crown's obligation
would remain to state the facts in open court.
The Bill proposes to add an incentive for defendants to take advantage of this "fast track"
process by expressly authorising appropriate sentence discounts for an early plea of guilty.
The courts have already adopted the practice of recognising a guilty plea by way of a lighter
sentence and the Bill will give statutory recognition to this practice. Sentencing will, of
course, remain a matter entirely within the discretion of the court.
This Bill also makes provision with respect to the increasing use of video recordings of
police interviews for indictable offences. In 1987 the Government established a trial scheme
for video recording of police-suspect interviews. The videotaping of police interviews was
an outstanding success and the Government has approved extension of the scheme
throughout the State for all serious offences. This will involve the installation of equipment
in police stations and in the superior courts. The use of this technology can reduce the
duration of court trials by as much as 50 per cent, as well as increase the number of guilty
pleas. However, because videotaped confessions will be more widely used, there is a greater
possibility of trials being aborted because of leaks to the media or other misuse of video
material The videotape, or an authorised copy, will be handled by several people, including
police, prosecuting officers, the accused and the defence counsel. The Bill clearly defines
the uses to which the tape may be put, imposes sanctions for misuse of tapes, and clarifies
the way in which such evidence is to be created in judicial proceedings,
Another important aim of the Bill is to address the effect of the decision of the High Court in
the MacKinney case. In that case, the High Court dealt with the use of confessional material.
It directed all courts as to the need to give a warning to juries in relation to the use of
uncorroborated admissions by the defendant. The court also gave approval to the use of
videotapes as an effective and reliable method of corroboration. The Bill will ensure that in
serious cases an accused's confession will be inadmissible unless it has been videotaped.
Exceptions to this rule will be permitted, subject to the court's discretion, to receive evidence
of admissions which have not been videotaped, if this is in die interests of justice.
Other amendments of an administrative nature are made to the District Court of Western
Australia Act to recognise the existing structure of the registry office of that court which now
includes the positions of principal registrar, registrars and deputy. registrars. The Act
presently refers only to registrars and deputy registrars.
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Provision is also made in the Bill to allow the prosecution to seek payment of a fine by
execution against property, or in some cases through conversion to work and development
orders. The great majority of fines being "cut out" in prison are for $500 or more. In a few
cases, defendants simply refuse to pay their fines, electing instead to cut them out in prison.
Those who can afford to pay their fines, but who refuse to do so, impose an unacceptable
cost burden on the community of more than $100 per person per day. This Bill will provide
an alternative system to ensure that prison is not an alternative option available for those who
can afford to pay their fines but deliberately refuse to do so. The existing work and
development order system will also be amended to allow fines and penalties payable to local
government authorities, and fines imposed by the local court, to be convented to work and
development orders. At present, only fines payable to Consolidated Revenue can be
converted. It is hoped that the expansion of this alternative will help divert more persons
away from prisons into more constructive community corrections programs. The Justices
Act is also amended to increase the time limit for making complaints under that Act from six
months to 12 months.
As a result of the implementation of computerised case tracking and listings in the Court of
Petty Sessions, it is proposed to rewrite many of the forms currently in use. Existing forms
are set out in schedules to the Justices Act. These schedules will be repealed, but the clause
giving effect to this will not be proclaimed until new forms have been designed and are
available. The opportunity will be taken to draft the new forms in plain English. To improve
efficiency in the Magistrates' Courts, court officers employed by the Crown Law Department
will be allowed to extend time to pay fines, or to permit payment of fines by instalments.
Magistrates will be empowered to veto extensions of time if they think fit.

Finally, the Bill will extend the civil and criminal jurisdiction of the District Court as well as
the civil jurisdiction of the Local Court. The Chief Justice has indicated that the Supreme
Court judges consider that the District Court should have concurrent jurisdiction in sexual
assault and related offences. As a modification of that position it is proposed that the District
Court have concurrent jurisdiction over any sexual offence punishable by a maximum term
of imprisonment of less than 20 years. Offences punishable by a maximum term of life or
strict security life imprisonment will continue to be reserved to the Supreme Court. The civil
jurisdiction of the District Court in all non-personal injury civil claims will be increased from
$80 000 to $250 000. The $80 000 limit was set seven years ago and that is out of date. An
amendment is also proposed to the District Court's jurisdiction over personal injury claims.
This is to avoid certain indemnity actions being required to take place in separate Supreme
Court proceedings, leading to a multiplicity of proceedings and causing injustice, hardship
and delays to defendants. The jurisdiction of the Local Court is also proposed to be
increased in line with the District Court's new civil jurisdiction. The Local Court
jurisdiction will be increased from $10 000 to $25 000. A clear need exists to maximiise the
efficiency and effectiveness of the justice system in Western Australia. This Bill will help to
achieve that.
I commend the Bill to the House.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Derrick Tomlinson.

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE - BY THE LEADER OF THE OPPOSITION
Answers Incorporated in Mansard

On motion by Hon Graham Edwards (Minister for Police), resolved -

That the answers to various questions on notice be incorporated into Mansard.
[See questions on notice 326, 327, 338, 370, 425, 427 and 435.]

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES SUPERANNUATION AMENDMENT HILL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 3 June.
HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan) [4.52 pmn]: The Opposition supports the
legislation. I was somewhat shocked on Thursday afternoon to receive a phone call fronm the
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Government Employees Superannuation Board asking whether I would like a briefing on this
legislation on Tuesday morning of this week. I said I could not make it on Tuesday, and as
Monday was a holiday I asked that the briefing be held on Friday. Fortunately the briefing -
which I appreciated - was held on Friday with Peter Farrell and one of his offsiders.
I was perplexed that such important legislation had to be passed by 1 July, yet it was
introduced at such a late stage of the session. The time factor centres on a problem with
income tax. If the Bill is not passed by 1 July. the CIESH will face a threefold increase in
taxation of approximately $7 million; in other words, it will cost an amount of $2 million if
passed and it will cost the board an extra $7 million if it is not passed. Fortunately, the
legislation will be passed on the last day of the sitting. However, this requirement has been
known for two years. The second reading speech indicates -

As a taxable. fund the GES fund has been required to comply with the standards since
1 July 1990, and in most respects has done so. As a concession, the Commonwealth
Government has allowed superannuation funds two years - that is, until 1 July 1992 -
to amend their governing rules.

Therefore, the Government has had two years to introuce the legislation, which will cost the
Government nothing but will save it a great deal of money.
The legislation has also been used as an opportunity to clean up a number of problems which
have arisen following changes to the Commonwealth's superannuation legislation. The Bill
provides for automatic access through the three per cent non-contributory benefit for eligible
employees. Previously, we were the only State in Australia with a non-contributory
membership regarding the three per cent contribution. Some years ago the Commonwealth
introduced a measure requiring employers to pay a three per cent contribution. At that time
the State Government did a deal with the unions - which I do not criticise - by which it would
apply only if members applied to become non-contributory members.
The Commonwealth legislation now requires that all members should become
non-contributory members. However, it is possible for employees to sign a waiver. Many
employees have private superannuation costing $3 000 a year, and if these employees had an
employer contribution it is possible that the private superannuation would not be tax
deductible. That is why many people did not enter the funds before, and why it will be
possible for employees to sign a waiver so they do not have to enter the scheme.
The second reading speech indicates that casual employees will continue to be ineligible for
membership. Therefore, it is not possible for them to be introduced into the scheme for two
or three weeks and then leave that employment. I have always thought it would be prudent
for the scheme to have a longer period than three months' employment for a person to be
eligible for benefits because such a period requires considerable paper work with people
coming and going. However, that is the way the Commonwealth has gone.
Will this legislation be retrospective? Will it apply from the day of assent, or will the three
per cent apply over the past two years?
Hon J.M. Berinson: It will apply from 1 July.
Hon MAX EVANS: It is clear chat all those who did not seek to become members in this
period will receive contributions only from I July of three per cent of their wages. That will
be to their benefit when they retire.
A number of administrative matters are cleared up by the legislation. It was a fairly
complicated system to work out the final wages, the superannuation benefit and the
recipients. The lump sum will be determined on the average annual salary received by
members over the two years prior to their retirement. In the past, employers were required to
provide salary payments over 104 weeks, or 52 fortnights, as just payment. However, some
of the massive departments found it difficult to obtain information.
It was not unknown for people to knock on the door of the superannuation board on
Christmas Eve saying, "I have retired; can I have my cheque now?" It is necessary to work
out the figures on the superannuation payment. Receiving one's superannuation is a major
event, but some people procrastinate and it does not dawn on them to pursue it until the last
minute. Many demands are placed on the superannuation board, which must determine
many factors. The amendment in the legislation will make it easier by introducing a new
definition of the final average salary.
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The Bill contains a provision whereby members on unpaid leave or absence for up to three
months will continue to receive insurance cover. Apparently, the legislation contained a void
which affected people who rook unpaid leave for sporting trips and other reasons - I am not
sure whether maternity leave was included in that. However, a problem existed in that
people did nor have continuing cover.
A problem has existed in the past in that normally a public servant's salary cannot be
reduced. However, an employer in the service can say, "This person, who is close to
retirement, wants to rake on less responsibility. H-e will be paid at a lesser rate." However, it
is difficult to work out the rate that person should be paid in his or her superannuation, A
notional salary is defined in the event of a salary reduction. I suppose this matter has been
discussed with the union and it has been determined on a fair and equitable basis.
However, not all administrative matters requiring attention are included in this legislation, as
it appears that other changes could, and should, have been introduced. However, the board
decided to bring in at least a few amendments at this time.
The Government has had so long to introduce this legislation - it has been examining the tax
aspect of the GESB for the past two years - and it is a pity it did not resolve all the problems.
However, many improvements have been made and they will considerably streamline the
work of the senior executive of the Government Employees Superannuation Board. Many
employees retire each year.
The major issues relate to compliance with the Commonwealth occupational superannuation
standards, which govern the operation of superannuation funds in both the public and private
sectors. The standards have been recently introduced because superannuation has become so
complex. In May 1985 the Federal Government decided to re-examine superannuation as
part of a tax summit. Many of the tax laws were changed as a result of that as from 1 July
1985. The union movement seemed to think that many people were receiving unfair benefits
and that restrictions should be placed on superannuation funds. Small businesses found it
difficult to manage superannuation funds; their situation was different from that of the public
sector, large public companies and members of Parliament. Those groups have a large purse
and are able to pay money into a retirement fund for employees. The senior executives of
those organisations had much say on how much money should go into the funds which have
no effect on people's incomes, whereas the professional and small business people had no
method by which to protect their future with superannuation deductdons. A trust was
developed by a professional person so that they could be seen as employees of their own
firms and consequently have a superannuation scheme. At that stage most firms had very
limited funds to put aside. They laid idle in the firm and the people were able to borrow back
the moneys from the fund. That worked well, but unfortunately same people exploited the
system and a big issue was made of that. However, this legislation will amend the
Government Employees Superannuation Act to prohibit employees from borrowing
superannuation funds. Last week the Fire Brigades Superannuation Amendment Bill was
introduced to prevent the fund from loaning money to employees. The same applies to the
Government Employees Superannuation Board.
The second reading speech refers to compliance with occupational standards as follows -

In addition to the 10 hour a week work requirement for contributory membership,
which I have previously mentioned, the Bill contains a number of other amendments
necessary for compliance with the occupational standards.

Prior to that an employee had to work a minimum of 35 per cent of a full week, a figure that
was very difficult to calculate on a 35 hour week, a 38 hour week or a 40 hour week,
particularly when adjustments had to be made for overtime. The requirement has now
reverted to the flat 10 hour a week, which is a fair compromise. The second reading speech
further states -

A restriction on the capacity of the GES board to borrow money other than for
temporary purposes to finance superannuation benefits.

The obvious reasons for that are to maintain both private and public sector superannuation
funds on a safe, rational basis.
I have not looked at the GESB's accounts, but some years ago when the Government became
involved in wide ranging investments the Superannuation Board Investment Trust invested

3359



$98 million in outside investments. It had many funds available at that stage; it did not need
to borrow. The Bill proposes that board members should not make a major investment or
borrow funds that would put its total funds at risk. In other words, it is precluding of
employees' investments. The speech also refers to a limitation on investments -

A limitation on in-house investments so that they cannot exceed 10 per cent of the
value of the fund. An in-house investment is defined as an investment made with an
employer that is a participant in the scheme, but excludes investment in State debt
issued through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation.

In other words, if the board has surplus funds it may invest funds with the Western
Australian Treasury Corporation at reasonable interest rates. The Central Park investment
involved approximately $500 million. It will be quite some time before any long term
money is put into the Western Australian Treasury Corporation, let alone short term money,
because that massive investment is owned 100 per cent by the board but will not generate
any income. The investment in the Central Park building must include roughly half the total
funds of the superannuation board. It would, therefore, not be precluded from this
requirement because the investment in the property is part of the board's own investment
policy. The chairman, Mr Peter Williamson, said after he had investigated the
super-annuation board that the investment should never have been made. More than 50 per
cent of the board's funds are invested in real estate, but that has provided a poor return.
I an glad to see that limitation included in the Bill. I have been concerned that if the
Government sold the State Government Insurance Commission or its third parry insurance
arm it would need to dispose of its 70 per cent investment in Westralia Square. The
Government Employees Superannuation Board has 30 per cent of that development. The
limitation in the Bill will preclude the superannuation board from taking over the SGIC's 70
per cent interest in Westralia Square. The board cannot afford to become involved in any
more low return assets. The Bill also provides for changes to the GES Board's voting and
decision making procedures. That is a simple administrative improvement.
Following the Price Waterhouse/Rothwells report on the board in 1984, it was obvious that
improvements were needed. Many of the recommendations which were not implemented are
now being adopted. The Bill also requires that board vacancies must be filled within 60
days. That has been included as a result of a position having being left vacant for a long
time. The board must provide certain information to members on fund operations and
benefit entitlements. It must also remove the opportunity for an employer to have a lien over
benefits of employees. I was interested in that during discussion on the Fire Brigades
Superannuation Amendment Bill. I have often thought that to be a very important factor. if
someone defrauded a company of a large sum of money, after sacking him the employee
could reclaim against the superannuation payout any loss to the company.
As a result of the report of the Burt Commission on Accountability, requirements are being
included in legislation to provide access to information by the Minister. Clause 8 amends
section 8A of the Act to include a heading "Minister to have access to information". That
complies with the suggestion of the Burt Commission on Accountability that Ministers
should not be precluded from receiving information. As I explained briefly last Friday, that
was done largely with respect to the Western Australian Development Corporation because
under an Act of Parliament the Parliament was precluded from gaining access to information.
That is based on the fact that the Burt Commission on Accountability said that Ministers
must be available to give information and must be able to obtain information. We have often
heard that a former Premier could not get information and therefore could not inform
Parliament. We knew he was meeting regularly with John Horgan, the chairman of the
board, who would have known what was going on. Proposed section 8A(2) states -

For the purposes of subsection (1) the Minister may -

(a) request the Board to furnish information to the Minister;
(b) request the Board to give the Minister access to information;
(c) for the purposes of paragraph (b) make use of the staff of the Board to obtain

the information and furnish it to the Minister.
When I read that with a representative of the board on Friday, my concern returned about
Ministers having accss to private or confidential information of employees' or former
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employees' financial positions, health positions or the reasons for their retirement. I thought
that could be detrimental to the employees in the future. Following those discussions, it was
agreed that I should ring the Minister, Dr Gallop. He was not there and I spoke on Friday
afternoon to his private secretary, Peter Middleton, who was most helpful. As a result, we
agreed that the amendment should be put through in the other House. The Minister had two
small amendments which he wanted to put through also. The amendment states in pant -

Confidential information
8B. (1) Nothing in this Act entitles the Minister to have information in the possession
of the Board in a form that -

(a) discloses information about a member or a beneficiary; or
(b) might enable information about a member or a beneficiary to be

ascertained;
being information that the Board considers to be confidential.
(2) Subsection (1) does not apply where disclosure of the information -

(a) is authorized or required by some other written law; or
(b) is authorized by the member or beneficiary.

The Government contacted me on Tuesday and it was decided that the amendment was
satisfactory.. My original concern was that the Government should not be able to get any
information at all; however, we then realised that there may be reasons for people wanting
information. It is therefore written in that form although the Minister cannot automatically
receive. My fear was that it might not be honestly or properly used. We have seen that
before where insurance claims have been leaked and used against people; asbestosis cases
are one example and compulsory third party insurance cases are another. I was worried that,
regardless of who was in Government, anybody could have access to that information.
I will raise other matters relating to the Superannuation Board in the debate on the Supply
Bill. The Opposition supports this legislation. Once again, the Opposition is surprised that
the Minister introduced this Bili so late because it is important legislation. It would have
involved $7 million in company tax if it had not gone through by 1 July. I am sorry that we
are rushing it through at the end of the session and that many of the administrative problems
have not been cleared up. I gather there are a number of small administrative matters that
need to be cleared up and I hope that the Attorney General will assure us that he will look at
those in future. When one administers an operation as big as the GESB, one needs good
clear guidelines for a simple operation, some of which have been introduced, including
notional salaries, If more things are to be done to make the job a lot easier, I ask the
Attorney General to please introduce the legislation so that we can deal with it quickly and
make the operation a lot more efficient and save time and money. The Opposition supports
the legislation.
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [5.13 pm]: I am sure that
every effort will be made to continue to bring the Act up to date to meet the problems raised
by lion Max Evans. I agree with the importance of having important Bills of this kind
introduced into the Parliament in good time. The Government Employees Superannuation
Amendment Bill was introduced into the Assembly on -

Hon Max Evans: Two days ago.
Hon JLM. BERINSON: No, on 13 May.
Hon Max Evans: I don't think so.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: My note indicates that the second reading debate was resumed from
13 May. Therefore, three weeks were involved. Whether that is long enough is a question
for judgment. However, it is certainly better than 24 hours. The problem from our point of
view has been the bunching up of legislation in the Legislative Assembly. We have spoken
about that often enough in the past to make it unnecessary for me to cover that ground again.
I thank the Opposition and Hon Max Evans for this indication of support and commend the
Bill to the House.
Question put and passed.
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Bill read a second time.
Committee and Report

Hill passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the report
adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon J.M. Herinson (Attorney General), and passed.

MOTION - STANDING ORDERS SUSPENSION
Swan Brewery Site - Government-Multiplex Deal

HON P.G. PENDAL (South Metropolitan) [5.16 pm]: I move, without notice -

That so much of Standing Orders be suspended as would allow the Leader of the
House to report, within one hour of the motion passing, on known details of the
Government-Multiplex deal on the old brewery; that in the absence of the Leader of
the House reporting, the House requests by message that Hon J. McGinty appear
before the Bar of this House; and to permit a debate of no more than 90 minutes on
the deal, before the House rises this day.

This afternoon, we were confronted with extraordinary news out of the Legislative Assembly
on the very eve of the closure of the Parliament which will mean that the new information on
WA Inc will not be under the scrutiny of the Parliament until August.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Rubbish and gross misrepresentation, and you know it.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: The Leader of the House will have his chance and I suggest he hold his
remarks until that time.
I repeat, we are in a most extraordinary situation this afternoon. In the dying hours of this
Parliament it has been revealed why the Government has for so long held out against the will
of the people and has proceeded down the path of keeping open some form of development
on the old brewery site. We now know why. For months and months the Government has
been desperately hoping it would be able to put in place another WA Inc deal of the kind
which the Premier said we had seen the last of in this State. I understand that there is some
deal afoot by which Multiplex Constructions Pty Ltd will be given a 65 year lease on the old
Swan Brewery site.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: That is the equivalent of freehold.
Hon P.O. PENDAL: As Hon Derrick Tomlinson said, that is the equivalent of freehold. Let
me underline the seriousness with which the Parliament should view this matter. Two years
ago when the Parliament was asked to deal with the conditions and terms of the development
of a new restaurant in Kings Park this House decided that it would not allow the person
obtaining the lease to have a 42 year lease.
The House made a deliberate decision not to allow that because it felt such a lease was
tantamount to freehold. If a 42 year lease is tantamount to freehold, the lease period
proposed to be given to Multiplex is freehold plus 50 per cent.
Hon George Cash: You could sell the lease and make a profit tomorrow on the terms alleged
to have been reached.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): The motion before the Chair is that
Standing Orders be suspended, and members should confine the substance of this debate to
reasons why the Standing Orders should be suspended to enable the action proposed by Hon
Phillip Pendal to take place. I suggest that Hon Phillip Pendal confine his remarks to reasons
that the matter is so urgent that Standing Orders should be suspended to follow the course of
action he proposes.
Hon P.O. PENDAL: Parliament should not go out of session on 4 or 5 June 1992, bearing in
mind it will not resume until late August 1992, until it knows more about another sneaky
deal that will turn the clock in Western Australia back 10 years.
Hon J.M. Berinson: When will you have a new argument?
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Hon P.G. PENDAL: If Hon J.M. Berinson defends this sneaky deal, he will finish his period
in this Parliament -

Several members irneiJected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! The question is that Standing Orders be suspended.
We do not want two debates on the same subject. If the motion is carried the Leader of the
House will be required to report to the House. We could have the debate now taking place
by default at that stage. We should wait to see whether Standing Orders will be suspended.
If they are suspended, we can hold the debate about the merits or otherwise of the motion.
Let us get the question of the suspension of Standing Orders out of the way first, and keep
the polemics out of this debate. For the moment members should confine their remarks to
the technical process of suspending Standing Orders.
Hon P.C. PENDAL: The substance of your advice, Mr Deputy President, to the House
which I accept in its entirety - is the very reason the Parliament should suspend Standing
Orders and not leave this House tonight until it knows all of the details involved in yet
another shoddy, sneaky deal. It is important that Standing Orders be suspended because,
once again, taxpayers' funds are at stake. Once again, an asset of the taxpayers is at stake. I
hope it is not necessary for me to remind members of this House that the person at the heart
of' this is one of those infamous persons who appeared in a photograph seven or eight years
ago as one of the founders and patrons of the John Curtin Foundation, Most of those people
have fallen flat on their faces in recent years as a result of their relationships with this
Government.
Hon Max Evans: Is it the same Multiplex involved in the Marshall Islands affair?
Hon P.C. PENDAL: I think it must be. The suspension of Standing Orders is necessary to
enable members to question the sanity of this Government and the morality of the Premier.
The Premier, who has been kept alive by no better method than a couple of good popularity
ratings, may find she is at the bottom of the pile, and this deal may turn around and bite her
in a way that she and the others privy to this deal would never have imagined possible. The
Premier and the Minister for Heritage are at the heart of a deal that will give Multiplex a
65 year lease. I understand it will pay a peppercorn rental for the first eight years of the
lease, and then a rental equivalent to 10 per cent of the normal rate in subsequent years.
Hon J.M. Berinson: You seem to have all the details already. Why are you asking for more?
Hon P.O. PENDAL: If those details are correct, the Attorney General who has walked a
tightrope in WA Inc deals, and who may yet become the subject of an adverse report by the
Royal Commission, might best remain silent in the few minutes I have in which to finish my
contribution on this motion. If he continues to interject he might show the House and the
Parliament that he has been involved in this deal, just as we know he was present at and party
to many other deals that have brought this State into disrepute in the past couple of years.
Hon Peter Foss: He may have been the principal legal adviser.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: If not, he should have been the principal legal adviser because he is
paid to do that as the first law officer in Western Australia. The Standing Orders should be
suspended for a further reason: If the terms and conditions I have talked about are anywhere
near correct, it means the Government proposes to give away one of the most prime pieces of
land in Western Australia. We have heard all this before. The Government gave away a
petrochemical project that cost this State $400 million in return for which it received
someone's plans.
Hon J.M. Berinson: What do you think is the value of the land being given away, according
to your version?
Hon P.O. PENDAL: I will wait until the Attorney General speaks in this debate and
provides that information. That is another reason that we must suspend Standing Orders and
start again to do that which we started in this IHouse six or seven years ago. We must try to
make Government members honest. In the past two years with the smart alec public
relations advisers and the million dollar extravaganzas on the Esplanade the Government has
managed to turn this holier than thou Premier into a person who gets undeserved popularity
ratings. We know that she is party to another sneaky deal that we can learn about only if the
Standing Orders are suspended.
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Hon Peter Foss: She was there when the petrochemical project was decided upon.
Hon P.O. PENDAL: Absolutely, and I notice chat the Royal Commission is starting to close
in on her. Of course, she will say that she cannot remember. She, too, like the Attorney
General, has a selective memory.
Hon Peter Foss: It is called royal commissionitis.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: It is a political version of Alzheimer's disease that will see these people
into their political graves.
We are not talking about some God forsaken land at the back of beyond on which someone
wants to establish a chicken farm; it is a prime block of land which the Government took
from someone in the private sector eight years ago. It took that land out of private
ownership. That is another reason for suspending the Standing Orders. This great mate of
the Labor Party, Yosse Goldberg, who owned the land freehold, was told that he could not
develop -it. What has changed in eight years that the Government can say to its mate, John
Roberts, apparently in the last 24 hours, that even though it would not let its friend Yosse
Goldberg develop the site it will let its friend John Roberts develop it?
Hon J.M. Berinson: Can't you do any better than that? Are you seriously comparing a
proposal for a multiistorey block of flats on this site with a refurbishment of the old Swan
Brewery?
Hon P.G. PENDAL: The Leader of the House seems to know a lot more about this matter
now than he did six or seven minutes ago when I got to my feet.
Hon J.M. Berinson: You would not have the faintest idea what I knew six minutes ago.
Hon P.O. PENDAL: That is true, because the Leader of the House has become a master of
concealment, and he knows it.
We are not talking about a piece of outback land on which one could put a chicken run, but
about a piece of land which has had injected into it in the order of $20 million of taxpayers'
funds. However, that does not seem to have persuaded the Government that it should do
what the people of this State have said time and time again should be done to that site. If
ever insult were added to injury, this is it. If ever we have seen the Parliament and the
people of this State treated with contempt, this is it. Another reason that we need to suspend
Standing Orders is that in the very week that a Bill sponsored by Hon Reg Davies was passed
to express in a certain way the will of the Parliament -
Hon J.M. Berinson: It has been.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: How has it been? The Speaker in the other place made his own
decision about that, and one of the Leader of the House's former colleagues, who has left the
Labor Parry because he believes it is corrupt, was then forced to introduce a new Bill in the
last 24 hours, which was thrown out unceremoniously in the other place.
Hon George Cash: With no reason.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Yes, with no reason, and with the support of the Government which did
the deal in the first place. Things are now so bad that the Premier will suffer as a result of
this, because if she was lining herself up for an early election, as she gave every indication of
doing -

Hon Reg Davies: The backlash will be unbelievable.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Yes. I cannot believe that this Government would go to such sneaky,
underhanded, and I would even say dishonest, lengths, to bring a deal out into the open a
couple of hours before the Parliament is due to rise. If the Leader of the House believes that
is fair pool and is the sort of ethics chat his Premier -
Hon T.G. Butler: What ethics?
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Exactly. There are no ethics on that side of the House.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order! I ask Hon Tom Butler to cease
interjecting and I ask Hon Phil Pendal to confine his remarks to the reason that Standing
Orders should be suspended.
Hon P.G. PENDAL We need to suspend Standing Orders because, within the next 12 hours,
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Parliament will close and we will not come back for two months; and the Government knew
that when it chose to release this information in the dying hours of this Parliament -

Hon George Cash: The Government didn't intend to release it. It was forced to admit what
it had done in order to knock out the other Bill.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: I understand that that is the case, and that it occurred only when the
Government was pushed into a situation where it had to reveal its hand in opposing a Bill in
the other place, and when it had to show that there was good reason for the old Swan
Brewery to stay in one piece, although that is not the way it has been for the last four or five
years.
As late as two weeks ago in debates in this House we wondered aloud and asked questions
about this matter. I remember asking the Leader of the House who owns the old Swan
Brewery, because it appeared to me that there was something sinister behind the
Government's commitment that, despite all of the public outcry, it would still proceed down
the path of doing what it knew would be public suicide for it. Over many months, the
Government has stuck by that commitment and has not varied from it.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Why do you talk in terms of suicide? There is a division in community
opinion and there is a division in political opinion, and we happen to disagree with you.
Hon P.G. PEWDAL: There is also a division in the Labor Party, as the Leader of the House
well knows. A goad half of the members of the Australian Labor Party would rather see $20
million spent on the real problems in this State than on Yosse Goldberg and the other people
from whom the Labor Party has received money, as we have heard at the Royal Commission
in the past 12 months. That is how bad things are, and that is the reason that we should
suspend Standing Orders. We want to see Hon Joe Berinson start to come clean for the first
time in his life. He knows that he has been privy to this sordid little deal, and so also has the
Minister for Housing, Hon Jim McGinty. The motion requests - and I stress that it is a
request - that Hon Jim McGinty appear before the Bar of the House so that we can find out
what little deals he has done. It is not without significance that Multiplex Constrctions Pty
Ltd has been given access to this project that has not been given to any other person, not
even to Yosse Goldberg, who has given the Australian Labor Party a heap of money. The
motion seeks to suspend Standing Orders so that before the House rises today we will have
some of the answers which so far have not been forthcoming, and so that the Parliament can
debate, for no more than 90 minutes, a subject which goes to the very heart and soul of what
ethical Government is supposed to be about and of what this phoney Premier -

Withdrawal of Remark
Hon J.M. I3ERINSON: Hon Phil Pendal's outburst has been so outrageous and extreme that
it has hardly been worth my interrupting the debate, but I raise the point of order that the
disparagement of the Premier in which he is engaged, and the language which he has
employed, has gone far beyond the realms of our Standing Orders, and he should be
restrained. Preferably, he should restrain himself, but, if he is incapable of that, he should be
restrained by the application of the Standing Orders.
Hon P.G. Pendal: What is the point of order?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Hon Phil Pendal is reflecting, in a disorderly way, on a member of
the other place, and he should be ashamed of himself. It should not be necessary for me to
raise a point of order, but since the member seems incapable of adopting a decent standard
without having it imposed on him, I call upon the Chair to apply the Standing Orders in this
respect.
The DEPUTY CHiAIRMAN (Hon Garry Kelly): I assume that the Leader of the House is
referring in particular to the last comment of Hon Phil Pendal where he referred to "this
phoney Premier". In making my decision, I would say that remark would be an unfair
reflection on any member of either House of the Parliament, and I ask the member to
withdraw it.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: I withdraw.

Debate Resumed
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Although I withdraw the comment about the Premier being a phoney
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Premier, I will content myself by describing her as the leader of the most disreputable
Government that this nation has ever seen, and as a person who takes advantage of an
undeserved reputation for probity and decency when she is involved in this matter up to her
neck, and she knows it; and she is getting all the encouragement from a Leader of the House
who not only should have resigned as a Queen's Counsel the other day but also should resign
as the Attorney General and give the legal profession in this Stare a bit of the respect that it
deserves but which it will not have while he is the first law officer of this State.
We need to suspend Standing Orders so that before Parliament rises we can begin to get
some answers, instead of allowing the Government to do another dirty deal behind closed
doors; a deal that would have been kept quiet until Parliament had risen and therefore kept
out of the public domain. We could not then pursue the matter as part of parliamentary
privilege, which must become more important in this State if we are to ever restore decent
values. I ask members to support the motion to suspend Standing Orders.
HON REG DAVIES (North Metropolitan) 15.40 pm]: I formally second the motion. I
seek leave to address the motion at a later stage of the sitting.
[Leave granted for speech to be continued.]
Debate thus adjourned.
[Continued below.]

SITTINGS OF THE HOUSE - EXTENDED AFTER 6.00 PM
Thursday, 4 June

HON J.M. BERIT4SON (North Metropolitan - Leader of the House) [5.41 pm]: I move -

That the House continue to sit beyond 6.00 pm.
I have previously discussed with the Leader of the Opposition and members of the National
Party the intended program. For any members who may not be aware, the intention is to
complete Orders of the Day 2, 3, 4, 6 and 7 and, to the extent possible, also deal - after Order
of the Day 4 - with Order of the Day 5. On all the indications, and even with the time which
the debate might occupy. I anticipate that while we are likely to have a late night tonight it
should nor be necessary to sir tomorrow.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [5.42 pm]: I
confirm that the agreement as suggested by the Leader of the House was discussed with me
and the Leader of the National Party. In addition to those Orders of the Day that the Leader
of the House has just called, clearly on the successful completion of this motion we will need
to add another 90 minutes to the day's proceedings to enable debate on the question of the
Multiplex deal with the Government on the Swan Brewery.
HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan) [5.43 pm]: I am concerned that once again we
appear to be disregarding a motion passed by this House some time ago relating to the
orderly bringing of business to the House so that we are not required to deal with matters
which are bought hastily to the House. I admit that some Bills have been here for some time
and that some are money Bills, but the remark by the Leader of the House that we might not
have to sit next week -

Hon J.M. Berinson: Tomorrow.
Hon PETER FOSS: The fact is that it was made clear that this House would not sit after the
other House had risen. We certainly would not sit after the other House had risen to deal
with matters which have been so badly handled.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is always subject to agreement between the parties. Nothing I have
said has gone beyond what has been agreed..
Hon PETER FOSS: It may be subject to agreement between the parties, but we established a
principle in this House by motion some time ago. That appears to be totally disregarded by
the Government as a result of its total mismanagement of the business of the two Houses. It
is disgraceful that we have reached this situation by Thiursday, when we have a number of
particularly important Bills that will be dealt with in haste - with the obvious following on. I
do not believe they will receive the appropriate scrutiny they deserve. It is disgraceful that
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we must use this measure; it is disgraceful that the parties are being put in this position to
allow the passage of money Bills because it is necessary they be passed. The Government
has totally mismanaged the business of the two Houses this session.
Question put and passed.

MOTION - STANDING ORDERS SUSPENSION
Swan Brewery Site - Goverrnen;-Mulriplex Deal

Debate resumed from an earlier stage of the sitting.
HON REG DAVIES (North Metropolitan) [5.45 pm]: The Standing Orders should be
suspended to allow the House to get to the bottom of the old Swan Brewery matter. I would
prefer to spend that 90 minutes, however, dealing with the child sexual abuse legislation on
the Notice Paper, particularly that legislation aimed at the protection of young children. That
legislation appears to have been granted the lowest priority of the Bills to be considered this
evening. Once again we are trying to expose the tangled web of dealings involving a
wrangle over the old group of dilapidated buildings known as the old Swan Brewery. We
must suspend Standing Orders to allow us to find out about the 65 year lease, the peppercorn
rent, and whether the Government is looking after its rich and famous mates. We must
discover the facts.
Hon Barry House: hfanmous mates.
Hon REG DAVIES: Many of them are now infamous. We cannot discuss the issues unless
90 minutes are allowed for us to do so. I listened to the interjections of Government
members squealing and protesting their innocence at the suggestion that the 1992 WA Inc
deals were beginning to hatch. I wonder whether the same people were squealing and
protesting in the 1980s when WA Inc was born. I bet they were protesting then, saying that
they did not know anything.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: They didn't know!
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order!
Hon REG DAVIES: This is a serious matter. Once again the citizens of Western Australia
are being swindled. They are having the wool pulled over their eyes. The majority of
Western Australians favour the demolition of those old buildings. Recent surveys and polis
indicate that most people in Western Australia want to see those old, ramshackle buildings
demolished and the area returned to parkiand. A Westpoll survey recently indicated that 58
per cent of Labor voters and 64 per cent of Liberal voters favoured demolition.
Hon J.N Caldwell: And 100 per cent of the National Party.
Hon REG DAVIES: Of course, that leaves a percentage that would take in the independent
minded people and those who support the National Ponty. That would leave about 27 per
cent of Western Australians who are in favour of retention or the development. The
Government has favoured the 27 per cent of Western Australians who support some form of
development. What will that development be?
We must suspend Standing Orders to discover that. If it were to be another office block, that
would be ludicrous. We have heard that John Roberts of Multiplex Con structions Pty Ltd
has said that he will accommodate the Government's wishes and erect - with bank
borrowings - office buildings. All we have to do is look down the Terrace and see how many
vacant office buildings we have.
Hon J.M. Berinson: What sort of office block do you contemplate, Mr Davies?
Hon REG DAVIES: I do not know.
Hon J.M. Berinson: It will be on the basis of a heritage building being restored.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: A heritage office block - oh, beauty!
Hon REQ DAVIES: The Government is considering the heritage aspects of the building. Is
this the same Government that bought that building so the people of Western Australia could
have parkland to recognise the Aboriginal cultural significance of that site? The Opposition
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must point out what is going on and the only way to do that is to suspend the Standing
Orders. I fear that this decade's version of WA Inc is starting to hatch.
Hon P.G . Pendal: The "Son of WA Inc!"
Hon Mark Nevill: Anything with bricks involved and you want to call people before the Bar
of the House.
Hon REG DAVIES: The Government's behaviour in this issue is clear evidence of the
continuation of WA Inc deviousness. It is the saint deals, the same players - just a different
decade. That concerns me because I do not want to be in this Parliament to see another WA
Inc hatch. I want to bring it to the attention of the public right now.
Hon Peter Foss: I want to know how much is going into the leader's account as well.
Hon REG DAVIES: We know the mate to whom the Government is giving this great
advantage. He donated a vast sum of money to the Labor Party coffers during the last
election 'campaign. The Labor Party is repaying its old mate. We are right back to the 1980s
again. We cannot afford that. That is why we must suspend Standing Orders to find out
what the man has in mind for that area. What happens when Mr Roberts' proposal to
redevelop that site with office blocks is changed because he realises that Perth has enough
office buildings until the beginning of the next century and he comes up with something
else? In the Terrace we have 50 storey high office blocks with only two or three floors
tenanted. There will be public outrage. We will have people in wheelchairs, who have been
injured along that road, protesting outside that site.
Hon Mark Nevill: Why don't we close the road down?
Hon REG DAVIES: We could do that if we got rid of the building. We could perhaps
realign that road. The people in the western suburbs would not want that road closed, and I
am sure people in other areas would not want traffic redirected.
Hon T.G. Butler: Richard Court wouldn't like it very much.
Hon REQ DAVIES: There would be picket lines.
Hon T.G. Butler: That's getting a bit militant.
Hon REG DAVIES: It may be getting militant.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Apart from the unruly interiections there is a high level
of audible conversation in the Chamber. I suggest those conversations cease.
Hon REG DAVIES: We must find out what is going on here. The only way of doing that is
by suspending Standing Orders so we can find out what the Government plans to do.
I-on Peter Foss: Is it going to have a Government tenant?
Hon REQ DAVIES: A multitude of questions must be answered. Does the Government
expect the Aboriginal community to sit down and say, "Oh, well, we have lost that fight, let
them go ahead and build some offices"? Of course they will not; they will protest outside of
that site. They will camp outside of that sire and this time they will have many more
supporters than they did in the past. We will see people going to gaol because they are
disrupting the building of Mr Roberts' grand plan, whatever it may be.
Hon W.N. Stretch: Poor Mr Roberts.
Hon REG DAVIES: The Government wants to see some confrontation; that is a part of its
plan.
Hon Murray Montgomery: Itris a diversionary tactic.
Hon REG DAVIES: Yes, if one looks at Communist countries they have been using
diversionary tactics all along. They exercise their rule by coercion instead of cooperation.
We have seen how Communist governments exercise their power over people and that is
what this Goverrnent is doing. The Government knows it does not control either House of
Parliament. It knows it is directed by the Parliament and this is one way of showing that the
Parliament has some power. Mnother concern is that we might end up with a casino on that
site or another tearooms situation.
Hon Kim Chance: What have you been smoking?
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Hon REG DAVIES: The purpose for which the site is to be used may be changed.
Hon Peter Foss: Do you think it will -

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! This debate will be difficult enough to resolve without
the continual hubbub of cross-Chamber exchanges. I suggest members listen to the member
on his feet with a reasonable degree of attentiveness, if not absolute silence. I am not a purist
so I do not expect that. Let the speaker on his feet have a reasonable opportunity to put his
point across.
Hon R.EG DAVIES: I am sure that the suspension of Standing Orders will allow this House
to find out whether Mr Roberts owes the Government a favour or vice versa. It has always
intrigued me why the Government, at all costs, has wanted to keep this brewery - these
derelict old buildings. One day we will get the answer to that question. This may be the
catalyst for the 1992 WA Inc deal. I am concerned about what we may eventually see on
that site. I see no need for any more office space in this city at the moment and certainly not
until the end of this century at least. It might start off as a proposed office block and
suddenly Mr Roberts will tell us that there is plenty of office space - maybe we need Mnother
dreaded liquor outlet. I do not know.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Another tearoom?
Hon REG DAVIES: Once we suspend Standing Orders we might find out what is going on.
I amn concerned and I san sure mast members of the House would be concerned. I warn
members of one thing: In another four or five years I do not want members saying, "I
thought Reg Davies was talking through his hat."
Hon T.G. Butler: He is.
Hon REQ DAVIES: I warn the Government right now that if we do not get to the bottom of
this it could well be the nail in the coffin of Western Australia. Western Australia is almost
bankrupt as it is.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Come on, you know better than that!
Hon REG DAVIES: I support the motion.
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Leader of the House) [5.58 pm]: Needless
to say, I oppose the motion. Mr Pendal did himself no credit in the way he moved it.
Hon George Cash: He did himself and the Liberal Party a lot of credit.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: The trouble with poor old Pendal is that lilke his new leader and his
whole party he has not had a new thought in years.
Hon P.G. Pendal: How come I have to obey the rules about addressing people but you don't
have to?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Wind him up, wind any one of them up and the same tune comes
out: One, WA Inc; and two, shabby deal. After that they start to stutter and they have not
got another sensible thing to say.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Because nothing has changed.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly) Order!
Hon P.G. Pendal: - a bunch of crooks.

Withdrawal of Remark
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I ask for that remark to be withdrawn,
Hon PSI. PENDAL: I withdraw.

Debate Resumed

Hon J.M. BERINSON: It is years since members on the other side have had a new thought
and they cannot recognise a new thought when it comes from this side. That is Hon Phil
Pendal's problem. There is no question of a shabby deal. There is no deal at al. There is no
commitment at a.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: No guarantee at all.
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Several members interjec ted.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I will not tolerate again a series of interjections which
is a concerted exhibition like that. This is a House of the Parliament and we should conduct
debates in an orderly manner. I suggest members restrain themselves. Interjections are out
of order. As I have said before, I am not a purist and I expect there will be a few
interjections between now and the end of this debate. However, members should be
reasonable.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: There is no deal at all. There is no commitment at all. There is an
offer for the Government to consider and it is on that basis chat everything from this point
proceeds.

Point of Order
Hon GEORGE CASH: Mr Deputy President, I draw your attention to the time and Standing
Orders..-
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: It is 6.01 pmn.
Hon J.M. lierinson: We agreed to sit past 6.00 pm.
Hon GEORGE CASH: If the Government intends there to be no dinner break, that is fine
with the Liberal Party and I am sure ir is fine with the National Party. However, that was not
my understanding of the agreement struck with the Leader of the House. Perhaps the Leader
of the House could explain his position on the matter.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Other members indicated that they would speak for five minutes, but
they spoke for much longer. I would like to speak for another five minutes to help in the
orderly process of our business, allow the vote to be then taken and to decide which way we
move on the Orders of the Day. I propose to speak for no more than five minutes and I
would ask the indulgence of the House for that.
Hon George Cash: I assumed the agreement that was struck with the Leader of the House
was that the House would rise at 6.00 pm for its dinner break and return at 7.30 pm. Is the
Leader of the House suggesting that was not the agreement that was struck?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: My position is that we did not get down to that deral, but I would
accept -

Hon George Cash: Isme
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Is the Leader of the Opposition not prepared to listen to the rest of
my sentence? I would accept that there was an unstated inference that we would deal today
with the sitting hours the same as we deal with them every day; that means the House would
get up at 6.00 pm. It is in the interests of all to have this debate together. It will take another
five minutes, but I will not make an issue of this matter. If the Leader of the Opposition
wants to indicate, after 35 minutes of attack on the Government, that he is not prepared to
listen to five minutes of - not what I would call defence, because it is not a defence - a
statement of the truth and the facts, I am prepared to wait until 7.30 pm.
Hon George Cash: In view of the agreement chat was struck between the Leader of the
National Party, the Leader of the House and me, the House should now rise for its dinner
break.
Hon J.M. BERJNSON: I understand the Opposition's sensitivity and I am prepared to
accommodate that.

Debate Resumed
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: I will leave the chair until the ringing of the bells.

Sitting suspended from 6.04rto 730 pm
Hon J.M. BERJNSON: Hon Phil Pendal, having exhausted his WA Inc repertoire, tried
another tack: "The proposal", he said, "is against the will of the people." That was a nice bit
of arrogance to add to his irrationality because what he says is that it is against the will of the
people, but what he really means is that it is against his will. Fortunately for us all, the will
of the people is not embodied in Hon Phil Pendal and it is not embodied in the opinion polls
either. As it happens, it is the Parliament which reflects the will of the people and, as Hon
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Reg Davies' original Bill made clear, before Hon Peter Foss got to work on it and nmucked it
up, no development on the site could occur if the Parliament decided that it must not occur.
Today the Legislative Assembly resolved that the development of the site should not be
barred and, as Hon Phil Pendal does not seem to have realised, that is the will of the people.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hion Glarry Kelly): Order!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: The best argument against the motion to have me report on the
brewery proposal is that the report is already available.
Hon George Cash: Where is it?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: As I realised in the gaps between Hon Phil Pendal's hysteria, he
obviously had a copy of Minister McGinty's statement to the Legislative Assembly earlier
today, which is more than 1 did. Over the dinner adjournment I obtained a copy of the
Minister's comments and it says just about all that needs to be said. It does not say
everything that needs to be said, so I will be able to tell Hon Phil Pendal -

Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I will try to fill in two important gaps as I perceive them in the
understanding which Hon Phil Pendal has extracted from Minister McGinty's comments and
I believe that will finally demonstrate how unnecessary this motion is.

Hon George Cash: Are you speaking to the first motion in respect of the suspension of
Standing Orders or are you speaking to the second motion proposed?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: It is the same motion because it is impossible to consider why
Standing Orders should not be suspended without saying that the proposed purpose of the
suspension is insupportable and that is all I am saying. For the rest, I am simply answering
matters which Hon Phil Pendal introduced into the debate and which Hon George Cash,
having prevented me from having five minutes before the dinner adjournment, would at the
very least agree I should be able to respond to now.
Hon George Cash: Why don't we suspend Standing Orders so you can range freely on this
subject?
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I suggest to the Leader of the Opposition that he does
not make suggestions like that. We are dealing with dhe motion to suspend Standing Orders.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I assure the House that I will not roam nearly as far as Hon Phil
Pendal did and, indeed, that is not really necessary. However, I do need to refer first to his
allegations of suspect deals and gifts to the developer. This arose from the fact that the
requested lease period is 65 years. Hon Phil Pendal referred to a peppercorn rental,
conveniently neglecting to mention what he must have known with the material in his hands,
but not mine; namely, that the peppercorn rental relates only to the first eight years -
Hon P.G. Pendal: So you arc giving it away for eight years. What a joke!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: - of a 65 year lease, after which -

Hon P.O. Pendal: You drive a hard bargain.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Members opposite will end up laughing on the other side of their
face and I suggest to Hon Derrick Tom linson that he keep part of his face free.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I ask that interjections be kept within the bounds of
reasonableness.
Hon J.M. BIBRINSON: What Hon Phil Pendal conveniently forgot to mention - I am sure he
would have mentioned it had he remembered - was that after the first eight year period a very
substantial rent will be payable; 20 per cent will be payable on the capital gain of any
transfer of lease; and the whole property will revert to the State at the end of the lease period.
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On top of that there will be the saving to the State of the cost of refurbishment, if we do
refurbish it, or alternatively of the substantial cost of demolition, which I advise Hon Reg
Davies far exceeds his exceedingly modest estimate. Anyone interested in pursuing the
comments of the Minister in the other House will find that these benefits amount to a
substantial financial return. Let us put that aside and turn to the argument which ignores the
millions of dollars involved and the savings to the State in either refurbishment or
demolition.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I ask Hon Phil Pendal to cease interjecting.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I really find it extraordinary that Hon Phil Pendal should think it
appropriate to be so indignant after the appalling performance which he gave to the House in
terms of absolutely venomous personal criticisms of people with whom he is disagreeing.
Now Mr Pendal is sitting on the other side of the House objecting to hearing some simple
facts. That is all I am doing. I do not intend to begin trading in insults or venom, I intend to
trade in facts. Essentially, I am trying to fill in the gaps which Mr Pendal forgot, which is
sad to see in such a young man - such a serious incapacity to retain matters for so brief a
period as the hour between Mr McGinty's speech and the dropping of the bucket here. That
is sad to see, but I am prepared to help him. I will tell him what emerged from his
interjections and the interjections from other members. What was said was that the grant of a
65 year lease - if it proceeds - is equivalent to a grant of freehold.
Hon P.G. Pendal: Of course it is.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: It was then said that it was a free grant of freehold. That comment
again ignored the financial contribution the developer will be obliged to make.
Hon George Cash: Tell us about it.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: It was said that this sort of arrangement amounted to a free gift to the
developer.
Hon P.G. Pendal: Exactly-
Hon J.M. BERINSON: And a "big gift'.
Hon P.G. Pendal: Yes.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: What the member did not say and did not offer any suggestion about,
was how big was the gift. Is it a lot of money? Mr Pendal, is it a valuable block of land?
Hon P.C. Pendal: Yes.
Hon J.M. BER~INSON: Is it worth a great deal of money? I will tell Mr PendaL
Hon P.G. Pendal: Yes.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: No. It has a negative value. Who says that? I am not saying it and
Mr McGinty is not saying it. The Valuer General is saying that that "gift of property" has a
negative value. That is the "big gift" the Government is accused of making. What appalling
ignorance!
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order! Members are going beyond the
boundaries of reasonableness. I suggest they restrain their enthusiasm for interjecting and
listen to what is being said.
Hon George Cash: Stop being silly, Mr Berinson, and get on with the job.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: The second matter is of rather more reasonable concern. It relates to
the nature of the development which might be approved if - and I repeat "if' - the current
offer leads, as I hope it will, to an actual development. I cannot recall whether Hon Phillip
Pendal expressed concern - certainly Hon Reg Davies did - about a development that might
proceed.
Hon Reg Davies: Absolutely.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I think that I interjected at one stage to draw a distinction between
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earlier proposals for a multistorey block of home units and what is envisaged now. I well
understand that a proposal for offices which it is estimated will involve an investment of as
much as $26 million, with all the benefits that carries, could encourage a vision of something
like the original proposal, or at least something on the original scale. I can assure Mr Davies
chat we are not talking about anyone building the Empire State Building on the Swan
Brewery site.
Hon Reg Davies: Or changing the purpose and having a casino?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: No, nor anything remotely of that scale. The reason for the extent of
the cost envisaged is precisely the result of the difficulty and high expense related to the
refurbishment of the building to heritage standards.
Hon Reg Davies: Because you have let them all run down over the past eight years and they
are now derelict old buildings.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I took the opportunity dining the dinner break to have a brief
discussion with Mr McGinty about this matter. Unfortunately, he was away from the
Parliament.
Hon N.F. Moore: Are you saying this did not go to Cabinet?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Grow up!
Hon N.F. Moore: Are you saying it has not been discussed by Cabinet?
Hon P.G. Pendal: Are you keeping them in the dark?
Hon J.M. BERJINSON: That is a pitiful comment; of course the matter was discussed.
Hon N.F. Moore: You do not remember, you had to find out over the dinner break!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I discussed Mr Davies' precise question with Mr McGinty.
Hon N.F. Moore: You said you knew nothing about the deal when you started your speech.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! If Hon Norman Moore wishes to pursue his line he
should do so on the motion but in the meantime he should restrain himself from continually
interjecting.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I took the precaution of having a further discussion with the Minister
in order to address this question. The proposal currently before the Government would for
all practical purposes see the future development, as I understand it, contained within the
current building framework or envelope, whichever is the more appropriate description of it.
It is not proposed to have a multistorey building on the site.
Hon R-G. Pendal: That was never envisaged-
Hon J.M. B3ERINSON: It is, in any event, agreed that the refurbishiment and development of
the building as well as any work associated with its going beyond that framework - although
no such proposition is currently before the Minister - would be subject to heritage standards
and the approval of the Heritage Council.
Hon Reg Davies: Is there a time frame involved?
Hon J.M. BERIN SON: Yes, there is. I do not wish to go into decaiJl on this matter precisely.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! On the question of detail, I advise the Leader of the
House that he is walking a fine line and could be in danger of debating the substantive matter
when we arc debating a motion for the suspension of Standing Orders. I ask him to bear that
in mind.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I do so, Mr Deputy President. I anticipated the point when I said I
would not discuss these matters in detail. I refer Mr Davies and all members of the House to
Mr McGinty's outline of the proposal given to the Legislative Assembly today. I do not wish
to attempt so repeat the facts given by him because I do not have them sufficiently in mind.
However, the timetable is set on a monthly and yearly basis.
Hon Reg Davies: I hope it will not be eight years without anything further happening.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: No. We are looking to immediate work to safeguard the building
and the completion of the project within four years. I cannot give the interim development
breakdown.
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Hon P.G. Pendal: You will be able to when the motion is passed, or if you cannot,
Mr McGinty will be able to help us out
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Just as Mr Pendal knew there was no point to his motion, so I see no
point in our passing it. No-erne else here will see the point either. He is asking us to take
another hour to present an identical repont to one that is already in the public domain and on
the public record; that is, in the Mansard record of the Legislative Assembly. I expect that
when I complete my comments Hon Phillip Pendal will seek leave to withdraw his motion.
Hon P.G. Pendal: Pigs might fly!
Hon JLM. BERINSON: I cannot believe that Mr Pendal is seriously intending to pursue this
matter. I will restrict any further comments -

Hon P.G. Pendal: To your resignation.
Hon 3.M. BERINSON: - to what I have described as appalling and venomous remarks by Mr
Pendal. I hope that, on reflection, he will at least regret them even if he does not have the
decency to say that publicly. He talked about shoddy deals and sneaky deals, and things
being hidden from the public. That is interesting. He is talking about the Government hiding
things from the public within a day of he and his party making very clear that they insist on
hiding all of those political donations that they andI their party will receive. He talked about
shoddy deals and sneaky deals. Above all, the least be might have had the decency to
concede was that, whatever else one might say about this offer and whatever else may be
said about the further negotiations on it, no-one could say that it is sneaky or hidden. It has
been open to the light of day.
Hon George Cash: When?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: It has been in the glare of public criticism and it has been open to
that view in the most appropriate possible forum, the Parliament itself.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: When?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Today.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: By whom?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: By the responsible Minister.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order! The cacophony of interjection led
by Hon Derrick Tonmlinson is reaching a level which I cannot stand. I urge the members on
my left to constrain their enthusiasm and to hear the Attorney General as he brings his
remarks to a close.
Hon W.N. Stretch: Perhaps you draw the parallel between the Midland Saleyard. At least
you got $450 000.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: It is remarkable how, in such a short time, members opposite want to
flee from the subject they-have raised. We did not raise this subject, they did; yet now they
want to hide from it. They want to talk about everything else but the old Swan Brewery site.
I will take your very subtle hint, Mr Deputy President, and bring my comments to a close
shortly.
I sumnmarise by saying that there is no deal. There is an offer which presents a very
important opportunity to the public of this State. It is an offer which would have the heritage
values of this sire fully restored, which would have the very considerable expense involved
in that effont met wholly by private developers, and which would not involve a single cent or
obligation so far as the Government itself is concerned.
Hon P.G. Pendal: That is what you said about PICL. You said there would be no deal but it
cost $400 million. Why should we believe you?
Hon J.M. BERENSON: The member is back on his old record. He must broaden his
repertoire; he cannot keep playing that record all day and every day.
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This is a proposal open to public view, subject to heritage standards and subject to private
investment only, in line with the Government's proposal for private investment in public
infrastructure. It is a proposal with the offer of substantial benefits to the building industry,
but above all to t amenity of the people of Perth. The Minister, in presenting this proposal,
made it very clear that all of these requirements will be met or the offer will lead to nothing,
I cannot imagine a more satisfactory conclusion than one which would present all of these
benefits, would be at no cost to the State compared with either the cost of the State's going
into refurbishment itself or even meeting the cost of demolition, and in the end would
provide a very important additional amenity to the City of Perth and the people of this State.
This motion was ill-conceived and transparently unnecessary. It sought at every point of its
presentation to misrepresent the situation which we face.
There is only one other thing I want to say, and I say it with a sense of deep sadness and
regret. It is only a couple of weeks since Hon Norman Moore and Hon Phillip Pendal
changed seats in this place and, so shortly after this well deserved promotion of Hon Norman
Moore, Hon Phillip Pendal is trying to undermine him. Where is the solidarity on that side
of the House? Where is the decency? Where is the honesty among thieves? Where is any
capacity to work together? We are seeing in this very Chamnber what we see in the Liberal
Party and among the coalition partners all over the State. What a mess, and how sad!
Hon P.O. Pendal: We will give you 10 out of 10 tonight.
Several members interjected.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: They are arguing among themselves even now. None of them is
arguing with me, Mr Deputy President, as you will notice.
Surely Hon Phillip Pendal, in spite of his demonstrated incapacity today to remember things
over the space of an hour, would not have forgotten the comments which Hon Norman
Moore made when we last debated Hon Reg Davies' Bill on the old Swan Brewery.
Hon Mark Nevill: It was a very sensible speech.
Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I am dying to find out what Hon Norman Moore
actually said.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: Would Hon Norman Moore care to remind me? I have the general
gist, which I must say was interesting, responsible and constructive. Even in the course of
staying together with his colleagues on the actual vote, Hon Norman Moore reservyed his
position in the event of other satisfactory possibilities arising. Would that be a fair way of
putting it?
Hon N.P. Moore: No, I put a proposition to you and you did not respond so I voted for Hon
Reg Davies' Bill as I said I would, and now you are trying to be smart.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: But surely the member is not suggesting that I am misrepresenting
the position he put to the House on that occasion? I have not looked up the Hansard but I am
absolutely confident that I am putting it in as modest and unembellished a way as anyone
could; that Hon Norman Moore, in a very responsible and constructive way - which makes it
easy to understand why he should have replaced Hon Phillip Pendal - left open the possibility
that, given a satisfactory proposal for development that did not involve the State in
expenditure, he would be prepared to seriously consider it.
Hon N.F. Moore: No. You are totally misinterpreting what I said.
Hon George Cash: This is the longest five minutes you have given us for a long time.
Hon J.M_ BERINSON: It would have taken only five minutes if members opposite had
given me time before dinner. Give me a decent meal and there is no stopping me!
The motion is a sham, and Mr Pendal knew that when he moved it; he just had to get a bit of
bile out of his system. HeI might have done that to his own satisfaction, but not to his credit.
There is no point to this motion, and there is no reason for the House to support it. I urge the
House to defeat it.
HON 110. PIKE (North Metropolitan) f 8.00 pm): If the Leader of the House were to be
marked for the manner, matter and method of his speech, he would receive full marks for
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everything except matter. He delivered an entertaining and humorous speech which had
nothing to do with the facts before the House. The House should carry this motion for many
reasons.
I want to be precise in relating what the Leader of the House and Mr McGinty, the Minister
for Heritage, said tonight.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Well, you know what he said today.
Hon R.G. PIKE: The inister for Heritage was quoted on television and I will quote his
minimal comments, which I have since checked are correct. Firstly, I turn to Hon Joe
Berinson's statements - I recorded them - in which he said, "So far, it is only an offer for the
Government to consider." That was before dinner. After dinner, three minutes into his
speech, he said, "if indeed it proceeds".
Hon J.M. Berinson: If anything is done in response to the offer.
Hon George Cash: You are a dead set loser, Mr Berinson!
Hon R.G. PIKE: Mr McGinty said, "It is locked away. Some minor details are yet to be
decided.' He also said, "They, Multiplex, will pay a modest rental and in the end the
Government will own it." The nub of the question before the House is that te Leader of the
House claims that this proposal is on offer and it is yet to be finalised.
Hon J..M. Berinson: Which it is.
Hon R.G. PIKE: Those are his words. However, Mr McGinty is saying that the Government
will eventually repossess the building. He said that it is locked away and that some minor
details are yet to be decided. Who are we to believe? The Leader of the House, who said in
the Parliament -

Several members interjected.
Hon R.G. PIKE: The hip, hip hoorays on the Labor backbenches should answer the
interesting question which I now pose: Was that matter detailed, discussed and determined
in the Labor Party Caucus, or was it like the PICL deal; that is, thrust upon the hip, hip
hooray Labor Party backbenchers without notice?
Several members interjected.
Hon R.G. PIKE: Those back bcnchers come in here with their cackle and splutter - as we arc
hearing at the moment - and say, "We are right and you are wrong." The simple fact of the
matter is that Mr McGinty's statement is directly, categorically and absolutely contrary to the
statement by the Leader of the House. Where does that leave us? That leaves the absolute
requirement that we debate the matter and hear the facts correctly.
Also, in his statement the Leader of the House said, "The building is of negative value. Who
said that? It was the Valuer General." If the Attorney General has proved nothing else in
this place and elsewhere, he has proved his capacity to understand dollar signs and quid pro
quo. The general understanding of quid pro quo is this for that, but the "quids" could be
given a different interpretation for the Leader of the House.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Are you talking about the Valuer General or me?
Hon R.G. PIKE: The Leader of the House said that the building had a negative value.
However, I seem to recollect that Mr Goldberg paid $5 million for the brewery, and I seem to
remember also from my experience of valuation in local government -

Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order! Members will cease their
interjections. A difference exists between a relevant interjection and a pithy interjection
which goes on like Berger paint. Members must cease the continual stream of inteijections.
Hon R.G. PIKE: Before asking a question members must take into account that, stripped of
the so-called emphasis on the negative value of the building, the Government owes a massive
debt on the building; and that gerrymandering - for the want of a better word - takes place in
the Government's books- Therefore, do members opposite honestly believe that if this
building were available at a negative value - a minus value - they would not pick it up and
make a quid out of it? Members must answer that for themselves.
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Hon J.M. Berm son: Are you against private enterprise making any profit?
Hon R.G. PIKE: The Leader of the House is telling members Bovril - no more, no less.
Several members interjected.
Hon R.G. PUCE: I refer now to the petrochemical development in this State, as it is relevant
to this proposal. What happened on that occasion? We heard the seine so-called logic and
so-called precise argument. The Leader of the House was magnificent tonight when
claiming that this proposal was a marvellous deal for the people of Western Australia. He
said it was too good to pass over.

Point of Order
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I draw your attention, Mr Deputy Speaker, to the content of the
member's speech in the context of the motion before the House. I am of the view, and I wish
to persuade you to my view, that the member requires more leniency than you have permitted
in the debate so far.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): I beg to differ with the member. Although
we are discussing a motion to suspend Standing Orders, we are walking a narrow line. Thus
far, Hlon Bob Pike has kept within my undefined limits. Long may he continue to do so.

Debate Resumed
Hon R.G. PIKE: We are dealing with the last day dash of the death throes of this Labor
Government. When I say last day, I mean last day. The news media and the Parliament are
following closely what may or may not happen with the Swan Brewery. The fact is that both
Houses of Parliament passed a motion to demolish the brewery. However, the will of the
Parliament was ignored. Then a Bill was passed in this House, and the Leader of the House
made the proper point tonight that the brewery Bill was defeated in the Parliament. My
understanding is that an Independent was contacted directly by the developer, Mr John
Roberts of Multiplex -

H-on Reg Davies: He is well known to the Labor Party.
Hon R.G. PIKE: - and his approach was such that in the end the vote was equal in the
Legislative Assembly; and, surprise, surprise, the Speaker cast his vote with the Government.
Hon J.M. Rerinson: Why is that a surprise? Are you suggesting that that was out of the
ordinary?
Hon R.G. PIKE: The Leader of the House should be fair. I do not want to pass over the
facts. All members must reflect on this matter: It is the last day of Parliament, and
Parliament will be up for two months or so. Suddenly, out of the blue, this incredible
proposal appears.
Hon Reg Davies: They must have considered it.
Hon R.G. PIKE: This decision will stick to Minister Berinson, Minister McGirnty and the
Premier of this State like buttered napalm, because today they are retreading WA Inc.
Several members interjected.
Hon J-M. Berinson: You have borrowed Mr Pendal's record. Don't you have a copyright on.
this, Mr Pendal?
Hon ROG. PIKE: One of Mr Churchill's famous statements was that if one does not learn
from the mistakes of the past, one is bound to repeat them. That is what the Government has
done today. Perhaps a member of the Labor Party will have the guts, gumption and honesty -
which would be a singular departure from the nortn for them - to say, "We discussed this
matter in detail in Caucus; comprehensive discussion took place on the detail of the proposal,
and a democratic decision was made on whether Multiplex would be allowed to develop the
brewery." Or was it thrust on Labor Party members at the last moment? Was 'this an
Executive discussion as a willy nilly escape in the last few days of the Parliament?
Several members interjected.
Hon R.G. PUCE: The Government will face the reaction of the people of Western Australia
in the future. The Government has decided to allow a developer to invest $26 million to
develop the Swan Brewery site. He will pay a peppercorn rental every year for eight years
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and, surprise, surprise, after 65 years the site will revert to Government ownership. That is
the essence of the deal The real issue is -

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Carry Kelly): Will members stop the cross-Chamber
exchanges, please.
Hon R.O. PIKE: Parliament should support the motion because the nub of the problems of
WA Inc has been revisited in this decision and manifested in the continuing determination of
Premier Lawrence, and hitherto Messrs Burke and Dowcling, to bypass, disregard and
leapfrog the Parliament. Parliament became - and still is if the Government continues with
this policy - a rubber stamp. On the last day of the autumn session the Government has
presented a massive $26 million development - it dropped a bombshell. Yet the Premier and
the leaders of the two Houses speak falsely of the necessity for probity in parliamentary
codes of conduct. They are taking refuge - in the Premier's case a false Joan of Arc type
mantle - in everything being done properly.
Hon J.M. Berinson: She gets under your skin, doesn't she?
Hon R.G. PIKE: The tragedy is that none of the Government members has the political
intelligence to grasp the decision they are thrusting down our throats. The House should
carry the motion because I am certain that I have heard no voice in defiance of my comment
that the Labor Party Caucus had nothing to do with this determination. It is hip, hip, hooray
loyalty. A funny byplay occurred in the House tonight about members on the Opposition
side of the House which had serious overtones. If members talk to Hon Cheryl Davenport -

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: I have asked several times for honourable members to restrain
themselves with the number of interjections, Members should concentrate on a bit of quality.
If they must interject they should make it a good one.
Hon R.G. PIKE: If we are to talk about the machinations of the Labor Party we should talk
to the New South Wales right of the Labor Party.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Hon Bob Pike is stretching a friendship somewhat.
We are talking about the suspension of Standing Orders in the Legislative Council, not New
South Wales.
lHon R.G. PIKE: The Attorney General reigned freely over the very subject which I am now
endeavouring to reign over, and he was permitted to do so.
Several members interjected.
Hon R.G. PIKE: I will not make any comment about Hon John H-alden and Hon Cheryl
Davenport; that would be inappropriate.
As long as the Labor Party believes it can continue to leapfrog the Parliament and the people
of Western Australia by fudging the issues and at the last moment willy nilly imposing its
will as it is trying to do today, and as long as the Government backbenchers allow the
Government to dominate with decisions from on high which have not been debated - I still
cannot hear a voice saying the Caucus discussed it and all members know all about it - the
facts will speak for themselves. I conclude where I began: The decision will stick like
buttered napalm to Hon Joe Berinson, Mr McGinty and the Premier. It will blow them all
up. The tragedy is that none of them has the political intelligence to realise what they are
trying to do.
HON N.E. MOORE (Mining and Pastoral) [8.15 pm]: I had not intended to speak because
Hon Phil Pendal so brilliantly put the Opposition's position. However, I would be very
disappointed -

Hon J.M. Berinson: Have you forgiven him already?
Hon N.F. MOORE: I have nothing to forgive him for. I thought he put the Opposition's
case very well indeed. It is a pity the Leader of the House did not put his case so well. That
has meant I must talk about his misrepresentation of my position. He omitted the vast
majority of my remarks in the House about the brewery. I would be very disappointed if the
Government tried to suggest that somehow the proposition I put to the House - which the
Leader of the House described as a sensible proposition - was the reason that Mr McGinty
may have thought about selling the brewery to the private sector.
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Hon J.M. Berinson: I am not saying that.
Hon N.F. MOORE: I hope not; neither, I hope, would the Attorney General's colleagues. I
said in that debate chat I thought the whole of Mounts Bay from the city to Crawley could be
redeveloped. The river foreshore is misused by the inclusion of a four lane highway. That is
a waste of prime riverfront land and the foreshore should be developed. As part of that
development, plans could be considered for the development of the old Swan Brewery as a
building which could be used for a range of purposes. I suggested things like taverns, cafes,
restaurants and a shopping centre as part of the redevelopment of the river foreshore from the
Barrack Street Jetty to Crawley. If the brewery were knocked down I would still like to see
the foreshore redeveloped; it is used inappropriately now. I did not argue for the retention of
the brewery as a separate entity. I see it as becoming part of a tota package.
If the Government were to come up with a package along the lines I suggested in this House
a couple of weeks ago, which would involve downgrading Mounts Bay Road, the provision
of parks and gardens, barbecues and parking areas along Mounts Bay, with the traffic being
redirected down Kings Park Road and Thomas Street, I would give some consideration to the
total proposition. As [ understand the situation, that is not what is being proposed now, and I
cannot go along with the proposition of a single entity. The Leader of the House should not
misrepresent me by suggesting that the sale of the brewery to the private sector is all that I
suggested; it is not.
HON TOM STEPHENS (Mining and Pastoral - Parliamentary Secretary) [8.18 pm]: In
quick response to the previous speaker, it is important that members understand exactly what
was said during the most recent debate on this issue. Members need do no more than have
regard for Hansard of 13 May to know exactly what Hon Norman Moore said. Unlike the
paraphrase of his comments, his words were -

Before I put my proposition to the House I want to make it absolutely clear that I do
not support the expenditure of one further taxpayers' cent on the building.

Hon J.M. Berinson: Neither do we.
Hon TOM STEPHENS: As I understand it, we have a proposal before the Government
which responds positively to the demands of Hon Norman Moore in a debate as recently held
as Wednesday, 13 May in this Chamber. His remarks continue -

Why does the Government not give some thought to leasing the old brewery to a
private company ... ?

That was his idea, on 13 May. It had never occurred to me until Hon Norman Moore
suggested it in the House. He invited the Government to give some thought to leasing the
old brewery to a private company or selling it to a private company on the condition that the
building be restored in the traditional way. Hon Norman Moore went on to say -

It could be used for a wide variety of commercially oriented purposes.
He said also -

.-.I would not be unhappy to see that building restored in this context by the private
sector at its own expense and used for such things as shopping centres -

Point of Order
Hon GEORGE CASH: Mr Deputy President, although you allowed previous speakers to
range widely on this debate, Hon Tom Stephens now appears to want to quote from Hansard
and another debate that was held in this House recently.
Hon Tom Stephens: Could I speak to the same point of order?
IHon GEORGE CASH: I am not finished, Mr Stephens. I am more than happy for us to be
still here at 5.00 am and I do not want Labor members, members of the mushroom club,
coming and asking me to make an arrangement with Mr Berinson so that they can all go
home. I am more than happy to stay here. Mr Deputy President, I urge you to restrain Hon
Tom Stephens, who is ranging a lot wider than other speakers were allowed to do.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): There is no point of order. Had there been
a technical point of order I would have asked the Leader of the Opposition to grant an
indulgence because Hon Tom Stephens was responding to a comment made by Hon Norman
06804-15
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Macwe earlier in the debate. I refer members to Standing Order No 91. which states -
Na Member shall allude to any debate or proceedings of the same session unless such
allusion be relevant to the matter under discussion.

Debate Reswnmed
Hon TOM STEPHENS: I need to say no more than that which was said by Hon Narman
Moore on 13 May which is in marked contrast ta that which he said in this Hause tonight. It
is important for us to listen to the words of Jim McGinty in regard to this proposition. He
said -

The proposition has been placed before us - and bear in mind that at this stage it is
still a proposition, albeit a firm one ..

Therefore, far from all descriptions which members opposite have tried to give this proposal,
it is nathing more than that. There is nothing firm before the Government. Members
opposite are a disgrace and they should desist from their vituperative comments. They
should come forward with positive proposals, as did Hon Norman Moore invite us to do
before he was undermined by Hon Phillip Pendal and his own front bench.

Division
Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Ayes (13)
Hon i.N. Caldwell Hon Barry House Hon R.G. Pike
Hon George Cash Hon Mury Montgomery Hon Derrick Tomlinson
Hon Reg Davies Hon N.F. Moore Hon Margaret McAleer
Hon Max Evans Hon Muriel Patterson (Teller)
Hon Peter Foss Hon P.G. Pent]l

Noes (11)
Hon 3.M. Berinson Hon John Halden Hon Tomn Stephens
Hon TOG. Butler Hon B.L. Jones Hon Doug Wenn
Hon Kim Chance Hon Mark Nevill Hon Fred McKenzie
Hon Cheryl Davenport Hon Sam Pianiadosi (Teller)

Pairs
Hon D.J. Wordsworth
Hon P.H. Lockyer
Hon W.N. Stretch
Hon E.J. Charlton

Hon Kay Hatlahan
Hon Tom Helm
Hon Bob Thomas
Hon Graham Edwards

The DEPUTY' PRESIDENT: The question is decided in the negative as an absolute majority
has not been secured.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY BELL 1991
Committee

Resumed from 3 June. The Chairman of Committees (Hon Garry Kelly) in the Chair; Hon
John Halden (Parliamentary Secretary) in charge of the Bill.
Schedule 4 -
Progress was reported after the schedule had been partly considered.
Hon PETER FOSS: I move -

Page 46, lines 2110o23 - To delete the lines.
Page 47, line 31 - To delete "or the WADC".
Page 48. lines I I to 13 - To delete the lines and insert "a former body.".
Page 48, lines 1510o 17 - To delete the lines and insert "a former body.".
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Page 48, lines 20 to 26 - To delete the lines.
Page 49. line 4 - To delete "or the WADC".
Page 49, lines 7 and 8 - To delete the lines and insert "a former body".
Page 49, lines 10 and I11 - To delete "or the WADC".
Page 49, line 13 - To delete "or the WADC".
Page 49, lines 15 to 17 - To delete the lines.
Page 50, lines I to 9 - To delete the lines.

Amendments put and passed.
Schedule, as amended, put and passed.
Title.-
Hon BARRY HOUSE: I had intended to move an amendment to the title, but that
amendment is no longer consistent with the Bill as it now stands. However, I want to
comment on the way this legislation has been handled, and I accept some responsibility for
that as Opposition spokesman. In the past couple of weeks mare than six supplementary
Notice Papers containing amendments have been circulated in this Chamber, in addition to
separate sheets and handwritten notes. It has been a real dog's breakfast. This Committee
should thank the Clerks for their tolerance and assistance in putting these amendments
together. My first inclination was to accept the advice of certain people who wanted this
legislation to be referred to the Standing Committee on Government Agencies or the
Legislation Committee, but that was not to be. In future this Parliament should seriously
consider submitting legislation of this type to the Government Agencies Committee as a
matter Of course; that committee has a duty to deal with legislation quickly to avoid any
unnecessary delay. This legislation has been amended on the run and I am not sure we have
produced a good Bill at the end of the day. I hope for the sake of Western Australia that the
legislation will work and that the Western Australian Land Authority will not fall into the
same disrepute that WADC did, which many of us see as a forerunner to this type of
authority. The Parliament should give serious consideration to the manner in which
legislation of this type is handled in future.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I would like to be associated with some of the comments by Hon
Barry House. The passage of this legislation has been complex. Many discussions have
taken place and amendments have been made, and I certainly associate myself with his
expression of gratitude to the Chamber officers.
With regard to debate on the legislation, I thought the Legislative Council was considered to
be a House of Review. The legislation has been extensively reviewed. Not all members
would have supported the Bill in its current form when the debate first started, but we have
been through an exhaustive, rigorous and thorough examination. The Bill has been reviewed
with considerable and reasonable goodwill, in spite of occasional tetchiness which was
probably due more to the lateness of the hour than anything else. I do not know whether
referring this Bill to either of the committees mentioned would have achieved any better
result, bearing in mind the comprmises that were resolved by the Committee. Perhaps it
would have been easier under the procedures of this Chamber. Nevertheless, that does not
mean we should not consider the suggestion by Hon Barry House. However, I hope that at
the end of the day this legislation will prove to be successful.
Title put and passed.
Bill reported, with amendments.

Recommnittal
HON JOHN HALDEN (South Metropolitan - Parliamentary Secretary) [8.41 pm]: I
move -

That the Bill be recommitted for the further consideration of clauses 14 and 15, and
for the inclusion of a new clause 31.

HON BARRY HOUSE (South West) [8.42 pm]: I oppose the recommittal of this Hill
because we have had exhaustive debate to ensure that we end up with an authority which, at
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the end of the day, will perform its functions in the way that it should perform its functions.
The Bill should not be recommitted in order to reverse decisions that were made as far back
as three days ago.
HON JOHN HALDEN (South Metropolitan - Parliamentary Secretary) [8.43 pm]: The
Standing Orders make it very clear that the purpose of recommittal is to enable the
Committee, after it has considered and made a decision about a particular clause, to
reconsider that clause should that be necessary as a result of later consideration and decision.
The House has the opportunity not to accept the recommittal, and we should allow the House
to make that decision.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [8.44 pm]: 1, like
Hon Barry House, do not support the recommittal of this Bill, for the reason that the
Government now wants to change the decisions of the Committee in respect of clauses 14
and 15. Clause 14 deals with compliance with written laws, and during the Committee
debate there was considerable discussion to ensure that WALA did not have a favoured or
preferred position in the market compared with the position of private sector developers.
The Committee agreed to that position by deleting any immunity which WALA would have
from the operation of a number of Acts that were formerly set out in clause 14. In respect of
those written laws, WALA should clearly be responsible. Clause 15 deals with the functions
of WALA. It now seems that the Government has had a change of heart.
It must be recognised also that not only does the Government want to recommit clauses 14
and 15, but also to include a proposed new clause which involves State taxation. The
Government proposes to reverse the decision made by the Committee a few days ago when
the Committee agreed to make WALA responsible for paying rates and taxes and other
charges. If the Bill is recommitted and WALA is given a preferred position, then heaven
help all those private developers who are trying to compete and make a profit in the open
market when they have to compete against this organisation, because they will have no hope
at all. Members know also that the functions and powers of WALA are very broad and that,
if the Government so desires, WALA can take over land development in Western Australia.

Division

Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Ayes (13)
Hon J.M. Berinson Hon John Halden Hon Tomn Stephens
Hon T.G. Butler Hon HiL. Jones Hon Doug Wenn
Hon Kim Chance Hon Garry Kelly Hon Fred McKenzie
Hon Cheryl Davenport Hon Mark Neviil (Teller)
Hon Reg Davies Hon Sam Piantadosi

Noes (11)

Hon J.N. Caldwell Hon Barry House Hon R.G. Pike
Hon George Cash Hon Murray Montgomery Hon Derrick Tomulinson
Hon Max Evans Hon N.F. Moore Hon Margaret McAleer
Hon Peter Foss Hon P.G. Pendal (Teller)

Pair
Hon Kay Hallahan Hon D.J Wordsworth
Hon Tom Helm Hon P.H. Lockyer
Hon Bob Thomas Hon E.. Charlton
Hon Graham Edwards Hon Wit. Stretch

Question thus passed.

Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Hon Ganry Kelly) in the Chair; Hon John Halden
(Parliamentary Secretary) in charge of the Bill.
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Clause 14: Compliance with written laws -
H-on JOHN HALDEN: I move -

To delete the clause and substitute the following -

14. Subject to section 3 1, nothing in this Act is to be read as conferring on the
Authority in the performance of its functions any immunity from the
operation of any written law.

The clause must be amended to make it consistent with the Interpretations Act; thai is, the
written law versus the State Act, as it now is. The amendment is also necessary to make
clause 14 subject to clause 31 to exempt the authority from the payment of rates and taxes.
H-on BARRY HOUSE: The Opposition's original amendment was to ensure that the new
WA Land Authority would not operate from a preferred position. That is, it would be subject
to the same State laws as is the Environmental Protection Authority, or any other private
developer in the field. I would like an assurance that the situation has not changed?
Hon JOHN HALDEN: The situation has not changed, except as it will change in regard to
section 31.
Amendment put and passed.
Clause, as further amended, put and passed.
Clause 15: Functions -
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I move -

Page 10, after line 10 - To delete subclause (3) and insert the following -

(3) The provision of residential land for the social and economic needs of the
State under subsection (1 )(a) is limited to -

(a) the provision of subdivided land at the lower and in the middle
range of the market; or

(b) the development of potential residential land for disposal in
superlots to ensure that theme is a continuous supply of
residential land; or

(c) the provision of subdivided land in those more remote areas of
the State where in the opinion of the Minister there is no
private developer willing or adequately able to provide that
land-

Hon PETER FOSS: I oppose the amendment. It is contrary tomy understanding of the
Parliamentary Secretary's proposal. My understanding was that he was trying to protect the
definition "at the lower end", to indicate that it went up to places such as Morley. That is, the
Parliamentary Secretary is now trying to take over the whole of the middle range of the
market. The original provision was to show that the lower end of the market extended to the
middle of the range. As originally drafted, that was the case. The paragraph originally read
"the provision of subdivided land at the lower to middle end of the market'. I do not
particularly want the change but I can at least understand that one. Now, we are talkng
about "and in the middle range". I find that a disgraceful situation, and one contrary to the
Government's statement about its role as a land developer in this State.
The Government's proposal now seems to be that it intends to get out there and do what it
did before. It will compete at the end of the market where it is improper for Government to
be. We receive assurances from the Government that it is trying to do certain things; it is
trying to keep the competition at the lower end of the market and not to get in and do the
wonderful things that all developers like to do; that is, to get into the higher valuie land to try
to deal with the nicer type of client. We were given assurances regarding what WALA was
all about. Now, we have an amendment that says the Government wants to make sure that
we understand that the lower end goes up to the middle range. The next moment, we find it
will be operating in that area as well. That shows how much we can take the word of the
Government.
The Government has taken out a subclause. Originally, the provision was to subdivide land
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for social needs to provide for people who could otherwise not afford to acquire a home.
That Provision has disappeared. What is the Government up to? What will the corporation
do? Now, it will not provide land for social needs. The Government has set itself up to have
another corporation which it sees operating in the lower and middle range of the market. Is
this another WADC?
Hon Tom Stephens: Don't raise your voice.
Hon PETER FOSS: I will raise my voice. The Government's latest amendment is totally
contrary to the assurances we received in discussions. This is a total breach of faith. I am
amazed that this sort of trick should be tried at this time to sneak the corporation away from a
proper governmental function. We have returned to the situation where Brian Burke thought
it would be a brilliant idea to make money out of selling land and use it to reduce taxes. We
have seen what that did to Western Australia. For some time I thought the Government was
genuine in its statements. However, all it is trying to do is make sure the way is clear. I
cannot accept the change in paragraph (a). The consequence is that the Government is about
to set up another WADC. If the Government is to say one thing in its assurances and next
fiddle with the words to get a completely different result, we cannot trust anything the
Government does.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: That was a wonderful, emotive speech.
Hon Peter Foss: The way the Government behaves makes me emotional.
Hon JOHN' HALDEN: I will not respond in such an outrageous way.
Hon Peter Foss: I have not behaved outrageously; the Parliamentary Secretary has.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I suggest that Hon Peter Foss take a blood pressure tablet. I will
explain the situation in an unemotional and rational way. This is not a breach of faith. The
proposal is not different from our discussions. Hon Peter Foss should read the amendment.
That is the first prerequisite. We have not taken out the provision for social and economic
needs of the State.
Hon Peter Foss should read proposed new subclause (3). Under the new subclause there is
clarity that Joondalup and the subregional centres under clause 15(l)(c) and (d) stand alone.
Parliamentary Counsel has grave concerns about the authority operating -

Hon Peter Foss: I am not complaining about subiclause (1).
The CHAIRMAN: Order! Members have the opportunity to speak as many times as they
wish, as long as that occurs in 10 minute bursts. I am in charge, and there is no need for
continual interjections. We will hear from the Parliamentary Secretary, and if Hon Peter
Foss has a problem with the explanation he can reply.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: Parliamentary Counsel has grave concerns about the authority's
operating without a clear mandate and having to rely on the courts to interpret the Bill.
Subclause (3)(a) will be a blend of previous paragraphs (a) and (b). The low end
encompasses those persons with the lower economic capacity. Also, previous paragraph (a)
seems to imply some subsidy that would somehow enable someone to acquire a home. This
would be more a Homeswest social housing role. We have amended the scope of the activity
to the low end and in the middle range to more clearly reflect that. The original position as
advocated by Hon Peter Foss was the "middle end". We cannot have a middle "end", it is the
middle. It can only be a range. It is purely to provide a competitive element. It means by
law the authority must have competitors wherever it wishes to develop. Even if we take the
member's point, if the authority wanted to develop land at the lower end without a
competitor, it could not do so. That is the advice of Parliamentary Counsel. I am sure the
member did not intend that, but that is the result. If there is no competition, the Western
Australian Land Authority could not develop land. What happens if the authority's
competitor went broke or pulled out? The Western Australia Land Authority would then be
operating illegally. I am not suggesting that the member proposed that, but that is an
unforeseen consequence; it is what has happened, and it must to be rectified. 'Purely
competitive" applies in the boom times, and this is another unforeseen consequence. As it
stands, Western Australian Land Authority would compete up to the level of the market in
boom times, and in recessed times would contract with the market. WALA is not intended to
do that; it is to be a moderator of the supply of land and a constant presence, as explained by
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the Minister in another place. WALA is not to be a competing element within that market,
just a constant presence. If it were not a constant presence, the very concerns that members
have that in good times we would see this agency trying to compete actively and hard with
private enterprise would happen, and that is not what members opposite would propose. If
WALA were to proceed with superlots we would have the situation that it could not put
roads around a development. I do not think that is what is proposed by members. Under the
old subelause (3)(b) residential development shall be limited. That was removed on the
advice of Parliamentary Counsel. I am not on my feet arguing this point because I do not
want it.

Hon Peter Foss: It has nothing to do with law.
Ron JOHN HALDEN: The member's point was that these points of clarification could be
resolved in the court. I am saying that in regard to its involvement in the low to middle range
market -

Hon Peter Foss: You do not have to have "and".
Hon John Halden: I do not object to "to' or to "and". We have argued about this and we
have agreed to disagree.
Hon REG DAVIES: I often wonder why we take so much trouble to frame legislation
specifically for the courts' benefit instead of framing legislation so it is easy to operate and
understand. It is probably the fact that lawyers have so much input into legislation. What
effect would it have on this subclause if we took out the word "and" and inserted the word
"to"1?

Hon John Halden: I am advised that we will accept "to" and I want to make it clear it is to
the middle range.
Hon PETER FOSS: I am still not entirely happy with the amendment. I do not have any
problem with proposed subclause (l)(a) being included; however, the Parliamentary
Secretary should not suggest that that is what I am objecting to. I did not raise the matter,
but if I had wished to I would have done so. I object to the removal of paragraph (a).
Whatever the Parliamentary Secretary might say, it was not a matter only of drafting. I have
no problem with differing from the Parliamentary Secretary. However, 1 do have a problem
when he agrees to differ on a particular basis and then comes back having shifted his stance
considerably. That is what has happened on this occasion. If the Parliamentary Secretary
wishes to hold proper negotiations he should not leave those negotiations agreeing to differ
and then suddenly whip in something that is different without its having been discussed. If
he wishes to have a reasonable discussion in the future, I suggest he continue the discussion
at a later stage when he intends to make a change.
He has removed from the clause the provision of subdivided land for social needs to people
who would otherwise be unable to acquire a home. That was included because it was
considered important to indicate the type of operations in which this authority would be
involved. The authority will be involved in not only this operation but also a range of
operations in providing land to people who would otherwise be unable to afford to acquire a
home. Homeswest may well be the central authority providing houses on that land, and it is
more likely that WALA will be providing only land. However, the fact remains that that will
be one of its areas of authority and it should be stated in the Bill because it would help to set
the tone.
Why is WALA going to be in the market? Will it be in the market to make money, a la.
Brian Burke, or will it play a social purpose in providing some competition in the market?
That is an important difference. One is concerned with carrying out a legitimate social
purpose and the otheir with straight out socialism. I know that Government members wan 't to
be socialists, and I want to carry out a social need; however, this was a perfectly good clause
and I understood the Government to say that it did not intend to do the socialist thing by
becoming involved in the market, running what would normally be run by private enterprise
to make profits. I have no objections to WALA's making a profit, but will WALA be in the
market to make a profit or to compete? I accept that there is a proper social element in
providing competition. However, it is unacceptable to be in that area for the sole purpose of
making a profit. To remove the words "to provide a competitive element in the market" is to
remove that intent, and that is totally unacceptable. It is not merely a matter of drafting, it is
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a significant change in the emphasis of the Bill, If such a change were to be made it should
not be dressed up as being merely a drafting mailer. The Government should admit
immediately that it is trying to include in this Bill a concept totally different from that which
it publicly said was the idea of WALA.
The argument that it will change the way it is dealt with in the court is a load of nonsense.
There arm some changes in the Bill which are of a drafting nature and of which I approve;
however, as far as the substance is concerned the Government has made no difference to the
way things will be interpreted in the court. The Government has used a weak, thin and
useless excuse. It has made changes of substance, not changes of drafting, and it should
admit that it is trying to change the thrust of this clause beyond all recognition, If that is
what the Government is trying to do, it should admit it. It should not pretend that it is doing
this because Parliamentary Counsel told it to and it would like to prevent its going to court.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I have been involved in many negotiations with hard headed people
before. Normally they are people in other factions of the Labor Party and tey know tat
when I adopt an argument I stick to it. I am not fussed about Hon Peter Foss' accusations
because he and I know that we have always differed on certain issues.
Hon Peter Foss: You changed it.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Parliamentary Counsel's advice on this matter is in writing and
if the member wants to read it I will provide him with a copy. He may not like what it says
but he can have it.
Hon Barry House: Would you put the former paragraph (a) back in?
Hon JOHN HALDEN: The advice of Parliamentary Counsel is that the paragraph does not
make sense; no-one knows what it means.
Hon Barry House: Come off it!
Hon Peter Foss: You know perfectly well what it means.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I do not have a clue what it means.
Hon Peter Foss: The fact is that you thought you knew what it was about until you were told
that you did not know what it was about.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I do not know what Hon Peter Foss is talking about.
Hon Peter Foss interjected.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: That does not make it right. Even if I accept Hon Peter Foss'
premise that I did not understand that paragraph, the fact is that I took an opinion which
states it does not make sense. No-one knows what it means. As a result of taking that
advice, the Government has now come up with something chat does make sense and will be
much easier to work with.
The role of WALA within the market is not to be as Hon Peter Foss suggested. It will have a
constant presence within the market. It will be self-sufficient within the market and it will
provide a steady flow of land within the market. That is what it is about. It is not about
accusations about WA Inc. The member is now telling me that not only what I am saying is
incorrect but also what I am thinking is incorrect.
Hon Peter Foss: I am right, though.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: People can make an interpretation of what people are about by what
they say, how they perform and perhaps even what they write down in their Acts. On the
basis of consultation and advice, I have been told that what Hon Peter Foss wrote down did
not make sense. I do not mean that offensively. When Parliamentary Counsel tells me that,
1, as a legislator, have a responsibility to put it right. That is what has happened.
Hon Peter Foss: You know that (a) makes sense too, don't you?
Hon JOHN HALDEN: Hon Peter Foss does not listen to me. Not only does he not know
what I think but also he does not listen to what I say. He is incorrect. I suggest members
support the amendment.
Hon BARRY HOUSE: In the interests of getting the clause to a vote and resolving it, could
the Chairman advise whether we can adjust the wording in this clause after it has been voted
on?
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The CHAIRMAN: Order! To give members an opportunity to reach agreement on this
amendment, I will leave the Chair until the ringing of the bells.

Sitting suspended from 9.20 to 935 pm
The CHAIRMAN: Although the sheet of paper we are dealing with says that the question
before the Committee is to insert a new subclause, the question is, in fact, that the existing
subclause be deleted.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Government agrees with the deletion of those words.
Amendment (deletion of subclause) put and passed.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I seek leave to replace the amendment to clause 15 page 10. after line
10. moved previously.
Leave granted.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I move -

Page 10, after line 10 - To insert new subclause (3) as follows -

(3) The provision of residential land for the social and economic needs of
the State under subsection (1)(a) is limited to -

(a) the provision of subdivided land at the lower end to the middle
range of the market in order to ensure a competitive element in
the market; or

(b) the development of potential residential land for disposal in
superlots to ensure that there is a continuous supply of
residential land; or

(c) the provision of subdivided land in those more remote areas of
the State where in the opinion of the Minister there is no
private developer willing or adequately able to provide that
land; or

(d) the provision of subdivided land for social needs to persons
who would otherwise be unable to afford to acquire a home.

Hon BARRY HOUSE: The Opposition agrees to the amendment just moved by the
Parliamentary Secretary.
Hon REG DAVIES: I have no objection to this amendment. However, the Committee has
been pedantic about every word and phrase in this Bill, with members saying how important
it is that we do not want people running off to set up secret organisations to make all sorts of
money. Some people here believe they legislate on their own by saying, "This goes in; that
goes out," while others go on an ego trip. I have no objection to the amendment.
Amendment put and passed.
Clause, as further amended, put and passed.
New clause 31 -

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I have a new heading to this clause to reflect more accurately what it
is about. The new heading will be "Authority to be exempt from rates and taxes etc."
The CHAIRMAN: I advise the Committee that the heading does not form part of the clause;
it is merely an aid to reading the Bill.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I move -

Page 22, after line 8 - To insert the following clause -

Authority to be exempt from rates and taxes etc.
31. Notwithstanding section 14, the Authority is not liable to pay any local
government rate or charge, land tax, metropolitan region improvement tax,
water rate, pay-roll tax, stamp duty or other rate, tax, duty, fee or charge
imposed by or under a written law.

Hon BARRY HOUSE: Clause 14 was all about making sure that WALA would not be
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operating in the marketplace from a preferred position. On the face of it, this clause itemises
some exemptions which would give WALA that preferred position.
Hon John H-alden: In regard to rates and taxes only.
Hon BARRY HOUSE: Yes. I know this is getting messy, but I would like some rationale
from the Parliamentary Secretary as to why this clause is to be inserted.
Hon JOHN HALDEN: This exemption has been granted to Joondalup Development
Corporation, the Industrial Lands Development Authority and the East Perth Redevelopment
Authority. As I have said in previous debates, the general exemption of the Crown applied to
ILDA. LandCorp and the East Perth Redevelopment Authority, so this provision is much
more limiting than that. The issue here is that, for example, the JDC would not have been as
successful as it has been without its rates exemption. This clause is necessary on the basis of
the longer term landholding horizon of Government land agencies, especially ILDA and
IDC-typp of works that ame conducted over many years; on the basis that the social and
economic development role of the former Industrial Lands Development Authority is not
aligned to commercial returns, especially in country areas; and on the basis that the payment
of rates would either diminish ongoing development capacity or have to be passed on to
purchasers, thereby hurting the people we seek to assist - the very people we just allowed to
be reinserted into clause 15, those at the bottom end of the market who cannot afford houses.
This clause is also necessary on the basis that taxes mean the State will be paying itself. As I
said, this represents a transfer away from the purposes of this legislation, about which we
have argued and come to an agreement, to consolidated revenue. The clause is also
necessary on the basis that local authorities would benefit from significant infrastructure at
no cost through the development of WALA and previous land authorities, and the attraction
of business and residential ratepayers to their areas in perpetuity has contributed considerably
to their rate base. I understand what Hon Harry House is saying. However, if he wants the
sort of development we have talked about, this amendment is necessary. I know it cuts
across the ideological positions of certain members but it does it on very reasonable grounds;
that is, tonty to achieve the aims we have set out in this Bill.
New clause put and passed.

Report

Bill again reported, with further amendments, and the report adopted.
Third Reading

Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon John Halden (Parliamentary Secretary), and
returned to the Assembly with amendments.

STANDING COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AGENCIES -
ESTABLISHMENT, ROLE AND SCRUTINY OF GOVERNMENT AGENCIES

Interim Report No 2 (Survey of Government Agencies) Tabling

HON N.F. MOORE (Mining and Pastoral) [9.48 pm]: I am directed to present interim
report No 2 (Survey of Government Agencies) which is part of a major inquiry being
conducted by the Standing Committee on Government Agencies into the establishment, role
and scrutiny of Government agencies. I move -

That the report do lie upon the Table and be printed.
Question put and passed.
[See paper No 168.]

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN TREASURY CORPORATION
AMENDMENT BILL 1991

Second Reading

Debate resumed from 3 June.
HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan) [9.49 pm]: I do not know where the Western
Australian Treasury Corporation Amendment Bill has been all this time - it is actually a 1991
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Bill. I am not sume whether it is a 1 January 1991 Bill or a 31 December 1991 Bill - in fact, it
was introduced into another place about the end of November last. The Attorney General
might be able to tell us why this Bill has taken so long to come before the House. It seems to
be a very important piece of legislation to improve the smooth running of the corporation,
which has had many administrative problems. The corporation admits that right up to the
end it has been making corrections to errors made in earlier Bills; and then there are the extra
refinements.
It is a strange thing that this issue has been around since last September and no action has
been taken. Six months have been lost in which to take advantage of the short term money
market in the United States. An opportunity arose to borrow big dollars and to do business in
the United States; an opportunity to obtain loans and deposit them in banks rather than to
bring the money back to Australia. That is part of the intent of the legislation. We were told
how beneficial it would be to obtain cheaper money and to generate more interest; however.
the Government, by design or lack of purpose, allowed this matter to go on for six months
without taking advantage of the opportunity, yet millions of dollars could have been earned
in interest through the exchange rates of other places.
The Western Australian Treasury Corporation came into being in 1986 to centralise the
borrowings of all Government authorities. Before that time the State Energy Commission
and the Western Australian Water Authority had their own debentures to raise money. That
system was replaced by the prospectus out of the Treasury Corporation; and the State Energy
Commission and WAWA transferred their money across to the corporation. The central
borrowing concept was frst introduced by a Liberal Government in 1981 by the Borrowings
for Authorities Act, which was replaced by the Western Australian Treasury Corporation Act
in 1986. Prior to the corporation Act, money could be lent only to statutory authorities and
local authorities in Western Australia. Lending to any other body had to be authorised by an
Act of Parliament. Therefore, its operation was focused on the Government sector in
Western Australia. The Bill will not change this situation.
The second reading speech indicates -

The centralisation of the borrowing function in Western Australia has enabled the
corporation to pass on significant interest rate savings to its participating authorities.
The corporation is not a profit making entity, and any costs or surpluses that it makes
are passed back directly to its participating authorities through its pooled lending
system.

From reading the annual report of the corporation it is evident that it makes a profit of a few
hundred thousand dollars because it is not possible to finely balance the outcome; however.
this money is directed into the next year's activities. 'The corporation has actively borrowed
in overseas markets to achieve a lower cost of funds. It is claimed that the corporation has
achieved this without any foreign currency exposure or risk. I wonder how it is possible to
do that and for it to be so unique. It is not as though the corporation is a fishing or wool
organisation with produce it must sell into the United States market to generate foreign
currency. The corporation borrows foreign currency and must repay foreign currency. We
have heard stories about Westpac Corporation and the huge sums of money borrowed in
foreign currency. However we are told that the Treasury Corporation has no foreign
currency exposure or risk.
In years gone by people borrowed at a cheap rate of interest and the loan required insurance
cover. The cost of the insurance pretty well balanced out the costs. However, people started
to take risks and borrowed money without insurance cover. As members are aware, people
dealing in Swiss francs lost half or three quarters of their money, and often those people were
farmers or people who could least afford to lose a great deal of money. It is sad that many
tragedies occurred in this regard because the bankers did not explain the situation fully to the
people. As a former Minister for Budget Management, the Attorney General should be able
to explain the situation to the House.
The amendments will enable the corporation to better manage its financial rights and
liabilities; enable it to generate greater liquidity in its securities; and give it better access to
overseas markets. All of these factors will lead to cheaper funding for its client authorities.
Prior to this legislation, the Treasury Corporation did not worry about obtaining security on
money lent to authorities. A case occurred in Hammersmith and Fulhami London Borough
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Council, which went brake, as occurred in America, because it could not repay its debts. In
the past, $10 million or $20 million was lent to an authority for one or two years, and no
security was required. Now the corporation wants to lend money for longer periods of time
and will require security. It is a fluid market and this is a safeguard. The problem has been
transferring the debt from one authority to another without security, and this amendment will
provide cover.
The second reading speech reads -

Clauses 5 and 9 will enable the corporation to take security for its loans. This is
particularly intended to cover the corporation's participating authorities outside the
State budgetary process such as local authorities.

This refers to the State budgetary process by which SECWA and WAWA have inbuilt
statutory guarantees. However, local authorities do not have such guarantees, as was the
case in the incident in England to which I referred. The second reading speech continues -

Clauses 6 and '7 amend the principal Act to affirm the corporation's function of not
only simply borrowing and lending but to manage its financial rights and obligations
in minimising its cost of funds.
Hence, clauses 6 and 7 empower the corporation to enter into currency transactions,
futures, option and swap agreements so that it can effectively manage its assets and
liabilities. While the corporation's legal advice from Crown Law is that such
activities fall within the general powers of the corporation, the Government has
received strong submissions from the Australian Bankers Association and other
similar bodies and overseas banks that they should be more specifically dealt with in
the legislation.

I am glad that the corporation has taken the advice of the Australian Bankers Association,
similar bodies and overseas banks. Crown Law advice is often a narrow view which is
purely legalistic. It is wise to go to the banking organisations and overseas so that better
legislation is introduced. In my few years in Parliament I have seen the problems the State
has faced by entering business deals and producing the necessary legislation because the
Government has lacked commercial expertise and many deals would never have been done if
proper commercial knowledge and expertise had been obtained. I will not enter into
specifics at this stage. Nevertheless, I commend the Government for obtaining outside
knowledge on this matter, and I suspect it will produce much better legislation. The second
reading speech also indicates -

The corporation is in the process of establishing a commercial paper program in the
United Stares which will give it access to short term funds in that market.

This refers to borrowing money in the United States. It continues -

This is the corporation's first approach to the US market and unfortunately the
limitation of the guarantee provision will prevent the corporation from proceeding
with this program because the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
requires that the Treasurer, on behalf of the State of Western Australia, as guarantor
of the corporation's borrowings, agree to waive any claim to sovereign immunity and
submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of New York.

The Government cannot claim Crown immunity in dealing in this market, and it must be
subject to the courts of New York. If the Western Australian Treasury Corporation borrows
$200 million and leaves it with some bank, and if there is any delay in payment the bank can
immediately take action against the State of Western Australia; it will not act against the
Treasury Corporation. In law it would be necessary to go to the corporation to prove that the
debt could not be paid. This could take many months or years before the payment is
received. The guarantor is the State Government. A bank in that situation would not want to
be held up in legalistic argument which would delay the repayment for perhaps one or two
years. A bank in that situation - receiving no return on its money - would wanc immediate
action. Under this legislation it could take immediate action against the Western Australian
State Government and not have to wait for a judgment regarding the Treasury Corporation.
The second reading speech continues -

It is considered that the commercial paper market in the United States will enable the
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corporation to tap into the largest short term money market in the world and will form
an essential part of the corporation's overseas borrowing strategy .

Further changes ame made under clause 10 -

... to amend the corporation's investment powers to allow it, with the approval of the
Treasurer, to place moneys on deposit with highly rated U.S. banks and to invest in
securities issued by the U.S. Government and highly raced U.S. banks. This will
enable the corporation to invest proceeds of US dollar borrowings in the United
States prior to its having beneficial use of any funds it raises in that market as part of
its overseas borrowing program.

As I explained earlier, the Treasury Corporation can borrow quickly in one market in
America at an opportune time. It may not be the right time to bring the money into the
Australian market, but it can be invested in prime US banks or US Government paper bills.
The final paragraph of the Attorney General's second reading speech stares -

The remaining clauses deal with a number of procedural matters, such as the
publication of Treasurer's Directions, the granting of ministerial access to records ...

That has been referred to recently in debates on other Bills. I commented last night that it
looked as though Treasury received a standard handout for all legislation stating that the
Treasurer must have access to information. Proposed section 21A of the Bill in part reads -

(1) For parliamentary purposes or for the proper conduct of the public business of
the Treasurer, the Treasurer is entitled -

(a) to have information in the possession of the Corporation; and
(b) if information referred to in paragraph (a) is in or on a document, to

have, and make and retain copies of, the document.
(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), the Treasurer may -

(a) request the Corporation to furnish information to the Treasurer
Members may recall that is the same wording that was used in the Government Employees
Superannuation Amendment Bill, to which amendments were passed to prohibit access to
private information of public servants. In this case we do not need similar legislation. This
amendment follows from the report of the Burt Commission on Accountability, which is also
mentioned in the Attorney General's second reading speech. We have not had much trouble
obtaining information from Government corporations. It was difficult to get information
from the Western Australian Development Corporation because of its Act and from Exim
Limited because of the Companies Code.
The Opposition supports the legislation and commends the Government on another step
forward in introducing legislation which seems to have ironed out the problems. The few
errors in the earlier draft were not material and have been cleared up. I thank the Attorney
General for seeing to it that members of the Opposition received good support from Treasury
officials. Unfortunately, the opportunity has been lost to achieve six months' benefit from
the overseas market to make more money.
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) (10.07 pm]: I thank Hon
Max Evans for his support. He required only two matters to be addressed. The first related
to the delay in passing this Bill. Although it is true that the Bill appears as a 1991 Bill, it was
presented very late in 1991. It was apparently drafted last year but was not available for
introduction in the Legislative Assembly until 26 November. From my understanding that
was so close to the recess in December that insufficient time remained for the normal
consideration and debate period.
Hon Max Evans: The money has been lost.
Hon i.M. BERINSON: I agree that the delay is unfortunate. I can only say that the issue of
passing Government legislation through the Legislative Assembly has been something of a
problem.
The second matter related to the ability of the Treasury Corporation to raise loans overseas
without the currency risks. I am afraid that my experience in budget management is no help
to me on this matter. Fortunately we have an adviser who has indicated that any foreign
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exchange borrowings are converted back into Australian dollars through a swap; that is, at
the outset of the loan arrangement a predetermined rate for the exchange of foreign currency
in and out of Australian currency is determined so that the end result can be known from the
outset. Put another way, and breaking it down into elements of the transaction, it would
appear that we can, for example, borrow US dollars but immediately convert them into
Australian dollars. The arrangement with the bank provides for it to pay the interest when
due in US dollars and be paid by the Treasury Corporation in Australian dollars at a rate
determined when the initial arrangement was put in place. The same applies when the time
comes to repay the loan in US dollars. I am sure that is all very clear to Hon Max Evans.
Hon Max Evans: I do not understand a word of it.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I am surprised to hear that.
Hon Max Evans: I will read the information in Mansard; but I believe every word you say.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: If Hon Max Evans has any difficulty in understanding my comments
when he reads them in Hansard he should not tell me, he should tell others. He would be
welcome to again have the Treasury officers available to provide any greater detail which
might be required.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

Committee and Report
Bill passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the report
adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon J.M. Herinson (Attorney General), and passed.

LAND TAX RELIEF BILL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 3 June.
HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan) [ 10. 10 pm]: I congratulate the Government for
introducing this legislation and also for the speed at which the legislation has come through.
The last Bill hit the House on 26 November and took until 4 June before it was finally
passed. This was announced on 25 May and is being passed on 4 June. That is an absolute
record. I congratulate the Government for making this decision.
For the first time, we are starting to have a rational debate on land tax. In my maiden speech,
I gave a long dissertation on land tax. I had meant that night to read a lot of figures into
Hansard, but I did not do it. I had done a lot of work on land tax for clients and I had seen
rates increase by 100 per cent, 200 per cent and 300 per cent over a couple of years. I know
we get a very warm feeling when we see property values rising. The tax rate in those days
was 2.4 per cent on $200 000 and it stayed like that for some years until it dropped by 19 per
cent to two per cent on amounts over $200 000. It was a graduated scale up to the two per
cent. At that time, people were paying $20 000 land tax on a property worth $1 million.
However, when the value of the property increased to $3 million, they were required to pay
$60 000 in land tax. If it was a commercial property on which land tax was paid on the
unimproved value of the land, the amount paid was $60 000 against $20 000 the year before.
What did the owner get for it? Nothing. He just happened to be in the wrong place at the
wrong time. If those increases were passed on to tenants and the tenant screamed, the
landlord would be entitled to say, "I am sorry, my rent agreement says that I must pass it on
to you." Years ago, rental agreements did not provide for the passing on of land tax to
tenants. In those days, land tax never varied. Changes in valuations were very slow and it
was not the same imposition.
Things changed very rapidly during the early 1980s, when there were big increases in land
tax. During that period I was surprised that the rate of increase in land tax each year did not
go up by a lot more than it did. This was before the Government starting phasing it in over
three years. In 1982, 1983, 1984, and 1985 the land tax should have increased by a larger
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amount. In recent years it has accelerated a lot more. Last year the decision was made to fix
very high increases in land tax. I attended meetings with business people around town at
which the Government said, "It will not go up any more than it has in the last year.' The
problem was that, a few years before, the Government began revaluing the State one-third at
a time. Therefore, every three years land would be revalued. If the rate increased from
$10 000 to $13 000, in the frst year $11 000 would be paid, the second year $12 000, and the
third year $13 000. It was a soft way for allowing people to catch up with the increase
which, as I said, was passed on to the tenant most of the rime.
However, the increases went even higher. The next time there was a $10 000 assessment it
had suddenly increased to $14 000. The Government then said that it would phase it in over
four years, with owners paying $11 000 the first year, $12 000 the second year, $13 000 the
third year and $14 000 the fourth year. The Government overlooked the fact - it was a
simple equation and there was same negligence somewhere because the Government should
have foreseen that it was going to happen - that, by the time the fourth year came along, the
amount had increased to $20 000. Therefore, the Government picked up an extra $6 000
over the next four years or 51 500 per annum. It would pick up $1 000 on the first
revaluation, plus $1 500 on the next revaluation, a total of $2 500 which was a double slug of
land tax. It came at a time when retail businesses and other businesses were hit very hard by
that wicked land tax impost.
We were told in the debate last year when we dealt with the land tax relief legislation that the
Government was getting closer to revaluing all land each year. When that is done, it can stop
the phasing in. However, as we found when we dealt with the land tax legislation the other
day, it is not quite as simple as that because the valuing of land by computers leaves a lot to
be desired. I worry about the tax paying public in the future. I do not believe they will get a
better deal. I introduced an amendment to the legislation last year to strike out the
Government's suggested revaluation every four years because, if someone wanted an early
revaluation downwards, it could not be done - he had to wait for four years for the higher rate
before it was brought down.
Since August-September last year when the land tax assessments came out in respect of
30 June 1991, a committee has been looking at this and has pre-emipted what will happen. It
has said that it will freeze the land tax for the last year and that the one-third or one-quarter
increment will not be added on; what was paid last year is what will be paid next year.
However, the figure is still very high. It will be interesting to see whether the Valuer
General gets around to looking at the areas that really need looking at, where there might be
a drop in values and a drop in land tax. It is so important that drops in values flow through.
It all comes back to certain local government areas and it will be interesting to se how many
come down this year because the legislation provides that, if it does come down, the benefit
will come down, and property owners will not have to pay if it increases. I hope that the
Government will tell us, when the valuations are closed off at the end of June, exactly what
the position is. We are precluding the Government from obtaining the increments. The
second reading speech states -

The measures contained in the Bill will save taxpayers an estimated $20 million next
financial year, including metropolitan region improvement tax as well as land tax.

I am sometimes critical of those sorts of comments. However, that is quite right; it has saved
them. They would have gone up further to catch up with valuations of one, two or three
years ago that are still coming through. The Minister said also -

The review committee indicated that without the freeze about 90 per cent of
taxpayers would again face substantial increases in land tax next financial year
through the continued phase-in of' a past valuation increase or upon revaluation of
their land for 1992-93.

I agree with that. The Opposition supports this legislation and commends the Government
for making a decision on this matter now well clear of the end of iune and for not creating a
lot of anguish as happened last year. I think the anguish was probably greater for the
landlords than it was for the tenants because tenants could walk out of premnises saying that
they could not pay the huge increases. It created a lot of anguish for the Building Owners
and Managers Association and the Real Estate Institute of Western Australia in looking after
their clients. By bringing it in now, everyone knows what will be the rules and that the

3393



amount they paid last year will be the same as or less than that which they will pay at the
next assessment.
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [10.19 pm]: Once again I
thank Hon Max Evans for his support. The Government's position on reduced valuations is
very clear. The intention is that reduced valuations provide the exception to the rule in terms
of freezing land tax at last year's levels. I understand that the immediate effect in the
1992-93 year will be to apply reduced valuations to the central business district.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

Committee and Report
Bill passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the report
adopted.

Third Reading

Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and passed.

TREASURER'S ADVANCE AUTHORIZATION BILL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 28 May.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [10.23 pm]: The
Opposition supports the Treasurer's Advance Authorization Bill. Members will be aware
that this year the Government is seeking an amount of $200 million to be applied to the
Treasurer's Advance Account, which is the same amount as that set aside during 1991-92. 1
was interested to learn that Parliament agreed to advance to this account an amount of
$145 million in 1985-86, $150 million in 1986-87, and $175 million in 1987-88. However,
in that year there was a need for a supplementary amount of $35 million as a result of the
interest bearing advances required by the R & I Bank Ltd to enable it to meet its capital
adequacy requirements, under the provisions of the Reserve Bank regulations. The total
amount advanced in 1987-88 was $210 million. In 1988-89 the Government sought
$200 million but in the following year it sought supplementation of that amount by
$85 million. Members will recall that the supplementation was required to meet the
obligations of the Teachers Credit Society as it was taken under the management wing of the
R & I Bank Ltd. In 1989-90 the Treasurer's Advance Account was appropriated
$250 million. In 1990-91 an amount of $180 million was sought but again, it was necessary
to supplement that with a further $20 million. The additional funds were required for the
creation of the Department of State Development which cost in the order of $18 million. In
1991-92 an amount of $200 million was advanced, and this year the Government is again
seeking $200 million. I am pleased to say that I do not think the Government will need to
supplement this amount. I hope that at last the Government has overcome the huge deficits it
was required to meet as a result of bad business dealings entered into over a number of years.
I now provide some background for the Treasurer's Advance Account. Members will be
aware that the account operates under the authority of section 8 of the Financial
Administration and Audit Act, and is provided for by the annual Treasurer's Advance
Authorization Bill. The money is used to make payments of an extraordinary or unforeseen
nature which in due course are chargeable against the Consolidated Revenue Fund or the
General Loan and Capital Works Fund. Of course, the advance must be made on such terms
as the Treasurer thinks fit for the temporary financing of works and services of the State or to
officers of public authorities, including advances to public authorities, to accounts forming
part of the mrust fund, or for the purthase of stores. The limit specified in the Bill lapses on
30 June each year. By tradition, this Bill is agreed to without great debate each year when it
is introduced. The accompanying Supply Bill generally attracts more general debate. The
Opposition is happy to support this year's Treasurer's Advance Authorization Bill, which
will allow for the provision of $200 million to the Treasurer's Advance Account.
HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan) [10.28 pm]: I commend. the Chamber staff on
the colour of the amended Notice Paper. It is much easier to find a pink Notice Paper than a
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white one, and I hope that the staff will continue to use this coloured paper in future.
The Leader of the Opposition has given the background of the financial aspects of this Bill.
For quite some time after I became a member of this House, I found the Treasurer's Advance
Account a most interesting concept. I wondered what was the reason for this account. The
Government can spend from the Consolidated Revenue Fund only the amount that has been
appropriated in the Estimates. Any money can be brought in under revenue, whether or not it
is expected. No controls apply to receipt of money. However, expenditure must be covered
by an Appropriation Bill, It is not always easy for some bodies to operate under that. For
example, when the Department for State Services buys huge stocks of paper the funds come
from the Treasurer's Advance Account because the paper has not been consumed and is still
a stock on hand at the time payment is made. I shall read the following extract from the
Treasurer's Annual Statements for 1990-91 because this is a very complicated issue -

The Treasurer's Advance Account operates under the authority of section 8 of the
Financial Administration and Audit Act and an annual Treasurer's Advance
Authorization Act.

It is also stated in the document -

The purposes authorized for the making of advances were:
(i) to make payments of an extraordinary or unforeseen nature chargeable against

the Consolidated Revenue Fund; or
the General Loan and Capital Works Fund,

with such expenditures to be charged in that year against the Consolidated
Revenue Fund or the General Loan and Capital Works Fund, as the case may
require, and to be subsequently submitted to Parliament for appropriation
against the Consolidated Revenue Fund or the General Loan and Capital
Works Fund;

In other words, abnormal items of expenditure, for which there is no appropriation - such as
the $85 million used to rescue Teachers Credit Society - are paid out of the Treasurer's
Advance Account. Those expenditures are subsequently submitted to Parliament for
appropriation against the Consolidated Revenue Fund or the General Loan and Capital
Works Fund- It is a bit like a petty cash imprest system that a person may have in his office
to buy stamps, tea and biscuits, or stationery, where at the end of the week a cheque is drawn
to reimburse the money that has been taken from the petty cash jar. The Government may
have a major expenditure of $20 million because of flood damage, for which there is no
appropriation, and will pay that out of the Treasurer's Advance Account, and subsequently at
the end of the year will appropriate that expenditur against the General L-oan and Capital
Works Fund so that it is recouped to the Treasurer's Advance Account. The Treasurer's
Advance Account is an important pant of the State's financial system. Hon George Cash
mentioned that there were some problems last year when the Government did not balance the
books properly and overdrew from the Treasurer's Advance Account a lot more money than
was in that account. The Treasurer's Advance Account is an imprest account, and what goes
out must come back in again.
The second purpose that is authorised for the making of advances from the Treasurer's
Advance Account is -

(ii) to make advances, on such terms as the Treasurer thinks fit, for the temnporaiy
financing of works and services of the State or to officers of public authorities
including advances -

* to public authorities;
* to accounts forming pant of the Trust Fund; or
* for the purchase of stores;

with such advances to be recouped from the specific appropriation of
Parliament applicable thereto or by recovering the advances from the Trust
Fund Accounts or from the officers or public authorities to or on whose
account the advances were made; and
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For example, State Print may have $5 million worth of paper in its store as stock on hand, but
because the Government - like any other body which uses accrual accounting - has no way of
accounting for stock on hand, that stock must be paid for by an advance from the Treasurer's
Advance Account.
I recommend to members that they look at the Treasurer's Annual Statements for each
financial year and also the analytical information, because the amount of information that is
now available to the Parliament and to the public has increased tremendously in recent years,
and I commend Treasury for its work. A few years ago, one had to go to one's friends in the
Office of the Auditor General or Treasury and say, "Can you tell me what the Treasurer's
Advance Account is all about?', and sometimes they were not fully aware of it either but just
accepted it as part of the financial system of the State.
The third purpose that is authorised for the making of advances is -

(iii) to make advances, on such terms as the Treasurer thinks fit, for the temporary
financing of works and services undertaken in conjunction with, or on behalf
of, other Commonwealth, State or Territory Governments, local government
authorities or persons, or by those Governments, authorities Or persons on
behalf of the State, with such advances to be recovered from the
Governments, authorities or persons to or on whose account the advances
were made.

It is a bit like the situation in a business where, if a person wants some lunch money, he puts
an IOU in the petty cash tin, takes $10, goes to lunch, and pays back the money later. The
Government may be involved in a joint venture with the Federal Government on the Eyre
Highway, for example, where they will each pay half of the cost. The State Government
may pay for the full cost of that work from the Treasurer's Advance Account, but seek to
recover half of the cost from the Federal Government at a later date, because it does not have
the power under the CRF or the General Loan and Capital Works Fund to pay for that work.
Similarly, the State Government may enter into a joint venture with local government to
build a jetty at Lancelin, for example, where the Government will foot the bill but seek to
recoup half of the cost, or whatever is the proportion, from the Shim of Gingin, and the other
half of the cost from the General Loan and Capital Works Fund through an appropriation Bill
for that purpose.
We do not know how many bad debts the Treasurer's Advance Account ends up with at the
end of the day, or whether the Government has spent money on behalf of the Commonwealth
which has not been recouped from the Commonwealth. If that happens, the CRY or the
General Loan and Capital Works Fund will have to appropriate moneys to make up the
difference.
The limit specified for each year for the Treasurer's Advance Account lapses on 30 June of
each financial year. Therefore, at the end of the year a balance sheet is drawn up entitled
"Treasurer's Advance - Statement of Advances Unrecouped" for the financial year in
question. It is a bit like the situation with the petty cash tin where at the end of the week it
has 20 IOUs that must be repaid and a cheque is drawn to recoup that money.
The advances unrecouped as at 30 June 1991 include: Aboriginal missions, purchase of
stores, $45 365; Department of Agriculture, cash order suspense, $149 350; Building
Management Authority, capital projects account, cash order suspense, Welshpool suspense
store, and works and sales, and some of these accounts are in the order of $3 million; Crown
Law, payments in suspense, which is used to pay for fines; dental bulk stores, which are used
for the Dental Hospital. $187 110; Department of Marine and Harbours, expenditure advance
and store, which is used for repairs and pants; natural disasters, $4.7 million, which is usually
recouped from Miscellaneous Services but cannot be paid from the CRF; and, finally,
railways departmental works and sales, $1.9 million, and railways expenditure advance, $7.2
million, where the railways department may spend money at the end of one financial year for
work to start before the beginning of the next financial year. The overdrawn miust accounts
amount to $4.9 million. The Treasurer has provided a list which includes the Frenmantle Port
Authority, $21 000; the Perth Theatre Trust, $139 000; the R & I holdings account, $1.5
million; WA Coastal Shipping Commission, $700 000; the WA Sports Centre trust account,
$1.7 million, the Western Australian Meat Commission fund, $900 000, providing a total of
$4.9 million.
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Last year the Auditor Genera] reported adversely on the WA Spans Centre Trust Account.
The account was overexpended by $1.7 million, and that amount could not be met through
the Consolidated Revenue Fund; therefore the Treasurer's Advance was transferred across to
balance the books in the form of an extra allocation. It is worth while placing those
comments on the record, because we usually handle the Treasurer's Advance Authorization
Bill quickly. This Bill represents an important part of the financial structure of Government
We spend time debating the Consolidated Revenue Fund, and the General Loan and Capital
Works Fund, but the Treasurer's Annual Statement includes abnormal items, including the
purchase of stock, paid for out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund when consumed. We
support the Bill.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

Committee and Report
Bill passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the report
adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and passed.

ACTS AMENDMENT (EVIDENCE OF CHILDREN AND OTHERS) BILL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 14 May.
HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan) 11O.44 pmn): I wish to raise a couple or points in
respect of this Bill. The most important one in legal significance is proposed new section
106D where a judge, in proceedings on indictment in which evidence is given by a child, is
not to warn the jury or suggest to the jury in any way that it is unsafe to convict on the
uncorroborated evidence of that child because children are classified by law as unreliable
witnesses. I have always found the law relating to the requirement for corroboration to be an
unsatisfactory one. It is true that children may not necessarily comprehend what they see, or
not comprehend in such a way as to be able to retell it. It is also true that children may be
subject to influence by adults, and that influence may affect their evidence. Unfortunately,
that is also true of adult witnesses. Some adult witnesses are congenital liars, and have a
tendency to reconstruct their evidence or to be affected by listening to other people give
evidence.
I always had a rule in court that I would never allow my witnesses to sit in court while other
witnesses were giving evidence because it was amazing how often, while they sat listening to
someone else's evidence, they started to change their own evidence. We ended up with some
incredible mess ups with all witnesses having listened to each other, and all trying to talor
their evidence to fit what each had said. It was a better situation to leave them outside, allow
them to come in with their inconsistencies, and then allow the judge to work out where the
inconsistencies should result in some sort of conclusion. So, it is not something that is
confined to children, and children are not particularly susceptible to being influenced by
listening to the way other people give evidence.
The worst point about corroboration is that it is an entirely artificial distinction. Once we
had the requirement that evidence be corroborated, we had to go and find this thing called
"tcorroboration". Many times, the judge would be presented with a situation where a child or
a woman in a sexual case was plainly teling the truth - an honest witness - but by reason of
the requirements of the law, had to have his or her evidence corroborated. When it was so
plain that the witness was telling the truth, and was a reliable witness, but it looked like the
person charged would get off because of the requirement for corroboration, we found the
courts would start to use the most extraordinary devices to find corroboration. To a large
extent the rules relating to corroboration became weird, with the special cases that camne up
from time to rime where judges tried to find corroboration in order to allow a witness that
they saw as being truthful to give evidence and/or the requirement to be satisfied.
So, we had a strange situation where people were assessing witnesses and trying to bend the
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law to fit. They did not always succeed because there is a limit on how far judges can go.
Underlying it all was the fact that judges felt there was a way to assess the veracity of
witnesses, apart from the artificial requirement for corroboration. The answer in the end will
be that witnesses must be taken on their merits. There is a capacity to recognise - and the
judge would be awart of it - that perhaps a child or an adult could be influenced. He may be
conscious of the fact that the child may have been an infant, but that should not be something
that is artificially determined by a rule requiring corroboration. It should not be a
requirement that we say because a child is a child his evidence is unlikely to be reliable. A
child witness should be judged on the same basis as any witness is judged; that is, on what
we see him do when he gives evidence, how he gives evidence, and the way that evidence is
tested. That is the way to decide whether a person is to be believed, and not by some
artificial rule which says that children are not to be believed and raped women are not to be
believed unless there is some form of corroboration.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: How do you prove that?
Hon PETER FOSS: Hlon Derrick Tomlinson's comment goes to one of the basic problems in
law. Many people think that when a court makes a finding of fact, that is a fact. That is not
always the case; that is a finding of fact. A lot of people think that, once a court has brought
down a judgment, that is what happened. All it means is that on the facts before the court
and on the evidence of people whom the court believed this is what the court believes
happened. There are two qualifications on that. The first is that a whole range of facts might
not have been presented which should have been. Even if everybody is believed it may not
necessarily be the case that all the facts are before the court. We should never assume that.
Second, the judge may wrongly believe one witness when he should have believed another.
That may make a huge difference. That is a problem and it applies to every single witness in
every case. It is something that can happen with an adult witness. I have seen the most
extraordinary witnesses give evidence; people who seemed to be quite incapable of telling
the truth. All one can say is that the process is an imperfect one, but we will not improve on
those imperfections by bringing in artificial rules.
Let us accept that the process by which we judge the veracity of the witness is a very
scientific one, hut a lot of artistry and experience is involved. That is one of the things that is
learnt. An ordinary person believes he has ways of judging whether another person is telling
the truth, and ordinary, everyday experience in dealing with people gives people the feeling
they are able to tell whether somebody else is telling the truth. In the situation of the court,
judges and lawyers regularly form opinions as to whether a person is telling the truth. They
at least have the facts to test the veracity of a witness which, perhaps in ordinary, common
social intercourse, we do not have, If a witness gives his evidence in a court, counsel has the
ability to test the evidence of that person and to show up whether the person is being truthful
or not. It is as a result of that, that counsel may develop over a period a greater ability to
judge the truthfulness or otherwise of a witness. I admit it is not an exact science. Judges
may very well be getting it consistently wrong and the system may be believing people that
should not be believed.
It still does not detract from the point that it is no better or worse to judge the veracity of
children or raped women than it is to judge the veracity of any other person. When one
thinks about it, the logic behind raped women requiring corroboration was a belief that
women had a tendency to lie about these things in order to cover up an indiscretion on their
part. However, many people have a tendency to lie about what has happened. I will give the
House an example. In any case usually witnesses for one reason or another feel embarrassed
about their job and have a great interest in not telling the truth. One of the big problems we
have is that they often convince themselves about the truth as opposed to just convincing
other people. That is where pathological liars are very difficult to judge; they are totally
convinced of the truth of what they are saying.
Hon Derrick Tomilinson: And totally convincing?
Hon PETER FOSS: Yes, and that is a problem. Another example I can give relates to a
number of occasions where I was told, when taking an action against a company which had
supposedly made an error, that the person who made the error had been sacked by the
company and therefore we should call him as a witness because he was prepared to tell the
truth now that he had been sacked. Not one of those people will ever say, "Yes, I made a
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mistake." Even though they might have feelings about the company that sacked them
summarily, one finds those witnesses also want to justify their own behaviour. They will
never give evidence against the company even though it sacked them, and they think it was
unjustified, because their primary motivation is justifying themselves. That is an example of
how witnesses can be influenced in what they say pureiy by their own feelings of self-
justification, their own wishes to cover up that they are feeling guilty. People do not tell the
truth, or they slant the truth in the way they talk, or in some way or other they seek to
influence the view that the court makes of the facts for all sorts of reasons. That is the point:
It is a view of the facts which the court forns. It is not in fact an infallible determination of
what the facts are.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: In that circumstance, how important is cross-examination?
Hon PETER FOSS: We are not dealing with cross-examination at the moment, but the
question of corroboration, which is an artificial distinction that dates from a time when the
law used to like dealing with distinctions. It used to make nice, clear distinctions which,
although artificial, everyone could understand. It was a way of saying that with this case we
will handle it this way, because that gives us a rule to follow. Corroboration has detracted
from a process which should be followed to try to assess whether the witness is telling the
truth. It is confusing to jurors to ask them to look for corroboration. The concept of
corroboration has always been difficult for jurors. The rules that have been put around as to
what is corroboration are not incomprehensible but illogical in their range and scope. It is an
area of law that should be logical and go straight to the problem at hand. I do not have any
qualms about the question of the abolition of corroboration.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson has said that in the event of the abolition of corroboration, surely
cross-examination becomes all the more important. I do not believe it makes it more
important; it will always have the same importance, but cross-examination is a very
important part of determining the veracity of a witness. That is what I would warn people
about. If a person has not been subjected to cross-examination, that is a difficulty, given that
it is an inexact science. One of the ways in which a court is better off than a person in the
street trying to determine the veracity of another person is that one has the ability to question
and probe and to see whether that person answers consistently. It is one thing to tell a lie but
it is Mnother thing to teli a lie consistently- The quote by Sir Walter Scott has been
mentioned many timies; before and it states -

Oh, what a tangled web we weave,
When first we practise to deceive!

Pathological liars are able to tell lies consistently but other people are unable to do so
consistently. It has been shown that theft is an imbalance between the positions of lawyers
and witnesses. It is possible for a skilful lawyer to make people confused. However, many
lawyers do not tend to do that in court when they are dealing with judges because they gain
nothing by confusing the witniess and by using those skills. The judges have seen it all
before. A young lawyer may attempt to confuse a witness but a judge will be totally
unimpressed. It is usually only young lawyers who attempt to prove all sorts of things and
judges disregard it because they have seen it all before. It is part of the process of judging
witnesses.
However, those actions may impress a jury because it does not have the experience that a
judge has. The reason for having juries, of course, is that they do not have the cynicism that
judges have. Juries are necessary because criminals often tend to trot out standard excuses,
and if a defendant trots out his excuse a judge will probably say that he has heard that excuse
before and will convict the accused. Defendants will do that because in sonic cases their
excuses could be plausible. Judges become cynical and they do not believe the excuses of
defendants. Juries, on the other hand, have not heard those excuses before and they take the
excuse at face value. Therefore, jury members judge the veracity of the individual on other
indicia than on whether they have heard the story before. Summary justice before a
magistrate is, therefore, more difficult.
There is still a problemt with juries in that they are naive. They may be more impressed with
the legal pyrotechnics on the part of counsel when dealing with witnesses. A young witness,
in particular, would be subject to problems if he were vigorously cross-examined. That is
one of the things that cannot be prevented. Generally, the court recognises in those
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circumstances the obligations of the court to protect witnesses from excessive and over
bearing cross-examination by counsel.
Although the Bill is not without some difficulties, it proposes to make some changes in the
immediacy of the relationship between counsel and his client. For instance, some of the
provisions set out under the arrangenients in proposed section 106N would separate the
accused from his client. That is not all that unusual in a criminal court, where it is usual for
the accused to be somewhat separated from his counsel. However, it is different in the case
of summary proceedings, where the accused is usually near his counsel. However, we are
dealing with matters that would be dealt with other than by indictmnent.
A matter which is dealt with appropriately but which I would like the Attorney General to
confirm is related not so much to the evidence of children but to the evidence of special
witnesses under proposed section 106R. Proposed section 106R(4) states -

The arrangements that may be made under this section are -

(a) that the person have near to him or her a person, approved by the
Court, who may provide him or her with support;

(b) in any proceeding for an offence -

(i) that an arrangement of the kind described in section 106N (2)
or (4) is to be made; and

(ii) that the evidence be given at a pre-trial hearing in the manner
provided for by section 106K.

It has the words "arrangements that may be made". It is my understanding that if an
arrangement is made under this subsection, when one takes section 106N(2) one takes all of
section 106N(2). A person is not given a selection of arrangements such as those in 106N(2)
and 106N(4) and he cannot pick, as if off a supermarket shelf, some part of those
arrangements. If a person picks them, he takes all of section 106N(2) or all of section
106N(4) or all of section 106K. The permissiveness extends to whether the person makes the
arrangement but not to how he picks the arrangement.
Hon J.M. Berinson: You are referzing to 106R?
Hon PETER FOSS: That is the main one. If a person wants to make arrangements he adopts
section 106N(2) entirely, or section 106N(4) entirely. It does not give him pernission to
make arrangements and then pick what he wants.
Hon J.M. Berinson: And to vary them in the course of one proceeding.
Hon PETER FOSS: Worse still, it does not allow him to take a bit of them. That means a
person can have one of those subsections or one of those; he cannot make an arrangement
from a bit of this, a bit of that, and perhaps not a bit of the other. The idea is that those
arrangements can be made but they are taken as a kit, not as a number of arrangements from
which a person can select bits and pieces. I read it that way, although I would like to be
absolutely certain.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is also the intention.
Hon PETER FOSS: Another query was raised about proposed section 106K. Under
subsection (1) the power to make directions about a person who may be present at a pre-trial
hearing does not in any way override the express provision in subsection (3)(e) that the
defendant will be there albeit, as it states -

..but is to be capable of observing the proceedings by means of a closed circuit
television system.

Hon J.M. Berinson: Are you raising a question about whether proposed section 106K(l)
could preclude the defendant being present at all?
Hon PETER FOSS: Yes.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is neither in the court, nor an adjoining room, nor associated with
the hearing at all?
Hon PETER FOSS: My understanding is no, but I would like it made dbsolutely clear.
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Hon .J.M. Berinson: Again I would like to agree with that.
Hon PETER FOSS: Is the Attorney General confirming that is the case?
Hon J.M. Berinson: Yes.
Hon PETER FOSS: The defendant will have the opportunity to be present either through the
medium of television or by actually being present.
These are the only matters I wish to raise. I believe the Bill is a good one and I hope the
effects of it will be good. I also hope that in the pleasure to be gained from seeing it work so
far as the child is concerned, we do not lose sight of the fact that other parties are involved,
namely the defendant. When reviewing the operation of this legislation I hope the Director
of Public Prosecutions will ascertain the effect of it on the defendants to ensure that they are
not being deprived of their rights or are in a situation where they are unnecessarily interfered
with pursuant to the provisions of this Bill. I support the Bill.
HON REG DAVIES (North Metropolitan) [11. 12 pm]: Abraham Lincoln once said that
the probability that we may fadl in the struggle should not deter us from the support of a
cause we believe to be just. HeI may well have been describing many dedicated people in this
State who have been working toward the introduction of the Acts Amendment (Evidence of
Children and Others) Bill and the Acts Amendment (Sexual Offences) Bill. These Bills are a
culmination of eight years of committee discussions, reports, lobbying, and petitions to the
Parliament.
Child sexual abuse must rank as one of the most abhorrent felonies for which a member of
the human race can be indicted. Children's evidence in a courtroom has often been
discounted or discredited. Although the evidence of abuse is often clear to doctors,
psychologists and care workers, in many cases the child does not even reach the courtroom.
Our society has finally confronted head on this previously taboo subject. This Bill will at
last allow us to consider children.
Child sexual abuse is a topic which has elicited outrage and disbelief. Only recently has this
subject been dealt with seriously and it is considered by health workers and researchers to be
a very serious problem. The controversy and arguments surrounding this issue appear to he
moving away from one of disbelief that it actually occurs to legal and academic debates
about who is involved and to what extent this abuse occurs. Most people believe that it is a
longstanding practice that the accused person retain his rights; most importantly, his right to
a fair tria. The purpose of this Bill is to give consideration to the child's right to a fair
bearing. We must remember that children are often under significant stress in a formal
courtroom setting. A child is under even more stress when he or she is a victim of child
sexual abuse and is required to face the perpetrator in the court when often that person is
known to the child. The legislation provides for closed circuit television, the video taping of
children's statements and pre-trial hearings. In addition, the Bill states that it must be proved
that a child is competent to give evidence.
I have closely examined the report of the Standing Committee on Legislation, which
considered this Bill and the Acts Amendment (Sexual Offences) Bill and it referred to the
concerns of the Western Australian Law Society. I understand that the Law Society's main
concern is that the accused should continue to have the right to a fair trial. The Bill seeks to
address a previous imbalance by facilitating the giving of evidence by children and other
vulnerable witnesses without strikting at the heart of the fair trial process.
Originally the Law Society urged the Government to hold back the Acts Amendment
(Evidence of Children and Others) Bill and to seek the opinion of judicial officers and
practitioners involved in criminal law to determine how the problems contemplated in the
legislation could be overcome without jeopardising the prospects of a fair trial. Similar
legislation is found in other jurisdictions around the world, including the United States of
America, Canada, the United Kingdom, New Zealand and other States of Australia. I have
not seen any evidence of any injustice to accused persons in those jurisdictions. Prior to the
introduction of similar legislation in these jurisdictions concerns similar to those voiced by
the Law Society and lawyers were expressed.
I am happy that this legislation will protect the rights of children and will ensure that they get
a fair trial. We probably cannot begin to understand the trauma these young children suffer,
particularly when they find themselves in a courtroom situation, one which is obviously
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foreign to them. I am concerned that many lawyers are probably not used to talking to
children. Some of them acquire the necessary communication skills and some are able to
develop them naturally. I believe that as part of their training they should learn how to
communicate with children and gain a better understanding of the way in which children
think. Perhaps that is something which could be incorporated in law studies.
The Standing Committee on Legislation, after taking evidence and looking at the facts before
it, brought down a small report. I am sure that it was aware of the need to introduce this
legislation quickly. It did nor consider that further consultation was warranted. Thie
committee recommended that a review of the legislation be conducted by it within 12 months
of its coming into operation.
Video taping of evidence is a new innovation that I believe will assist so that children are not
cross-examined directly by the perpetrator of a crime. I support all aspects of the legislation.
I congratulate those responsible for it. It represents a thorough overhaul of previous
discriminatory practices which were often weighted against children. The new procedures
for the giving of evidence allow a court to assist any disadvantaged or distressed witness to
give evidence in a manner appropriate to that person's situation. An ever increasing number
of child abuse and sexual abuse cases are reported in our newspapers daily. A day rarely
goes by without one opening a newspaper to see a report of sexual abuse against a child.
Hopefully, the people perpetrating these crimes will be quickly brought to trial and be
handed the sentence they deserve. I welcome the legislation and hope it passes and is
enacted quickly.
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) 1 11.21 pm]: I thank all
speakers in the debate both for their support of the Biil and their constructive comments. I
join with Hon Reg Davies in recognising the work of the many people who have toiled over
many years to bring this legislation to its present point. That no doubt is why a Bill as
important and wide ranging as this one has attracted relatively little debate and virtually no
controversy. Bock Mr Tomlinson and Mr Foss raised the question of the necessary balance
between the interests of child victims and defendants. I chink Mr Davies raised this question
in his reference to reservations expressed by the Law Society. That balance must be
protected. I am sure it will be an important element of the review that the Legislation
Committee recommends. I am sure that will not only take place at the end of the year as is
proposed but also will be engaged in on an ongoing basis as experience with this legislation
is gathered.
I share Mr Foss' confidence that the Director of Public Prosecutions and his officers willI be
concerned to ensure that the position of defendants is recognised and accepted. I add to that
the interest of judges in the same aim. This Bill is one of a number in which there has been
substantial input from the judiciary and I take this opportunity here, as I have in other
forums, to express my appreciation for that and for the extent to which the judges are
prepared to offer their advice and nor regard the separation of their role from the Legislature
as being so absolute as to preclude them from that constructive consideration. I share the
interests of all members who have supported this Bill together with what is in some respects
a companion Bill dealing with sexual offences against children. They will be implemented
as soon as possible. I am hopeful that despite the late stage at which we are dealing with this
Bill in this House it will be dealt with early enough by the Assembly to ensure that it is
enacted and in place well before the end of the year.
I commend the Bill to the House.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second dine.

Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Hon Carr Kelly) in the Chair Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney
General) in charge of the Bill.
Clause I put and passed.
Clause 2: Commencement.-
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I move -
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Page 2, line?7 - To insert after the word "proclamation" the following -

but the proclamation is not to fix a day that is earlier than the day on which
the Acts Amendment (Sexual Offences) Act 1992 comes into operation.

This amendment is required because of the cross-referencing between this Bill and the Acts
Amendment (Sexual Offences) Bill.
Amendment put and passed.
Hon PETER FOSS: I raise my usual point: Why do we not have a date on which this
legislation will come into effect? A number of Bills have remained unproclaimed now for a
substantial period. I would hate to see this Bill end up in the same way; chat is, sitting
around waiting for something to happen.
Hon J.M. BERJNSON: I am well aware of Mr Foss' interest in general in the matter of firm
proclamation dates. This is one of the clear examples of the need to have a flexible dare
precisely because of the cross-referencing situation with the Acts Amendment (Sexual
Offences) Bill which will come into operation on a date to be proclaimed. It is necessary to
ensure the two are coordinated in order that they can be cross-referenced.
Hon PETER FOSS: It seems to me that one of them should have a "not later than" date so
that when chat one comes into operation we will know that the other will come into operation
soon.
Hon J.M. BER.INSON: That may be a proposition which could have been put with the first
Bill, but I do not think we can address that question in this Bill. From a practical point of
view, members can be assured that both of these Bills will be enacted at the first opportunity.
The Government is concerned to have both of these measures in operation at the first
opportunity and every emphasis will be placed on achieving chat.
Clause, as amended, put and passed.
Clauses 3 to 7 put and passed.
Clause 8: Heading and sections 106A to 106S inserted -

Hon PETER FOSS: I cannot understand the reason for the provision on page 5 of the Bill
that "counsel" includes a solicitor. In Western Australia we have a fused profession where
every person who appears is both a barrister and a solicitor - and, incidentally, a proctor - and
this does not seem to be a very useful statement. Did we get this provision from somewhere
else where there is a distinction between a barrister and a solicitor?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: H-on Peter Foss has asked a good question and I wish I had a good
answer; I am not at all confident that I have. I can only suggest that the use by the draftsman
of the term "counsel" has encouraged him to make clear that this includes a solicitor, because
the normal interchange of capacities involves the terms barrister and solicitor rather than
counsel and solicitor- I can only imagine that this is for greater certainty on that point,
although I certainly would agree that there would appear to be very Uitile doubt that it needs
resolution.
Hon PETER FOSS: It leads to either greater certainty or greater confusion; one of the two.
Did we get any of this legislation from anywhere else?
Hon 1.M. BERINSON: I am sure there was reference to legislation in other States but, as has
been pointed our in the course of earlier debate, the Bill is an amalgam of many views,
contributions, reports and refinements and I am not in a position to indicate the extent to
which the final draft is a reflection of some reliance on legislation elsewhere. I move-

Page 6. line 17 - To insert after the words "A child" the following -

who is under the age of 12 years
Page 6. line 21 - To insert after the words "A child" the following.-

who is under the age of 12 years
Page 7, lines 6 to 8 - To delete the proposed subsection (2).

These amendments are to proposed section 106B(l) and (2) to include a reference to the age
of 12 so as to make it clear that only children under 12 are to be subjected to the test in chat
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provision to determine if they are able to give sworn evidence. A consequential amendment
is the deletion of proposed section 106C(2). Current provisions in the Evidence Act provide
for the taking of evidence on oath or affirmation. No reference is made to the age of the
witness in those provisions. However, those provisions and judicial practice do not require
an inquiry in all cases as to a child's ability to give evidence on oath when the child is over
12. That is the same as the case with adult witnesses.
Proposed new section 106B(2) provides a new test for children to qualify to give sworn
evidence. The word "child' is defined in proposed new section 106A as someone under 18.
As presently drafted, the new test in new section 106B applies to all children; chat is, whether
above or below the age of 12. This was not the intention of the WA Law Reform
Commission. There was no intention to change the present practice where children aged 12
or over are generally treated as adults for the purposes of taking the oath; that is, without
inquiry. The intention was to change the law for children under 12; that is, to enable them to
give sworn evidence when they satisfy the test in proposed new section 106B(2).
Amendments put and passed.
Hon .J.M. BERINSON: I move -

Page 8, line 30 - To delete the words "the Judge or".
Page 9, line I - To delete the words "the Judge or".
Page 9, line 6 - To insert after the word "may" the following -

, at the discretion of the Judge,
These amendments propose to delete all references to "the Judge" in proposed new section
106G. That section prohibits unrepresented defendants from directly cross-examining a child
under 26. It provides that any question which an unrepresented defendant wishes to ask such
a child must be done by the defendant stating the question to the judge or a person approved
by the court, and the judge or that approved person repeating the question to the child.
However, an argument has been put, and the Government accepts it, that it is inappropriate
for a judge or magistrate to question a child on behalf of an accused person as the judge or
magistrate could be seen to be representing the accused person. The effect of the amendment
is that only an accused's lawyer or, where an accused is unrepresented, a person approved by
the court, would be able to question a child witness on behalf of the accused.
Amendments put and passed.
Hon L.M. R3ERINSON: I move -

Page 9, lines 7 to 14 - To delete the proposed paragraphs (a) and (b) and substitute the
following paragraphs -

(a) there has been given to the defendant -

(i) a copy of the statement; or
(ii) if the statement is not recorded in writing or electronically,

details of the statement; and
(b) the defendant is given the opportunity to cross-examine the affected

child.
This amendment is to delete paragraphs (a) and (b) of proposed section 106H(1) and to insert
new paragraphs (a) and (b). The amendment would make it clear that the court would have a
discretion to admit relevant statements and, when such statements were admitted, make it
clear that the child would be able to be cross-examined in relation to those statements.
Proposed section 106H- permits the admission into evidence of children's out of court
statements. Such statements would include, for example, tape-recorded interviews with the
child, statements made to third parties, video-taped statements, etc.
Before such statements can be admitted, the defendant must have been given a copy of the
statement and the child must be called, or be available to be called, as a witness. It was the
intention of the WA Law Reform Commission that the admission of such statements would
be discretionary on the part of the. court. Further, the commission intended that the child
should be available for cross-examination in relation to any such statement. The current
wording of proposed section 10611 may be interpreted in such a way as to leave a doubt
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whether a discretion exists in relation to the admission of such statements. If such statements
are admitted, the wording of proposed section 106H1, although it permits a defendant to
examine a child witness, may preclude the possibility of cross-examination by the defendant.
The amendment clarifies those matters.
Amendment put and passed.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I move -

Page 9, lines 15 to 17 - To delete the proposed subsection (2) and substitute the
following subsection -

(2) Subsection (1) does not affect the operation of -

(a) section 1060; or
(b) section 69 of the Justices Act 1902, other than subsection (1) of

that section.
This amendment would delete proposed section 106H(2) and insert a new proposed section
10611(2). This is consequential on the amendment to proposed section 10611(1). It preserves
the proposed section 1060 position that an unrepresented accused can cross-examine a child
only through an approved third person. It also preserves the proposed amendment to section
69 of the Justices Act preventing a child from being called at committal proceedings unless
special circumstances exist.
Amendment put and passed.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON- I raise a query on behalf of the WA Law Society, which
relates to the word "entitled". The proposed section reads -

A child who is under the age of 16 years is entitled, while he or she is giving
evidence in any proceeding in a Court, to have near to him or her a person who may
provide the child with support.

The Law Society acknowledges that a child in a courtroom situation could be intimidated by
the formality of the court, or by having to give evidence in the presence of the accused. Even
though the Law Society acknowledges those circumstances, and that the child's discomfort
might be reduced by having a support person sitting near the child, it is concerned that the
word "entitled" gives the child a right to that support. The Law Society does not object to a
procedure whereby, on the application of a prosecutor, a judge could entertain a request that
a child be provided with support and that such application be responded to by a submission
on the part of the accused. However, the society is concerned about the entitlement
conferring a right upon the child to have that support person without necessarily having the
request entertained by the court.
Will the Attorney General confirm whether that, or my, interpretation of entitlement within
this provision is the one intended? I see the -entitlement as not being as the Law Society
interprets it;, that is, it is not something which should be entetained and discussed by the
prosecution and the decision made by the judge. The Law Society sees it as a right which
does not have to be entertained in that way and dhe court will automatically allow the
Support.
My reading of entitlement means that it is furnishing the grounds for laying claims to have a
support person sitting near the child; but laying claim - as the word "entitle" means -
provides the opportunity for an application to be made to the judge and an argument
entertained by a judge before he makes a decision. Is my interpretation of entitlement the
one intended by the provision, or is the Law Society's interpretation - a right - the correct
one?
Hon PETER FOSS: I could raise another interpretation. This matter could be handled in
three ways: First, a person could apply to a court, which has the discretion to let the child
have support; second, an application could be made, and once that is done the court must
allow the support person to be present; and third, it would not matter whether an application
was made, as somebody must be present as support. I read the "entitled" reference as
meaning the third possibility. In that case, a procedure would be wrong if support were not
provided to the child, If the entitlement means that a court is obliged to provide the support,
the court should not go ahead unless such person is present.
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Hlon J.M. BERINSON: We seem to have a range of possibilities, but I am not sure I agree
with any one of them. I will attempt to sunmmarise the position. As I understand it, both the
intention and the effect of the terminology of the Bill is in line with the Law Society's view
rather than the view put by Hon Derrick Tomlinson. My understanding is that Mr Tomlinson
was saying that the entitlement is only an entitlement -

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Furnishing the grounds.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I think that is not correct to the extent that the Law Society's
interpretation is correct. I have some reservations about Hon Peter Foss' category three of
the possibilities because as I understand it he appears to be converting an endtiemnent into an
obligation to accept the services of a support person.
Hon Peter Foss: Not to accept the services, but they are entitled to have them. Therefore, a
person must be present if they wish to use that person.
Hon J.M. BERIINSON: If that is what Mr Foss is saying, he is right. I would say that the
entitlement allows the child to have a support person present at that child's discretion.
However, chat carries with it the child's entitlement not to have a support person present if
the child does not wish that to be the case.
Hon Peter Foss: The entitlement is to have a support person; therefore a person must be
there; whether he Or she is used is up to the child. That is what I am concerned about. The
entitlement concerns more than whether there is permission for a person to be there. A
Person is entitled to be there, but he or she should be there in case the child wishes to use that
person.
Hon J.M. BERJNSON: I will approach the question in a more, comprehensive way by
examining what the Western Australian Law Society had to say compared with the view the
Government takes on maintaining the present form of the draft. The society expressed
concern over the idea that the child witness should have the right to the presence of a support
person. The society, it appears, would not object to the appointment of such a person after
the prosecutor has applied to the judge and the accused has had an opportunity to respond.
This is contrary, I might indicate, to the society's submission on this matter in 1990. In that
submission the society supported a proposal for a legislative provision granting child
witnesses "the right to have a support person". The Law Society has not offered any reason
for its change of mind other than "a legislative provision enabling a child to be provided with
support is unnecessary. Such support can normally be provided in the discretion of the trial
judge, in any event." Under proposed section 106E, if a child does not want a support person
present then there will not be one.
If the child does want one he or she should be entitled to one irrespective of the attitude of
the defence counsel. The reason for that is that children, as a class, axe vulnerable witnesses.
Children as individuals may be particularly vulnerable, and the support and security which
may be offered to them by the mere presence of a passive support person should not be left to
the discretion of the court following what might be lengthy and unnecessary arguments by
counsel.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Proposed section 106E(l) refers to a child under the age of
16. I assume it could be a child, in the case of a sexual offence, as young as five years old;
unfortunately they are involved in such cases. A child under the age of seven or even 10
may not be able to exercise the discretion which the Attorney General mentioned. The child
may be asked whether he or she wants a support person present and the child may say no.
We are referring to a support person who would provide comfort and support to a child in the
intimidating proceedings of a court or- in the presence of the accused. It is a situation of
some trauma. A support person is one in whom the child should have considerable
confidence. It should not be a person appointed to the court because she looks like a warm,
mothering figure or a kind uncle figure, but somebody in whom the child has confidence. In
the approving of the support person there must therefore be a process of saying that the
person whom the child wants as his or her comfort is somebody in whom the child has
confidence. That person must be approved by the court, thus a process of application is
involved and not merely the child saying it does or does not want its mother.
Hon I.M. BERINSON: I do not see an inconsistency between proposed sections 106E(l)
and 106E(2). There is no question of a child being left to his or her own resources in
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deciding whether to have a support person. The younger the person, the more reliance would
need to be placed on those persons representing the interests of the child.
Hon Peter Foss: It sounds as though you have another support person to decide whether to
have a support person.
Hon J.M. BERJNSON: That is not the case. However, it goes without saying that the
younger a child the more necessary it is to have a person representing that child's interests.
It may very well be the case that a parent or welfare officer or same other person with
experience in this field would be able to represent the child's interests. Yet even the parent,
although he or she may be very suitable for comfort purposes, may not be suitable for the
support. The stress of the situation could well compound the problems of the child as,
acceptable as a parent is to represent the interest of the child, in general that parent may not
be suitable.
Hon Peter Foss: Who will make that judgment?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: The starting point must be either the child if of an age and maturity
capable of making a judgment, or a person representing the interests of the child and
accepted by the court, if necessary, as representing the interests of the child. There is no
question that subsection (1) is inconsistent with subsection (2) in the sense of the court being
empowered to suggest that the child wishing to have a support person cannot have one at all.
It is designed only to allow a discretion in the court to rule that a particular nominated
support person is unsuitable. The two examples in 106E are a witness or a party to the
proceeding. Those are not exclusive. There will be other situations where, in the view of the
court, the particular person nominated for the support role is unsuitable. Subsection (2) is
designed to provide additional protection for the child but is not, 1 suggest, inconsistent with
the general entitlement provided by subsection (1).
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON, The question of approval in those circumstances still raises
the right of the defendant as well as the entitlement of the child. The child is entitled to a
support person. The court has the responsibility or the authority to approve the support
person. Let us take the case of a mother who is neither a witness nor a party to the
proceedings who would be, one would assume, an appropriate support person for the child.
That mother might also be so emotionally involved in the case that the defendant could
claim, as the Attorney General has said, that the very presence of the mother could influence
the behaviour of the child in particular ways which might be adverse to the discovery of the
truth in the court. It would seem in that circumstance that the defendant should have a right
to make representations to the court in the process of the court approving the support person
for the child.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I think there is confusion of the two concepts. A defendant or
counsel for the defendant may have reason to suggest that the pt-oposed support person is
unsuitable, for the reason Mr Tomlinson has offered or for some other reason. There is
nothing here to preclude that being put to the court and nothing to preclude the court taking
those submissions into consideration and thereafter deciding one way or the other whether
the person nominated but objected to by the defendant should be approved. That, however,
is a very different question from the starting point of the whole discussion which is whether
it is open to the court to decide that a support person should be there or not; that is, not a
nominated support person but any support person.
It may be helpful also if I draw attention to the need to resolve these sorts of questions
without undue intrusion into the trial proceedings as are accommodated by proposed section
1065 which is headed "Pie-trial hearings to consider what orders should be made'. The
extent of the matters that can be dealt with at that stage would certainly cover the sort of
questions that we have been canvassing on the present subsection.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: The question for the court to entertain is not whether the child
should have a support person but who the support person should be.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I may not have put it as succinctly, but I think that was what I was
saying.
Hon PETER FOSS: The Attorney General has not told us whether the accused has a right to
be heatd. He said the procedure does not preclude the accused from being heard, but does he
have a right to be heard?
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Hon J.M. Berinson: I would say the answer to chat is yes.
Clause, as amended, put and passed.
Clause 9 put and passed.
Clause 10: Schedule 7 added -

Hon J.M. BERJNSON: I move -

Page 19, lines 15 to 29 and page 20, lines 1 to 17 - To delete proposed Pan B and
substitute the following -

Chapter or
*section

181
184
186

191
192

195
xxXI

Amendment put and pas
Clause, as amended, put
Title put and passed.

PART B
Matter to which Chapter or section relates

Carnal knowledge of animal
Indecent practices between males in public
Occupier or owner allowing certain persons to be on
premises for unlawful carnal knowledge
Procuration
Procuring person to have unlawful carnal knowledge
by threats, fraud, or administering drugs
Permitting boys to resort to brothels
Sexual offences
sd.

and passed.

Report
Bill reported, with amendments, and the report adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third rime, on motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and transmitted
to the Assembly.

MINES REGULATION AMENDMENT BILL
Returned

Bill returned from the Assembly with amendments.
Assembly's Amendments: In Committee

The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Hon Doug Wenn) in the Chair; Hon N.E. Moore in
charge of the Bill,
The amendments made by the Assembly were as follows -

Clause 2
Page 1. lines 6 and 7 - To delete the lines and substitute the following lines -

2. This Act shall come into operation on such day as is fixed by
proclamation.

Clause 6
Page 2, line 15 to page 3, line 2 - To delete the clause and substitute the
following clause -

Section 61 amended
6. (1) Section 61 (1) of the principal Act is amended -

(a) by renumbering the existing paragraph (zb) as paragraph
(A); and
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(b) by inserting after paragraph (za) the following paragraphs -

"(zb) Dealing with the number of hours and days that a
person may be employed to work in or about a
mine, including -

(i) the length of shifts that a person may be
employed to work in or about a mine:

(ii) the breaks to be taken during or between
shifts;

(iii) the maximum number of hours that a
person may be employed to work in or
about a mine in a specified period;

(iv) the maximum number of consecutive
days that a person may be employed to
work in or about a mine without a break
of a specified length;

(ze) Dealing with literacy and language requirements
for persons employed in or about mines, and
providing for, in the event of a person being
employed in contravention of such a requirement,
the duties and responsibilities of an employer in
relation to such a person;

(zd) Requiring the owner or manager of a mine to
provide information to the State Mining Engineer
and to any relevant union concerning rosters
worked in or about the mine;

(ze) Requiring the owner or manager of a mine to
consult with the workforce and any relevant
union regarding proposed changes to rosters
worked in or about the mine;".

(2) Section 61 (2) of the principal Act is amended -

(a) in paragraph (a) -

(4) by deleting "and" after subparagraph (ii);
(ii) by inserting 'and" after subparagraph (iii);
(iii) by inserting after subparagraph (iii) *the

following subparagraph -

"(iv) subject to specified exceptions;";
and

(b) by inserting after paragraph (ha) the following
paragraph -

"(bb) so as to provide that a specified person or
specified persons shall be deemed to have
committed an offence against a provision
of the regulations where any contravention
of that provision Occurs;".

Hon N.E. MOORE: I move -
That the amendments made by the Assembly be not agreed to.

The Mines Regulation Amendment Bill was passed by this House a couple of weeks ago and
sent to the Legislative Assembly. The Assembly considered the Bill today and has decided
to seek the concurrence of the Legislative Council to a number of amendments that were
passed in the Assembly. In my view these amendments should not be agreed to and,
therefore, I have moved accordingly. It is necessary to explain the reasons that I have ths
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view and in order to do so I will go back to explain to the Committee the provisions in the
parent Act and those in the amending Bill sent to the Assembly. I will also explain the
ramifications of the amendments passed by the Assembly.
This Bill is about the conditions of work in underground mines in Western Australia, and the
Bill seeks to amend the Act by removing two divisions which relate to the employment of
persons in underground mines. Members may be aware that this issue is of prime concern in
Kambalda particularly, but in Leinster also, in both of which are Western Mining
Corporation Ltd mines. For some extraordinary reason the Government has refused to give
Western Mining an exemption, a provision which is allowed for in the Act, from the
requirements of divisions 5 and 6 of the Act. Western Mining has been seeking to operate
continuous shifts in its underground mines in Kambalda to increase its productivity and
efficiency. It has sought exemptions from the 7.5 hour a day requirement and the no working
on Sundays requirement which axe part of the Act, but the exemptions have not been
forthcoming. As members know, there has been considerable industrial disputation in
Kambalda over this issue and in my view the industrial disputation relates just as much to
internal Australian Workers Union and Labor Party machinations as to the rights or wrongs
of the issue of continuous underground mining. It was, therefore, decided by the Opposition
to introduce a Bill to remove from the Act the specific legislative requirements with respect
to employment in underground mines. A Bill was introduced in this House and was
subsequently passed and relayed to the Assembly.
The Assembly has now decided to amend the Bill that was passed in this House. By those
amendments it seeks to provide that the conditions of work in underground mines can be
legislated by regulation. The Assembly's amendments seek to give the Government the
power to make regulations with respect to a whole range of issues affecting underground
mining, such as the length of shifts, the length of breaks between and within shifts, and
things of that nature. The Opposition is opposed to that proposition for a couple of reasons.
Firstly, the Opposition feels that decisions on these matters should be made by the industrial
tribunals which have been set up to hear evidence and submissions from both sides of the
argument, and to make decisions which are binding on both parties. That is how these issues
should be resolved. If we supported the Government's proposition, the Government would
be able to make regulations about these matters and those regulations would be binding upon
all parties, without their necessarily having a say in the way those regulations were drawn up
or without even vaguely agreeing with them.
We all know that regulations are very flexible if Governments seek to make them so. If the
Bill were passed in its amended form the Government could introduce a series of regulations
after Parliament had risen which could be regulations that Parliament would not accept. As
members know, nothing could be done about those regulations until Parliament resumed and,
therefore, regulations which were unacceptable to the industry could be in place for two or
three months before Parliament had a chance to do anything about them. It is also possible
for regulations to be changed simply by gazettal. A situation occurred some years ago, as I
explained to Hon John Caldwell when talking about the Government's ability to use
flexibility with regard to regulations. I refer to an incident when the Legislative Council
disallowed a regulation in respect of the promotion of females in the teaching profession. It
was a provision for affirnative action with which the Legislative Council disagreed. As
soon as the House rose for the Christmas recess the Minister regazetted the disallowed
regulation, appointed people to those positions and it was all over red rover. That sont of
flexibility should not be given to the Government in respect of the Mines Regulation
Amendment Bill. The Government should not be given the power to change the rules as it
likes, bearing in mind that in this case Western Mining wishes to invest tens of millions of
dollars in its underground mining operation in Kambalda. That is the first reason that the
Opposition does not agree with the amendments proposed by the Assembly; that is, it does
not allow the industrial tribunals to make decisions about these martens, and it provides for
these decisions to be made by regulation, which I believe is inappropriate in this case.
A further proposition is put forward by the Legislative Assembly to change the
commencement date of the Act. The Bill sent to the Assembly provided that the legislation
would come into effect on the date on which it received Royal assent. The Government
amendment changes that to a date to be fixed by proclamation. I do nor trust the Government
on the issue and I do not trust it to necessarily proclaim the Act unless there is a requirement
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to do so. It is my strongly held view, particularly on this issue, that we should retain the
provision originally proposed; that is, the legislation should come into operation on the day
on which it receives Royal assent. That will at least ensure that the Act comes into
operation.
important political activities are going on in respect of this matter. I cannot work out as
clearly as I would like what is going on, who is responsible for what, and who is causing
what to happen or not to happen, and so on, but we have a situation where the Australian
Workers Union has its own internal machinations and where Bruce Wilson is seeking to
make a name for himself in the world of union politics, and, on the other hand, where the
Government has the Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations. That is an
extraordinary combination of portfolios. Anyone who imagines that the Minister for
Productivity and Labour Relations has anything to do with productivity is telling jokes. The
Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations is the person who went to Karratha duing the
Ashburton by-election and called a stop work meeting to tell the people about the terrible
things that are contained in the Liberal Party's industrial relations policy. That cost the
company involved millions of dollars of lost production, yet that Minister claims to be the
Minister for Productivity!
Por some reason, the Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations has a particular view
about this matter and the Minister for State Development, who comes from the goldfields,
has another view. Last year, the Premier gave a commitment to the mining industry that a
Bill would be introduced by the Government. However, that did not happen, and we now
suddenly find that after the Opposition introduced that legislation, the Government seeks to
amend it in a way which is totally unacceptable not only to the Opposition but also to the
company involved.
Hon Fred McKenzie: What about the workers? They are a major component.
Hon N.F. MOORE: I could tell Hon Fred McKenzie about the workers but if he reads the
second reading speech we will save a bit of time, because I explained in that speech what is
the workers' attitude. I can summarise that by saying that the activities of Bruce Wilson
when he became Secretary of the Australian Workers Union played a significant role in
changing the attitude of the workers in Kainbalda to this issue.
Today, the Opposition was contacted by Western Mining Corporation Ltd. the company
which, for some reason, was singled out by the Government on this issue. Western Mining
Corporation advised us that it is totally opposed to the amendments proposed by the
Government for the reasons I have outlined already in respect of the way in which
regulations can be used to control events, and also because it believes the amendments go
against the spirit of the memorandum of understanding which was reached between the
company and the AWU. The company understands that that memorandum provides that this
matter will be resolved outside of legislation, yet the amendment from the Legislative
Assembly, which provides for regulation makdng powers, keeps that decision making within
legislation.
Hon Mark Nevill: How recent is that memorandum of under-standing?
Hon N.F. MOORE: It was only a couple of weeks ago. The member referred to it in the
second reading debate.
Hon Mark Nevili: I was talking about a memorandum in December last year.
Hon N.F. MOORE: There was one in more recent days. I do not know the exact date. The
bottom line is that what the Government seeks to do goes against the spirit of the agreement
that the company believes was reached with the Government and the unions.
The company told us also that it wants to spend $150 milion in Kambalda, but that if -this
Bill were passed in the amended form as proposed by the Government, it would not go ahead
with that development. The company is fed up with the procrastination, the delays, and the
changing views of the Government and the unions about this issue, and it has reached the
stage where it is at the end of its tether. The company told us that if it did not go ahead with
its proposed expansion, it would not go ahead with increasing employment in Kamnbalda.
Western Mining Corporation is a massive investor in Western Australia. That company has
been in Western Australia for nearly 60 years, and it has made a significant contribution to
the mining industry in this State and to the welfare of thousands of Western Australians and
0680- 16
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their families. That company has decided that if the Government does not get the matter
straight this time, the State will be denied $150 million worth of investment and the jobs that
go with that investment.
The company believes that the Bill in the amended form supported by the Government is
worse than the parent Act, because the parent Act at least is in legislative form and cannot be
changed unless it comes to the Parliament. At least people know where they stand under the
parent Act. However, if we accept the Government's amendments and allow the conditions
in underground mines to be legislated for by way of regulation, the Government would have
a flexibility which it does not have now, which could be used against the company whenever
the unions wished to flex their muscles and to get Hon Yvonne Henderson to change the
rules. The company knows also that this Parliament would be able to do very little about
that.
Hon Fred McKenzie: Disallow the regulations!
Hon N.F. MOORE: Was not the member listening when I explained what can be done with
regulations? The member knows that regulations can be gazetted whenever one likes and
that they last until the next gazettal, and that if the Parliament disallows them, they can be
regazetted. That happens all the time, and that is the reason that the Government is not
prepared to go along with the Government's proposition. If the company thought that it
could trust this Government, it might be prepared to accept that as a possible step in the right
direction, but I do not think the company trusts the Government any more, and it has good
reason for that.
Hon T.G. Butler: Why would it miust you?
Hon N.E. MOORE: The company has put to me its position in respect of this mailer, and I
am prepared to argue its case because I believe that this company is worth supporting.
Western Mining Corporation has spent millions of dollars in Western Australia, and employs
people who work in those unions which Hon Tom Butler claims to support -

Hon T.G. Butler: I remember when it sacked 600 people in 1977.
Hon N.E. MOORE: Yes, and it also employs about 6 000 other people. It sacked those
people because the world is changing. One of the problems of people like Hon Tom Butler is
that they live in the past. I too share Hon Mark Nevill's view that it would be lovely to go
back to the old days in the goldmining industry when people worked five and a half days a
week, everyone played golf on Sundays, there was no overtime, everyone worked from
9.00 am to 5.00 pm, and there was a happy social environment. That would be wonderful if
the rest of the world was doing that; but the rest of the world is not doing that, and Australia
is falling behind in productivity, as Hon Tom Butler should know. I do not argue that
12 hour shifts will necessarily increase productivity - it probably will not in some cases - but
what the company wants, and for what I am prepared to argue on its behalf, is the ability to

'be flexible in respect of working hours. By removing the constraints that are in the parent
Act and by allowing that flexibility to be organised within the industrial relations system, it
will be possible for the unions and the company to reach agreement about the best way to get
that nickel out of the ground at Kambalda. I am sure that Hon Tom Butler would agree that
the best place to resolve these sorts of matters is in the industrial courts, because that is what
they are theme for, rather than the Legislative Council, where neither he nor I know much
about underground mining operations.
The Government's proposed amendments are flat acceptable to the Opposition or to Western
Mining Corporation. Were the Committee to agree with those amendments, Western Mining
Corporation would not go ahead with a significant investment in the State. I do not consider
that to be a bribe or a threat in any way. It is simply a statement of fact that the company has
reached the end of its tether on this issue. It is a pity that the Government did not introduce
this legislation and that it was left to the Opposition to put it together. It is a pity that this
matter has dragged on for so long, without resolution. I appeal to Government members to
practise what they preach and to accept the argument proposed in the Opposition's Bill that
the industrial tribunals are the place in which to make decisions about these matters.
Members should reject the Assembly's amendments and agree to the Bill in its original form.
I urge the Chamber to do that.
Hon MARK NEVILL: I support the amendments. One of the most startling points made by
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Hon Norman Moore related to the involvement of Western Mining Corporation Ltd in ibis
Bill. When we debated the Bill last time, the member said it was not a Western Mining Bill
or one specifically directed to the Western Mining situation. He said it was a Bill for a
general situation. Debate tonight has indicated that this Bill is principally directed towards
tackling the situation in which Western Mining finds itself.
Hon N.E. Moore: Of course it is. However, it was not drawn up by Western Mining. It was
drawn up by the Opposition to address Western Mining's problems.
Hon MARK NEVILL: We agree to that. The general principle of the Bill is agreed to by all
parties; that is, that divisions 5 and 6 be abolished, allowing continuous rosters to operate at
mines throughout the State without a need to obtain an exemption.
It would be handy to have a copy of the memorandum referred to by the member, because
without that it is difficult to evaluate the agreement between the two parties. In my view the
Bill allows Western Mining to proceed confidently and spend the $105 million that it wants
to invest in the nickel industry. This Bill does not pose any threat to that program. Hon
Norman Moore stated that putting the provisions in the regulations will bring in less certainty
for the company because the regulations will be gazetted. However, as both Hon Norman
Moore and I know, the regulations are subject to disallowance. We know that if Western
Mining does not like fth regulations when they are gazetted, action can be taken within the
first 14 sitting days after the gazettal.
Hon N.E. Moore: Only if the House is sitting.
Hon MARK NEVILL: The member can be assured that the regulations will be discussed
with the mining industry and the unions before they are brought to this place. Th1e member
said that he thought that the proclamnation of the Bill should be fixed by Royal assent. The
Government does not agree. The Government believes the Bill should be fixed by
proclamation so that the regulations and the Bill can be proclaimed together. It is pointless
to do that separately.
One argument has been put that these sorts of provisions should be in awards. However, we
are moving in a transitional situation from an Act, which had very rigid conditions built in,
towards a more flexible system. As the member knows, I do not have any brief at all for 12
hour shifts underground. It is a recipe for an increased accident rate. I am sure that will be
the effect. I hope that the passage of the Bill will not result in the widespread use of 12 hour
shifts. I can understand the use of 12 hour shifts in certain situations, but I hope that it does
not become the norm.
I also foresee a drifting away of families from mining towns. I feel instinctively that we will
see bigger communities of single men working in mining towns on 12 hour shifts. That
would not give me any joy. Hon Norman Moore has a similar view. Our views differ, in
that I believe a lot of the productivity gains that companies such as Western Mining are
seeking by the use of 12 hour shifts will be achieved if they develop a stronger worker
participation, worker consultation, approach and not a hierarchical approach. Western
Mining has been experimenting for a number of years at the Junction pit very successfully
with the worker participation scheme. The workers decide how they will organise the
rosters, what they will do, when they will take time off, and their main job is to achieve a
production rate at the lowest cost within a safe work environment. That is the way the
productivity sought can be gained. I wish that ethos were extended broadly across the
company. It always amazes me that companies such as Alcoa? that are basically controlled
by Western Mining with a large shareholding of 40 per cent, and with the same managing
director and chairman for many years, do not share the same ethos. Alcoa's attitude to safety
during the 1970s and 1980s was light years ahead of Western Mining's.
Hon N.E. Moore: Alcoa's attitude towards a 37 hour week was light years ahead of anyone
else also.
Hon MARK NEVILL: I could be more informed on that issue. I worked underground for
Western Mining for six years in the 1970s. T1he situation was appalling at the shaft in which
I worked with 200 men. We had six fatalities in 18 months, not including serious injuries.
The attitude of Western Mining then, and it was pervasive through the mining industry, was
that it is a matter of fate. Safety did not have much impact on those matters. If a person's
number was up, it was up. One heard legion stories about how the most unsafe mniner in the
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mine survived, and how the man who scaled the backs rock-bolted and did everything right
got killed in a rock fall. There was always a rationalisation that a person took a certain
amount of precautions but after that it was in the lap of the gods and a person could not do
much about it. That attitude prevailed particularly in the goldfields 15 years ago.
Companies 1like Alcoa of Australia Ltd were living in a different world in their approach to
safe work practises. Western Mining Corporation Ltd has a great capacity to increase
productivity within the present system without going on to 12 hour rosters as a matter of
course.
The most interesting thing in this Bill is the requirement it places on the managers to consult
with the work force and any relevant union on changes to rosters. That sort of consultation
should be a matter of course when a mature relationship develops with goad working
participation on the site, so that the union can move into the background. I have not seen
much of that sort of relationship, which is the normal approach in countries like Germany
and a lot of other forward thinking democracies.
The amendments proposed by the Government in the other place are a sensible intermediate
step. The shift that Hon Norman Moore is seeking is too dramatic at this time.
H-on N.E. Moore: 'Me industrial system lacks the maturity, did you know that?
Hon MARK NEVILL: This possibility offers more certainty to the company than the
outcome of award notations.
Hon N.E. Moore: That is not what they say.
Hon MARK NEVILL: That is my opinion. It gives the company what it needs to ensure that
a roster stays in place. I urge members to support these amendments because they will
ensure that we have a constructive change within the mining industry in the goldfields for the
benefit of both the company and, importantly, the workers in the industry.
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: This Bill was brought into this place to help Western Mining
Corporation Ltd, a company that has been having great difficulty over the last couple of
years. One only has to read the newspapers to understand what is going on. It is well and
truly time that this place does something for companies. Since I have been in this place we
have done a lot for workers; on many occasions we have passed legislation through this place
to help workers. We have done an enormous amount for workers, in the way they work and
the penalties that apply to companies that disobey work practices. However, we have done
very little for industry. This Hill was intended to help a company with its underground
mining.
Hon N.F. Moore: And any others that get picked on by the Government.
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: We know very well that the country's economy is going downhill
and we were told tonight by Hon Norman Moore that Western Mining is having great
problems and is considering not investing and further capital because it has been stymied in
what it is doing. It will adopt a holding situation, with no further expansion proposed.
Hon Mark Nevill: Everyone else has done this by applying for exemptions under section 5
of the Act, but Western Mining is insisting in a change in the Act.
Hon N.F. Moore: Because you won't give it an exemption.
Hon J.N. CALDWELL: This Bill has been formulated in a way which the company seems to
think is adequate. I hope that the House will see fit not to accept the amendments made in
the other place. I will quote from an article in The West Australian of Friday, 5 June, under
the headline "Falling investment could maim Australian recovery'. The article states -

Australia's future economic growth is in danger of being crippled by its present poor
investment performance.
And while Australian executives polled in a worldwide survey show a despairing lack
of confidence in the future, across the Tasman their New Zealand counterparts are
confidently preparing to take on the world.

That is rather interesting as New Zealand has a goods and services tax. The article
continues -

The results of the Swiss-based worldwide poll of 18,000 executives in the latest issue
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of World Link magazine show more than 80 per cent of Australian executives do not
believe the economy is in competitive shape - while New Zealand executives are the
most optimistic.

That is an up to date estimation of investment in Australia. As Hon Norman Moore said
earlier, Western Mining is considering investing many millions of dollars but would find it
very difficult to carry out that investment if this Bill were not passed in its original form.
That is the main reason I will not suppont the amendments that have been made in the other
place. This State needs a boost and this Bill would give Western Mining a boost and
consequently the economy of Western Australia. It is something of which we could all be
proud. The Government is proposing to alter clause 3 to change the time the Act is brought
into operation. I am not in favour of the amendment made in the other place,

Division
Question put and a division called for.
Bells rung and the Committee divided.
The CHAIRMAN (Hon Carry Kelly): Before the tellers tell I cast my vote with the Noes.
Division resulted as follows -

Ayes (12)
Hon I.N. Caldwell lion Barry House Hon Derrick Tomnlinson
Hon George Cask Hon N.F. Moore Hon Margaret McAleer
Hon Reg Davies Hon Muriel Patterson (Teller)
Hon Max Evans Hon P.G. Pendal
Hon Peter Foss Hon R.G. Pike

Noes (12)

Hon J.M. Berinson Hon B.L. Jones Hon Doug Wen
Hon T.G. Butler Hon Garry Kelly Hon Fred McKenzie
Hon Kim Chance Hon Mark Nevill (Teller)
Hon Cheryl Davenport Hon Sam Piantadosi
Hon John Halden Hon Tom Stephens

Pairs
Hon D.J. Wordsworth Hon Kay Hallahan
Hon P.H. Lockyer Hon Tom Helm
Hon E.J. Charlton Hon Bob Thomas
Hon W.N. Stretch Hon Graham Edwards

Question thus negatived; the Assembly's amendments agreed to.
Hon N.F. MOORE: In view of the fact that the Committee has not agreed to the motion I
indicate that we should consider the amendments in some detail.
The CHAIRMAN: No. The motion before the Chair was that the Committee disagree with
the amendments made by the Legislative Assembly. That motion was lost. Therefore, the
Committee agrees with the amendments made by the Assembly.
Hon N-F. MOORE: On an equal vote?
The CHAIRMAN: If theme is an equal vote in the Committee the question is resolved in the
negative.

Report
Resolution reported.
HON N.F. MOORE (Mining and Pastoral) [12.58 am]: I move -

That consideration of the report be made an Order of the Day for the next sitting of
the House.

3415



Hon J.M. Berinson: I ask the Deputy President to indicate the effect of the motion. I do not
understand it in the present circumstances.

Ruling - By the Deputy President
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Although Standing Orders have been
suspended to allow a decision to be made on all stages in one sitting, it does not mean it must
be done that way. It is possible to postpone the stages of a Bill or, at least, the consideration
of the report to a later stage.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Did I understand Hon Norman Moore to move that consideration of the
report be made an Order of the Day for the next sitting of the House; and the effect of that is
that the Bill will not be passed? This is a most unusual set of circumstances. I move to
amend the motion so that consideration of the report be made an Order of the Day for a later
stage of the sitting.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: That cannot be done because this is a procedural motion. It
cannot be amended.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I ask for a further ruling. Would the Deputy President indicate the
effect of the motion now before the House?
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: If this motion is defeated a member would be able to move
another motion that the report be adopted, or that the report be considered at a later stage of
the sitting. If this motion is defeated it would be competent to move another motion. This
motion must be dispensed with first.
Hon N.F. MOORE: Mr Deputy President, in view of the fact that you were able to give the
Leader of the House some latitude in respect of his thinking time, would you give me a
moment to work out how I can recommit the question which was just defeated?
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! A motion to recommit message No 24 will supersede
the motion that the report be adopted at a later stage.
Hon N.F. MOORE: I move -

That message No 24 be recommitted to the Committee of the Whole for further
consideration.

Division
Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Ayes (13)
Hon I.N. Caldwell Hon Barry House Hon R.G. Pike
Hon George Cash Hon Murray Montgomery Hon Derrick Tomlinson
Hon Reg Davies Hon NEF. Moore Hon Margaret McAleer
Hon M~ax Evans Hon Muriel Patterson (Teller)
Hon Peter Foss Hon P.G. Pendal

Noes (11)

Hon I.M. Berinson Hon John Halen Hon Tom Stephens
Hon 'T.G. Ruder Hon B.L. Jones Hon Doug wen
Hon Kim Chance Hon Mark Nevill Hon Fred McKenzie
Hon Cheryl Davenport Hon Sam Piantadosi (Teller)

Pairs
Hon DiJ. Wordsworth Hon K~ay Hllahan
Hon P.H. Lockyer Hon Tom Helm
Hon E.J. Charlton Hon Bob Thomas
Hon W.N. Stretch Hon Graham Edwards

Question thus passed.
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Commnittee
The Chairman of Committees (Hon Garry Kelly) in the Chair; Hon N.E. Moore in charge of
the Bill.
The CHAIRMAN: The question is -

That the Committee disagree with the amendments made by the Legislative
Assembly.

Question put and passed; the Assembly's amendments not agreed to.
Report, etc

Resolution reported and the report adopted.
A committee consisting of Hon N.F. Moore, Hon Mark Nevill, and Hon I.N. Caldwell was
appointed to draw up reasons for disagreeing to the Assembly's amendments.

BILLS (2): ASSEMBLY'S MESSAGES
Messages from the Assembly received and read notifying that it had agreed to the
amendments made by the Council to the following Bills -

1. Nurses Bill 1991
2. Land Amendment (Transmission of Interests) Bill 1991

BILLS (3) - RETURNED
1. Fire Brigades Superannuation Amendment Bill
2. Acts Amendment (Game Birds Protection) Bill
3. Education Amendment Bill
Bills returned from the Assembly without amendment.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (WESTERN AUSTRALIA) BILL
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AUTHORITY BILL

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (TAXING) BILL
Cognate Debate

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) (1.11 am]: I move,
without notice -

That leave be granted for the Bills to be debated cognately.
At a conference of Premiers and Chief Ministers held in Adelaide on 21 and 22 November
1991, State and Territory heads of Government signed the financial institutions agreement to
establish a uniform national scheme for the supervision and regulation of building societies
and credit unions. The scheme outlined in the financial institutions agreement is designed to
protect and enhance the financial integrity and efficiency of State based financial institutions.
Members would be aware that in November 1990 the Government announced its intention to
proceed with a series of amendments to the Building Societies Act 1976. Work on these
amendments was, however, overtaken by the development of the financial institutions
scheme and those amendments will not now proceed.
Although initially the scheme will cover permanent building societies and credit unions,
there is provision for the scheme to be extended to other non-bank financial institutions with
a unanimous agreement by all pantics to the financial institutions agreement. The scheme is
scheduled to commence nationally on 1 July 1992. The implementation of the scheme in
Western Australia requires three Bills: The Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Bill;
The Western Australian Financial Institution Authority Bill; and the Financial Institutions
Taxing Bill. I will deal with each of those Bills separately although each is an integral part
of the scheme.
Question put and passed.
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Receipt and First Reading
Bills received from the Assembly; and, on motions by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney
General), read a first time.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (WESTERN AUSTRALIA) BILL
Second Reading

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [ 1. 12 ant: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second rime.
The Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Bill will apply as laws of Western Australia -

the Australian Financial Institutions Code contained in the Australian Financial
Institutions Commission Act 1992 of Queensland;
the Financial Institutions Code contained in the Financial Institutions (Queensland)
Act; and
regulations made under those Queensland Acts.

The Bill provides that subsequent amendments to the relevant Queensland Acts and
regulations may be varied in their application to Western Australia by way of regulations.
Any amendments to the relevant Queensland Acts and regulations must be approved by the
Ministerial Council. The Bill will repeal the Credit Unions Act 1979. except in relation to
the WA Teachers Financial Society Limited, and provides that the Building Societies Act
1976 will cease to apply to permanent building societies. Terminating building societies will
continue to be subject to the Building Societies Act. The Building Societies Act will also
continue to apply to the Permanent Building Society - in liquidation. The Bill will amend the
operation of the Financial Institutions Code by allowing Pernanent building societies in
Western Australia to accept deposits from non members and by exempting them from the
obligation to offer membership to nonmemnbers within one year of the code commencing.
The Bill also contains a number of transitional provisions to ensure, as far as possible, a
smooth transfer from the existing administration to the new financial institutions scheme.
The legislative framework established by the Bill comprises -

the APIC code;
the Financial Institutions Code;
regulations made pursuant to those two codes; and
prudential and other standards.

This legislative framework provides for the establishment of a Ministerial Council and
Australian Financial Institutions Commission - AFIC; a State supervisory authority in each
State and Territory; and an interstate consultative committee.
The Ministerial Council for Financial Institutions comprises one member representing one
participating State and Territory who is the Minister for the time being responsible for
administering the law relating to supervision of financial institutions in that State or
Territory. The functions of the council include approval of legislation and any amendments,
appointment of the Board of AFIC, approval of the AFIC budget and general oversight of the
scheme.
AFIC is established under the Queensland legislation as a body corporate. ARIC will be
independent of direction by or on behalf of the Ministerial Council or any Government and
the members of the board of AFIC may not hold an office or appointment with a financial
institution.
The roles of AFIC and the SSAs are complementary but have been carefully designed to
ensure that there is no uncertainty through overlap or gaps in responsibility between the two
organisations. ARIC has been given wide ranging powers to make prudential and other
standards to be observed by financial institutions. The standards are an important part of the
supervisory framework and I will come back to them later.
To ensure that the legislation, supervisory practices and enforcement of the financial
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institutions scheme are applied consistently in all States and Territories, ARIC may make
standards to apply to SSAs. To give some 'teeth" to ARIC in relation to such matters, part 8
of the AFIC code sets out a procedure for ARIC to take in relation to matters in dispute
between it and a State supervisory authority. After consultation with the SSA and taking into
account any views of the SSA on its apparent failure to do its duty, AFIC may, until it is
satisfied, take the matter firstly to the State Minister, then to the Ministerial Council and then
to the State Premier. Under the Bill die Premier must provide a response within 14 days
which is satisfactory to AFIC or the Premier must table the AFIC report in each House of
Parliament.
Although ARIC does not exercise direct supervision of credit unions or building societies it is
responsible for supervision of special services providers. Special services providers are
industry owned financial bodies which are to be incorporated under the ARIC code. These
industry bodies hold over $700 million of the liquid assets of component credit unions and it
is vital that they be effectively supervised. The other major function of ARIC is to authorise
emergency liquidity support within the two industry sectors. AFIC may make standards with
respect to a wide range of matters that the board considers necessary or desirable for die
achievement of the principal objects of the financial institutions scheme. Guidelines to AFIC
on expected minimum standards were included in the Financial Institutions Agreement
endorsed by heads of Government. AFIC is not confined only to those guidelines. Before
making a standard or altering an existing standard ARIC must itself observe procedures
designed to ensure that there is proper exposure and opportunity to debate the proposal. A
minimum of 60 days' notice of any proposed standard is to be given to each SSA and to the
public through the Governent Gazette and newspaper advertisements. The notices must
explain succinctly the purpose and intended operation of the proposal. The notices must
invite comments and suggestions. The comments and suggestions are to be made available
to the public via ARIC and SSA offices. Any person or interested party may make a
submission. A member, a society, a State supervisory authority, the interstate consultative
committee, the Minister, the Ministerial Council or any Government may do so. However,
ARIC can, if it chooses, ignore such submissions and suggestions. If it determines that it is
necessary because of urgent reasons, AFIC may publish a standard without following the
normal 60 day exposure process but such urgent orders may only have effect for up to
120 days. Standards may include transitional provisions but must not discriminate between
financial institutions on the grounds of their connections with particular States.
A steering committee has been working on compiling a draft set of standards for exposure as
the initial standards to apply under the scheme. The committee was chosen to bring together
a wide range of expertise in finance, law, audit, supervision, building societies, credit unions
and risk management. The committee is compiling, in consultation with the implementation
task force, societies and industry groups, guidelines and standards appropriate to each tier of
the financial institutions system, namely the ARIC board, the State supervisory authorities,
building societies, credit unions, and special services providers and service corporations.
Building societies and credit unions have been consulted with regard to standards directed at
those organisations. The standards are based on Reserve Bank prudential requirements and
include a risk weighted capital adequacy requirement, a prime liquid assets requirement,
limitations on large exposures, control over subsidiaries, and a range of risk management
systems. The standards will significantly enhance the prudential standing of the industry and
provide a solid base for future development of the industry. Under the ARIC code and the
financial institutions code the SSA has powers of enforcement and intervention to direct
societies to comply with applicable standards or make an orderly exit from the industry by
transferring engagements, conversion or winding up. The draft standards envisage that a
transitional period of up to two years will be allowed to adjust to the new arrangements.
Progress towards particular standards will have to meet a minimum adjustment path that will
be set by the SSA and monitored constantly. AFIC will consult with the SSA over the
adjustment paths in order to ensure consistency across the nation. Credit unions or building
societies which fail to meet the standards will be required to provide details of their plans to
comply. These plans will be discussed with the relevant SSA in formulating transitional
targets. This process is to be completed for all institutions no later than 31 December 1992.
Failure to meet die set targets on progression will be viewed as failure to meet the prudential
standards themselves and will be grounds for placing an institution under direction. Until the
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SSA is satisfied that an institution is in full compliance with all prudential standards, its
lending activities will be restricted to business defined under primary objectives. Under part
6 of the ARIC code, AFIC will have the power to cause -

(a) building societies to provide liquidity support on a pro rata basis to a building
society in an emergency situation; and

(b) credit unions to provide liquidity support on a pro rawa basis to a credit union
in an emergency situation.

Before ARIC may make a determination that liquidity support is necessary ARIC must satisfy
itself that the borrowing society is solvent and that it has a reasonable prospect of repaying
any loan made for the purpose of liquidity support. To ensure that such arrangements can be
made at any time, every building society and credit union will be required to have available
to ARIC half of its required prime liquid assets to lend and to identify assets which are to be
retained unencumbered for the purpose of providing security for a loan if liquidity support
needs to be provided to that society. ARIC has a general brief to encourage special services
providers to assist it in delivering liquidity support to societies. ARIC is required to have its
annual budget approved by the Ministerial Council. It must consult widely with the industry
in formulating that budget. The financial institutions scheme is a State based scheme.
Hands-on supervision of societies is to be done at the State level by a State supervisory
authority. The structure and organisation of individual SSAs is a matter for each State and
Territory. The Western Australian SSA is the subject of the second Bill in this package, the
Western Australian Financial Institutions Authority Bill. I commend the Bill to the House.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AUTHORITY BILL
Second Reading

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [ 1.21 am]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time.
In Western Australia the functions of the State supervisory authority will be performed by
the Western Australian Financial Institutions Authority. The Bill establishes the authority as
a body corporate. In relation to permanent building societies and credit unions, the authority
will replace the office of the Registrar of Co-operative and Financial Institutions. The
principal function of the authority will be to carry out day to day supervision of pernanent
building societies and credit unions, and industry associations and declared service
corporations, and to enforce the financial institutions scheme.
In carrying out its functions the authority will have all the powers of a natural person. The
authority will also manage the credit union contingency fund. This fund will replace the
existing credit unions savings protection fund and will be used primarily to assist, where
necessary, with inter and intra State rationalisation of the credit union industry. The
authority will be funded by levies on the industry; however, the Government will contribute
to the authority's establishment costs.
The authority is expressly independent of Government and the Ministerial Council and it
must comply with the provisions of the Financial Institutions Agreement. The authority will
have a board of three part time directors, each of whom shall be appointed by the Minister.
The authority will also have a chief executive officer who will be appointed by the board,
and such other staff as shall be necessary. The directors and the chief executive officer may
be appointed for a ternm not exceeding five years. Consistent with the requirement that each
SSA be independent from the industry, no person who holds an office or appointment with a
financial institution may be appointed as a director or chief executive officer of the authority.
Subject only to any existing award or industrial agreement the terms and conditions of
employment of staff of the authority will be fixed by the authority. The authority will be
authorised to enter into staffing arrangements with any State department or organisation and
with any Commonwealth or other State or Territory organisations. The authority will also be
able to engage consultants.
To help ensure that the authority and its staff remain independent from the industry and to
'avoid any real or perceived conflicts of interest, neither a director, the chief executive officer
nor any employee of the authority may have any financial dealings, including deposits or
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loans, with a building society or credit union. The directors, chief executive officer, and staff
of the authority will be required to act honestly in the performance of their duties. The
liabilities imposed are based on provisions of the Corporations Law dealing with directors'
duties. The authority will be subject to both the Financial Administration and Audit Act
1985 and the Parliamentary Commissioner Act 197 1. 1 commend the Bill to the House.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (TAXING) BILL

Second Reading
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [1.23 am]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time.
The Financial Institutions (Taxing) Bill, the third and final Bill in this package, is required to
satisfy the requirements of the Constitution Acts Amendment Act. The Financial Institutions
Code provides for the imposition of a variety of levies, fees, contributions and compulsory
loans by the State supervisory authorities. The Financial Institutions (Taxing) Bill provides
that to the extent that any of these financial impositions are taxes they are imposed by that
Bill. I commend the Bill to the House.
HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan) [1.24 am]: The Opposition has quite a bit to say
about these three Bills. The second reading speech read in another place last week consisted
of about 18 pages and this one has 26. so it will be hard for us to find where the major
changes have been made.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I think this one is in larger type.
Hon MAX EVANS: That might be the reason for it. Discussions have been taking place
about this legislation. At this time yesterday I was having discussions with the Leader of the
House in another place, the Treasurer, and the member for Kingsley, Mrs Cheryl Edwardes,
about this legislation and the many things which appear to be wrong with it. It appears to
contain many risks. I understand that the Queensland legislation has not yet been proclaimed
although it has been passed, and that it will be proclaimed on 1 July. There are conflicting
reports as to which States have passed the legislation and which have not, but I believe some
have passed it while others have yet to do so. Also, there is considerable concern about the
referral of the legislation back to the Queensland Parliament and the Queensland Supreme
Court, and Hon Peter Foss might wish to comment on that.
Until this evening Opposition members in another place intended to move a number of
amendments to the legislation, but meetings have been held between the Credit Union
Association of Western Australia and the Treasurer, and I presume some members of the
Opposition in another place. I do not know the details because I was busy with legislation in
this Chamber, but I understand it had been agreed that these three Bills would pass the other
place, albeit with a certain amount of resistance, and that a Select Committee would be
established. I ask the Attorney General whether that is correct.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Yes, I have been advised that that was agreed.
Hon MAX EVANS: I am not sure of the precise terms of reference of that Select Committee
but it will examine the ramifications of future amendments to this legislation; because we are
worried about the process of changes to the legislation being handled by one Minister of this
State, as a member of the Ministerial Council, and going to the Queensland Parliament. A
check mechanism is in place, with a provision for advertising for comments from the various
parties, but many people ame concerned that it will be left to one State to make those changes.
I do not know whether the fear of having the legislation under the control of a single State is
worse than the fear of having it under Federal control, but that is the way it has been set up.
It was agreed at the Premiers' Conference in November last year that we should have this
legislation and it has been a long time passing the Queensland Parliament, but that had to
happen before the other States could back it.
Hon Peter Foss: Why does it have a 1 July stant?
Hon MAX EVANS: I do not know; that is a good question. Many of the Bills we have seen
tonight contain the 1 July starting date.
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These three Bills have been well explained in the second reading speeches. In 1987, after the
crash of Teachers Credit Society and Swan Building Society, we put through a number of
amendments to legislation that would allow the setting up of a credit authority to examine
prudential standards, establish an emergency fund to which the members could contribute
money and which would back a society in trouble, and also have some basis of levies. I
understand that this Australian scheme is very similar to the Western Australian scheme,
which was based on the one in New South Wales set up by the Australian Federation of
Credit Unions. They provided all the information in 1987. The Minister might recall that in
1990 legislation was introduced to set up such a fund in this State. We understand that has
been a help to the credit unions, but it is hardly relevant to building societies. First Federal
has gone and the Home Building Society is locked in with GIO, so only one is left. We
understand from comments made today that it is imperative that this legislation be passed.
otherwise major problems would occur in Victoria. The Treasurer came back last night and
said she could fit in some of the amendments we wanted on the basis of ministerial
adjustment to suit all the other States.
Hon Peter Foss: I understand that they have been made in South Australia.
Hon MAX EVANS: I was told that the South Australian legislation had been passed, but I
ani uncertain about what it contains. The New South Wales and Victorian Bills have not
been passed, but that should happen within the next two weeks.
A big play has been made of the fact that a prudential standard will apply which is the same
as that of the Reserve Bank. It would be a good idea for the Minister to provide statistics
regarding the Reserve Bank's prudential standard. In 1987 the standard for building societies
was a capital base of 2.5 per cent of total assets, and this was lifted to nearly five per cent.
The standard for banks is around 8.5 per cent. What are the standards in this case? The
ratios are not mentioned in the second reading speech; it states that the institutions must
comply with the Reserve Bank standard. I would have thought that these institutions were
not the same as banks.
The trouble faced by credit unions is having to obtain the capital base, because virtually all
profits go back to serve clients. The problem in 1987 was that the credit unions could not
build a capital base through $10 shares. The United Credit Union issued shares in an attempt
to raise $11 million, but a large part of this camne from the State Government Insurance
Commission. How could the same prudential standard apply to credit unions as applies to
banks when a credit union cannot build a capital base?
Hon Sam Piantadosi: The United Credit Union is a very good institution, Mr Evans.
Hon MAX EVANS: Indeed, it is very good for the mining industry. It is important to
maintain that and it requires confidence to do so; this applies to credit unions no matter how
good they are. If confidence is lost, they battle to survive. The regulations talk about a
prudential standard, but we had a good standard in 1986. However, in 1986-87 the registrar
decided that the largest building society in this State did not have to comply with the
prudential standard. Now we have an independent statutory body to control this. The
Government had control, and it was at fault in 1987 because it did not enforce the standards
and allowed the credit unions to get out of control.
I am worried about the impact of this legislation on the financial community, particularly on
credit unions. If the Government had enforced the standards when it could have, the
Teachers Credit Society would have needed $16 million or $17 million to comply with its
$550 million assets - although a large part of its asset was a valuation of a building in
Adelaide Terrace, which was not proper capital or ordinary bank standard.
The main aspect of the legislation is that we will have an independent financial body to
police the situation. In Western Australia, this body will have three directors, a full time
executive officer and three staff. This will represent a huge cost to building societies through
levies. These institutions do not make much profit and have committees and boards working
for next to nothing to keep them operating and circulating funds to members. The trouble
with the Teachers Credit Society was that its assets grew from $50 million to $550 million in
three years - it thought that the bigger it was, the more profitable it would be. I wonder
whether the Minister could tell me what the cost would be of running this policing body,
because few facts are provided in the second reading speech.
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The United Credit Union has $196 million in assets, and others are well short of that. If we
consider the profitability of these institutions, they must pay a levy into this fund which will
be a base for any institution which may meet trouble and require more money at a later stage.
It might give the institutions a warm feeling to have Big Brother behind them, but the day
things go wrong Big Brother will not be big enough to look after them. It only requires a
lack of confidence in an institution for problems to occur. We saw that with the R & I Bank
Ltd: Every time it had a hiccup - as with Westpac Banking Corporation - money was drawn
out and deposited elsewhere.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Did the ground rules not change two years ago regarding the set up of
credit unions? They now have a body which provides security.
Hon MAX EVANS: They have an Australian body which provides the backing of other
States' institutions.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: That would minimise the risk factor to which you referred. I would
have agreed with you two years ago, but the ground rules have changed.
Hon MAX EVANS: The situation has changed to a certain degree, but it is a matter of
keeping the lid on these matters. If a building society loses the confidence of the public, a
run is made on its money and it battles to keep going. The institutions must keep a steady as
she goes attitude. The trouble in the past was that interest rates went up and fluctuated
widely. The biggest problem is people repaying their debts. If the institution must comply
with the prudential standard of the Reserve Bank, such an institution will suffer losses
against its capital. Some institutions will have problems, but we will have to wait and see. I
am not sure who will finance this proposal.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Will banks not face the same circumstances and problems?
Hon MAX EVANS: Westpac is going to its shareholders to raise $1.3 billion, and this is
being underwritten by the First Boston Bank. However, credit unions can raise money only
by offering one share per member. Therefore, they cannot acquire a capital base from
shareholders. In 1987 United Credit Union Limited attempted a share issue of $7 million -
this was a new idea - but this backfired. The union offered a high rate of interest, as did the
R & I Bank, but when interest rates come down institutions can be in trouble.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Apparently the United Credit Union had problems, because it took
over the Fremantle Credit Union and some costs were inherited from Frenmantle. However,
the credit union was still partly responsible for the problems.
Hon MAX EVANS: I will not go into that, because I know too much about it.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: So do I; I spent eight years there.
Hon MAX EVANS: The problem with mergers, like the bonding system in this State, is that
the registrar nominates which institutions will merge. Indian arranged marriages seem to
work very well, but it would not work in our society, and arranged marriages do not work
well in financial institutions. Often a sick institution is merged with a strong one.
Hon Kim Chance: You are not suggesting that the United Credit Union and the Fremantle
Credit Union merger was an aranged marriage.
Hon MAX EVANS: Yes.
Hon Kim Chance: Arranged by whom?
Hon MAX EVANS: Ask those involved. If members asked other credit unions how they
regard mergers of operations, they wil] say that it causes problems.
The Opposition supports the Bill with reservations, and understands it must be passed. It was
agreed to by the members in the other House. The credit unions, particularly the United
Credit Union Limited, have operations in Victoria. The Home Building Society in New
South Wales might also be affected in the same way.
The Opposition wishes the Government luck with this legislation. It will be very difficult to
run building societies throughout Australia. Building societies have always been
independent operations involving small groups of people such as nurses, police, and mining
industry workers working together on an honorary basis. Most of them run themselves very
well on a tight financial base and they work well as long as they keep their size down. The
Teachers Credit Society collapse in 1987 is an example of a society that got out of control. I
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am not certain whether this legislation will ensure the necessary controls are in place. I
know that the banding system in New South Wales provided a great deal of statistical
information to check an the societies. Statistics were continuously churned out. The
Western Australian State Government was looking over the Teachers Credit Society when its
total assets were $550 million and the New South Wales Teachers Credit Union had total
assets of $140 million. The Western Australian society had grown from $50 million to $550
million in three years. The largest unsecured loan one could barrow from the New South
Wales credit union was $10 000 and the largest secured loan was $50 000. The state of the
Teachers Credit Society in Western Australia was known by the public, yet nothing was done
by the Government. It had a capital of $2.5 million yet it was maldng unsecured loans of $5
million. It was possible to barrow twice the capital with no security and the Government did
nothing about that. I hope an independent body will be more active.
This legislation is a bit like that relating to the National Companies and Securities
Commission. There is nothing wrong with the Companies (Western Australia) Code
covering companies in Western Australia. This Bill will not be worth the paper on which it
is written unless a guarantee is undertaken to make it work. All the waffle during the debate
about States coming together by 1 July, the prudential standard, and the opening cost by the
Government to be backed up by all the building societies, will be worth nothing. I do not
have much hope for its success in the long term. The same operation has existed in Western
Australia. This Bill provides for a larger financial base.
I read somewhere earlier in the debate that the Federal Government did not want to go into
this, for obvious reasons. If the Federal Government backed the proposal it would be seen as
the ultimate protector and would be expected to bail out a society if something went wrong.
Hon Fred McKenzie: If a company has capital of $2.5 million, how can it lend $5 million?
Hon MAX EVANS: The Registrar of Building Societies should have stopped that.
Hon Fred McKenzie: Where would the money for the loan come from?
Hon MAX EVANS: The society were borrowing hundreds of millions of dollars even
though its capital was only $2.5 million.
Hon Fred McKenzie: Was it borrowing from the banks?
Hon MAX EVANS: The public lent the money to the credit society. It paid such high
interest rates that everyone lent their money. The interest rate was so high they had to get the
money out the day they got it to maximise interest. The society was losing money from day
one, so it decided to put the money into a get rich scheme which would pay a very high
interest rate.
The Opposition looks forward to seeing the Select Committee established in the other House.
It was to be a joint Select Committee but members of this House do not like joint Select
Committees. Members from this place will be available to work with the committee if
necessary. Thbis matter has a long way to go. I hope some control is exercised in each State
on the administrative costs. It will be run by an independent body. I understand from Brian
Patterson that it will not be operating out of the credit union office here, nor will the present
bonding system. The separate stand alone body will require a receptionist/typist, chief
executive officer and so on. It is quite a big body to be financed out of funds from this
proposal. It may earn interest on same of the deposit moneys provided no claims ame made
on those funds.
HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan) [ 1.46 am]: This is about the most disgraceful
piece of legislation I have ever seen, not so much because of the content - I cannot, for the
life of me, say I understand it, because I have not had an opportunity to look at it - but
because of the way it has been brought before the Parliament. The legislation is about as
significant as the Australian Securities Commission legislation which was brought before the
House with almost the same haste and same excuse.
Hon J.M. Berinson: No; it was not. It was brought in goad time but was rejected and had to
be brought back in a hurry.
Hon PETER FOSS: It was introduced in very poor time. The House was asked to pass it
then and there. The only reason it was passed later was that it was not passed earlier.
However we should now deal only with these three Bills. A self-imposed timetable is in this
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House tonight which means that we are asked to pass legislation adopting int Western
Australia an Act from Queensland we have not seen which apparently is nor even in
operation yet. We are told it is necessary because the Premier and some other people have
imposed a deadline which they say is appropriate. How on earth can we be expected to make
a proper decision on this legislation with this disgraceful way in which it has been brought
before the House? Most of the recent legislation has been dealt with in an equally
disgraceful manner. Timetables are imposed on the House when the legislation must be
passed.
The Government was asked at the beginning of the year for a timetable to bring legislation
before the Parliament so that Bills were introduced in an orderly fashion. It has lamentably
failed to bring forward appropriately any of the legislation. I do not know how it has the gall
to introduce in this manner legislation as important as this. I support the concept of the
legislation. However we should not be asked on the final day of the session at 1.30 am to
debate this legislation and expected to understand it when we do not even have before us the
real laws we are supposedly introducing. We are introducing into Western Australia the
substantive provisions and the facts are not even before us.
Hon Sam Piantadosi interjected.
Hon PETER FOSS: I am glad to hear that Hon Sam Piantadosi's leader is not trying to
defend this. We do not know the law we are being asked to introduce; the substantial
provisions are not before us.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: I am talking about your ability being guided by the hour.
Hon PETER FOSS: I will not shirk my responsibilities as a legislator to do the right job by
the people of Western Australia.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: You should do the job; don't worry about the hour.
Hon PETER FOSS: Hon Sam Piantadosi's nonsense is not to be tolerated. Every day when
the House starts its proceedings the President reads a prayer which asks that members be
guided to carry out their duties and do the right thing by the people of Western Australia.
We hope that we will have the guidance of God in getting on with this job and doing it
properly. I at least regard my responsibilities very seriously. I cannot understand how we
can justify passing legislation which incorporates a Queensland law we have not seen.
Hon Max Evans: It has not even been proclaimed.
Hon PETER FOSS: We have not seen it, yet we are being asked to go further, and that is a
very important point of principle. We are being told not to worry about what is in the Bills;
we do not need to know because in future we will not be asked to have any part in what
happens to this legislation. That will be done by regulations adopted in Western Australia. I
thought that was bad enough with the ASC legislation, but this legislation is self-imposed.
With the Australian Securities Commission legislation the justification was that at least we
were being raped by the Commonwealth. We had no alternative because the Commonwealth
was going to take the matter over if we did not act.
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: It had the authority so to do.
Hon PETER FOSS: That is right. Who is doing the raping this time? It is our own State
Premiers. The deadline in this case is not because we are under threat from the
Commonwealth. It is because we are under threat from an agreement between the Premiers.
It is not because we are faced with the main force of the Commonwealth Government; it is
because there is a cosy agreement between the Premiers that it will happen on 1 July.
Because of the incompetency of I do not know who, the legislation has been brought before
the Parliament at this time and we have been told that we must pass it, otherwise dreadful
things will happen in Victoria to United Credit. I could not give a damn about United Credit
in view of its involvement in the shenanigans over Rothwefls when it was in the pocket of
this Government, which channelled millions of dollars of taxpayers' money to it from the
SGOo.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Provide the proof. Mr Foss.
Hon PETER FOSS: Hon Sam Piantadosi knows that to be the case. He knows my reasons
for saying what!I say. He knows that to be the case and I stand by that.
IHon Sam Piantadosi: Provide the proof.
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Hon PETER FOSS: Mr Piantadosi may have a personal interest in United Credit. I have an
interest in seeing same good legislation.
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Eight years, Mr Foss.
Hon PETER FOSS: Maybe Hon Sam Piantadosi is the reason chat there are problems in
United Credit. I wondered why it was picked upon particularly by the Government for the
money to be shuffled through it.
This legislation is a disgrace because, through the incompetency and mismanagement of this
Government and the other Governments involved, we are being asked to deal with it tonight.
It has mismanaged this legislation just as it has mismanaged every other piece of legislation.
We have been put in a position to start in train a series of measures which we are told that if
we do not go along with we will cause damage to corporations in our State. Who is
responsible for the damage that will be caused to the corporations in our Stare? The Minister
who bas set in train these events will be responsible. This is not a thunderstorm or tidal wave
that we cannot control. It is a ministerial decision, and ministerial incompetence that has put
us in this position. We are supposed to say that we will go along with it because the
Government is so incompetent and we have to get it off the hook.
I think this is one of the worst disgraces I have seen. I do not know to what extent the
Government is accepting responsibility for this. It may have sat by and not cared because it
thought somebody else was looking after it. That is not really an excuse as the Government
saw time drifting past and things not happening and it was its responsibilicy to get the date
changed so that we would have a real possibility of considering the legislation. I am
horrified that this disgrace is taking place without this Government taking the opportunity to
ensure that the date is deferred so that we can look at it properly. I understand from a
legislator in Tasmania that Tasmania has not passed it because that Parliament has serious
problems with the legislation. Apparently it has concerns about the Queensland legislation
which it has not seen. I understand that the South Australian Parliament has amended it. We
are being told to pass it as it is; that we should not worry about it but put it through the
House! What can this Government say to justify this total mismanagement? It is a total
disgrace. The Government has bungled this affair so badly that, unless we prostitute
ourselves tonight, we will cause serious financial problems for some institutions in Western
Australia. What is the Government's excuse for that? Why has it allowed that to happen?
Why has it so mismanaged its affairs that this is now the position with which these financial
institutions are faced? I want to know who is responsible. How could that happen? Why is
the Government persisting with this? Somebody's head should be placed on the block over
this. At the very least, the Minister responsible should resign. I believe that the Treasurer
should also resign because I understand that this legislation came out of an agreement that
she entered into at a Premiers' Conference. This seems to me to be the greatest financial
incompetence that I have ever seen. There is a self-imposed time limit that, if not complied
with, will possibly damage some institutions in Western Australia unless we prostitute
ourselves.
I want to know what other States have passed this legislation or whether they have made any
amendments to it? I also want to know, of those which have not passed it, how many intend
passing it? Do other States intend not passing the legislation? If they do, what will be the
effect of their not passing it? Why on earth did the Minister not get on the telephone last
week and ring other Premiers to point out to them that this Parliament has not had the
opportunity to look at this legislation properly? Is it possible to defer the day of operation of
the legislation?
Hon Sam Piantadosi: Mr Foss -

Hon PETER FOSS: I am making a point and I will not listen to Mr Piantadosi. Why has the
Minister not got in touch with other people to defer the day the legislation will come into
operation so that we can look at it properly? What has the Government done to overcome
these problems? I do not think it has done anything.
There was not a word of apology in the second reading speech for the introduction of the
legislation into this Parliament at such a late stage. There is not one word in that speech
about what the other States are doing. One might be forgiven for thinking that they are not
doing anything on the basis of the information given to us. What excuse can the Government
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offer? Although I support the principle of uniform legislation and a scheme throughout
Australia to look after financial institutions, how can I endorse legislation when I have no
idea what it is? How can I comment on it when I received it half an hour ago? How are we
to understand die ramifications of the legislation under these circumstances?
Hon Sam Piantadosi: You are a man of great talent, Mr Foss.
Hon PETER FOSS: I thank Mr Piantadosi. I for one will not be supporting this legislation
and I will vote against it.
HON DERRICK TOMLINSON (East Metropolitan) [1.58 anm]: I wish to associate myself
with the remarks of Hon Peter Foss. Whereas Hon Peter Foss made the point that he. cannot
support legislation which he has not seen and made direct reference to the Queensland
legislation which will, by this enactment, have the force of law in Western Australia, I have
not seen the Western Australian legislation. The Attorney General's second reading speech
refers to three Bills: The Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Bill, the Western
Australian Financial Institutions Authority Bill, and the Financial Institutions (Taxing) Bill.
I have had delivered to my place the Financial Institutions (Taxing) Bill and the Western
Australian Financial Institucions Authority Bill and have asked for the Financial Institutions
(Western Australia) Bill. I was told that the person was dreadfully sorry but copies were not
available. As the Bill had been manually amended in another place there were but five
copies available which were distributed to five people in this place and, unfortunately I was
not one of them. I ant now asked to make a decision on legislation that I have not seen.
Since I do not know the content of the legislation, other than that which has been explained
in the Attorney General's second reading speech, I will refer to that as my only source of
information. The Attorney General said in his second reading speech that the Financial
Institutions (Western Australia) Bill will apply as the law of Western Australia, and then he
dealt with the matters which Hon Peter Foss has already dealt with - that the Queensland law
will become, and operate as, Western Australian law. The Bill provides that subsequent
amendments to the relevant Queensland Acts and regulations may be applied in Western
Australia by way of regulation.
Hon Fred McKenzie: The speech was changed from the document circulated and the words
"applied in" have been taken out and replaced by "varied in their application to".
Hon DERRICK TOM~INSON: Not only do I now not have a copy of the legislation, but
also the second reading speech is different from that which was circulated. Even so, the Bill
provides that subsequent amendments to the relevant Act and Queensland regulations may
apply in Western Australia by way of regulation. Therefore, the Queensland Parliament
becomes the legislator for the law which applies in Western Australia. I wonder by what
constitutional amendment that applies, when the Queensland Parliament makes law for the
good Government of Western Australia. Even then, any amendment to the relevant
Queensland Act and regulations must be approved by the Ministerial Council. When I read
that my immediate response was: Have we learned nothing? One of the flaws of the
National Companies and Securities Commission was the function of the Ministerial Council.
It was demonstrated to be flawed because there was no direct ministerial responsibility. By
the same process enactments of another Parliament operated in this State. Enactments of
another Parliament were only with the approval of the Ministerial Council. The net result
was that there was no direct line of ministerial responsibility. Who was responsible? To
whom was the Ministerial Council directly accountable? We see now exactly the same flaw
that made necessary the creation of the Australian Securities Commission and the whole
debacle that this Parliament and this State went through just a short while ago because that
flaw had to be remedied. We have learnt nothing.
We now recognise the need for a uniform scheme for other financial in stitutions and what do
we do? We adopt exactly the same scheme which proved to be inadequate for the National
Companies and Securities Commission. We learnt nothing and we are asked to make the
same mistake in this legislation that we attempted to remedy hy transferring responsibility
for Corporations Law to the Commonwealth and the Australian Securities Commission. In a
very short time we shall be abandoning this legislation for a scheme which creates a direct
line of ministerial responsibility. I do not think I am flawed in my concerns because I find
that in another place a Select Committee has been appointed this day. The terms of reference
of that Select Committee are to inquire into and report on -

(a) the processes whereby national cooperative legislation schemes are initiated,

3427



prepared and maintained and in particular the mechanism which allows each
Parliament to give authority to a designated Parliament to enact legislation
which applies to the jurisdiction of each participating Parliament;

(b) die effect of delegating this Parliament's legislative function under the
cooperative scheme established by the Financial Institutions (Queensland) Act
and associated legislation;

(c) the effect of delegating this. Parliament's legislative function under
cooperative legislation;

(d) structures or processes which could be established to ensure proper
Parliamentary scrutiny of -

(i) the implementation of,
(ii) proposed amendments to. and
(iii) regulations pursuant to
such schemes prior to approval by the consenting body under such schemes.

(e) the authority of the Executive to enter into agreements which may limit or
affect the legislative function of the Parliament;

(0) such other matters as the committee considers relevant.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I have been approached by a member of the House to
request Hon Derrick Tomlinson to lower his voice. We can all hear him quite well and, since
it is rather late, the volume of his speech is grating on the nerves of some members.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I apologise for that. If in another place it has been decided
to look at these matters, which I suggest go to the heart of the very concerns I have about this
Bill I have not seen, I am not misguided in my apprehensions. I can predict with
considerable confidence what the findings of that Select Committee will be. A similar
Senate inquiry was held into the functioning of the National Companies and Securities
Commission. It looked at similar sorts of questions and it addressed the very same problems.
It came up with a set of answers which I predict will be the answers this Select Committee
will find. Not only have we not learnt from past experience, but also we have not bothered to
look at the functioning or reports of another Parliament. We certainly looked at the report of
the Senate committee when we argued for and against the Australian Securities Commission
legislation, and it had a good and very thorough airing in this House, and probably in the
other place, at that time. We now proceed to fall into the same flawed legislative structure
without even contemplating the report. We anticipate the problem by appointing in another
place a Select Committee to review the things which have already been reviewed and the
answers to which are already known as a result of that review. I take notice of the arguments
which were presented in this House when we debated the Australian Securities Commission
legislation. I take notice of the Senate Select Committee's report. I cannot support this
legislation-
HON J.NI. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [2.11 am]: I say in
respect of the Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Bill that those members who expect
me to be enthusiastic in my defence of the process in which we engaged will be in for a
disappointment. Of course, no-one can be happy with the process, but we have to face
certain practical realities; and that, I believe, is what has led to the agreement between all
parties to ensure that this legislation is in place in time. It is well known that the initiative for
this scheme came from a Premiers' meeting. What is less understood is the extent of
enthusiasm with which the industry took up the proposal. Indeed, as it developed, so too did
the keenness of the industry to ensure that it did proceed, and, so far as the Western
Australian members of the industry were concerned, that Western Australia was in that
scheme from the outset. It may be said that, as the process has developed, Western Australia
has lagged behind some of the other States, but I am advised that that time lag is of the order
of 10 days or a fortnight, there is not a great deal in it. With regard to the position in the
respective States, from the earliest stage of drawing together this legislation, given that there
was an early indication of a target of 1 July, all sections of the industry, so far as I am aware,
were anxious to ensure that that timetable was adhered to. Part of the reason for the time that
was taken in this State is that the industry wished to have an input and that our draftsmen
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were anxious to ensure that some problems which were perceived in Western Australia were
met. At the end of the day, we have come to this situacion, and everyone is agreed that we
should do our best to proceed.
I do not intend to get too far into the generalities of the complaints that have been made
about the pressure at this point, but I want to correct an impression that one might gain from
the comments made by Hon Derrick Tomlinson that what we have here is simply a repeat of
the national scheme for companies and securities and that its reliance on the National
Companies and Securities Commission and the Ministerial Council was, to use his word,
flawed. When I invited Hon Derrick Tomlinson to indicate in what sense it was flawed, I did
not get a response. I do not say that was because he does not know, because I accept that he
was in a very enthusiastic pant of his delivery and did not want to be distracted from that.
I will be extremely brief, and as a result will necessarily oversimplify the position. Firstly,
there was nothing wrong with the legislation for the national scheme on companies and
securities. As I understand it, that was the very reason that the Opposition in this House
opposed our leaving the NCSC and the national scheme on companies and securities. The
Opposition was content with that scheme, and it knows very well that the Government was
content with it. There was nothing wrong with the legislation.
The difficulty in the first place was that the difficulties perceived by the Commonwealth
were much exaggerated, and, when one came down to it, involved an inadequacy of
resources, the responsibility for which certainly was shared by the States but also certainly
was contributed to by the Commonwealth to a major extent After all, the Commonwealth
met 5O per cent of the cost, and the States shared the other 50 per cent. Anyone who looks
back at what the Commonwealth had to say about increasing resources and providing more
funds and personnel will find that the Commonwealth was not at all enthusiastic about
showing a lead to provide greater resources. A significant difference between that scheme
and the scheme with which we are dealing is precisely the question of resources. Under the
NCSC scheme, we did not have the equivalent of the proposed State supervisory authority.
The State itself will have discretion in respect of the adequacy of resources of that body. As
it happens, given that the scheme that we propose to implement here is so much smaller than
the companies and securities scheme, the State supervisory authority will not be a huge body
or one requiring excessive resources- The point, however, is that the decision about the
adequacy of resources will be a State decision, and to the extent that people believe that more
should be done, it will be in the State's hands to ensure that it is done.
A number of matters were raised by Hon Max Evans and, because he dealt with more of the
detail in this legislation than did other speakers, I should respond to the specific questions he
raised. He asked, firstly, what is the position in other States. As I understand it, the position
as of today is that New South Wales and Tasmania are the only States whose respective
upper Houses have not passed this legislation. The New South Wales Legislative Council is
scheduled to hold a special sitting in order to ensure the passage of this legislation before 1
July. I am unable to indicate what is the intention in Tasmania.
Hon Max Evans asked whether the costs would be excessive, given that they are to be met by
the local industry. Any cost estimates are necessarily rough, and it will be left to the State
regulatory authority, when actually in place, to finalise a budget. Nonetheless, in
consultation with the local industry, it appears to be agreed that a general figure for recurrent
costs could reasonably be estimated to be between $350 000 and $400 000 per annum. I
understand that this cost would be equivalent to a 0.35 to 0.4 per cent levy on the assets of
permanent building societies and credit unions. It is, of course, possible that the SSA may
choose to fund its operations by another formula, but I think that gives a rule of thumb
estimate of what is expected. He also raised a query about prudential requirements giving
the reference of the Reserve Bank. I think I understood him to refer to the eight per cent
requirement applying to the baniks.
Hon Max Evans: The second reading speech said that it would be the same as those for
banks.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: That is so. That is not the equivalent of an eight per cent
requirement. The reason for that is that the Reserve Bank's requirements are based on a risk
weighted capita] base; that is, the better the quality of the asset the lower the capital ratio to
be held against the asset. For example, cash has a nil rating; Government securities have
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20 per cent; housing loans 50 per cent; and personal loans 100 per cent. The effect of that, as
I understand the position, is that there would be a substantially lower requirement on these
organisations than on the banks.
Hon Max Evans: Does that come from the four per cent? The States were trying to lift that
to five per cent. Will it be a stronger or weaker rate? It is difficult to lift the capital base out
of the profits.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: That could be provided, in time, but it is not available now.
Hon Max Evans also asked for the details of the problems that would arise if the 1 July
deadline were not met. To put the position briefly: The essential problems arise because
most Western Australian credit unions trade interstate as foreign credit unions pursuant to the
existing legislation of those States. Credit unions of other States also trade in Western
Australia as foreign credit unions pursuant to the Credit Unions Act 1979. Once the FIC
comes into operation in other States, their existing legislation, under which our credit unions
are registered foreign credit unions, will no longer apply. If Western Australia is not a
participating State, Western Australian credit unions thereafter will not be eligible for
registration as foreign credit unions in other States. The immediate effect is that they would
become non-recognisable bodies, prohibited from using the name "credit union" or trading in
other Stares under the threat of substantial financial penalties and imprisonment. The other
consequences of not becoming part of the scheme from I July 1992 are -

(1) inability of societies and credit unions in Western Australia to merge interstate;
(2) inability of societies and credit unions in Western Australia to access any new

national support systems; for example, liquidity;
(3) inability, should the need arise, for Western Australia to undertake any investigations

interstate; and
(4) Western Australian societies and credit unions being subject to different statutory

prudential standards than their counterparts in the rest of Australia.
Failure to implement the FIC from I July 1992 without the prior unanimous approval of the
other States would also result in Western Australia's ceasing to be a party to the Financial
Institutions Agreement. Those are obviously serious consequences. I have no doubt they
have led to a feeling of responsibility in respect of meeting the deadline. I do not want to
give the impression that there is no possible way out of those difficulties. I understand that
by the cooperation of all other States in respect of applications individually to each of them
by all institutions in this State, it could be possible to avoid at least the worst of those effects,
especially in relation to prosecutions and so on, but perhaps in other respects as well. It
would create very great pressure on the local institutions. However, to be faced with that
prospect and the inability to participate in that scheme - apart from any other factor - would,
of course, leave our institutions without the backing of the national support fund which will
be available to institutions elsewhere. I do not think it rakes much imagination to envisage
the quick flow-on from that- I commend the Bills to the House.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (WESTERN AUSTRALIA) BILL
Second Reading

Division

Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Ayes (19)
Hon JLM. Berinson Hon John Halden Hon Samn Piantadosi
Hon T.G. Ruder Hon Barry House Hon R.G. Pike
Hon J.N. Caldwell Hon Margaret McAleer Hon Tom Stephens
Hon George Cash Hon N.F. Moore Hon Doug Wenn
Hon Kim Chance Hon Mark Nevill Hon Fred McKenzie
Hon Cheryl Davenport Hon Mudde Patterson (Teller)
Hon Max Evans Hon P.O. PNdal
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Hon Derrick Tomlinson
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Noes (3)
Hon Reg Davies
(Teller)

Hon Kay Hallama
Hon Tom Helm
lion Bob1Thomas
Hon Graham Edwards
Hon E.L. Jones

Hon D.J. Wordsworth
Hon P.H. Lockyer
Hon E.J. Charlton
Hon W.N. Stretch
Hon Murray Montgomery

Question thus passed.

Bill read a second time.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FINANCIAL IN4ST1TUTIONS AUTHORITY BILL
Second Reading

Division
Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Hon 3.M. Berinson
Hon T.G. Badler
Hon J.N. Caldwell
Hon George Cash
Hon Kim Chance
Hon Cheryl Davenport
Hon Max Evans

Hon Rag Davies
Hon Derrick Tomlinson

Ayes (19)
Hon John Halden
Hon Barry House
Hon Margaret McAleer
Hon N.F. Moore
Hon Mark Nevilt
Hon Muriel Patterson
Han P.G. Peadal

Noes (3)

Hon Peter Foss
(Teller)

Hon Sam Piantadosi
Hon R.G. Pike
Hon Tom Stephens
Hon Doug Wean
Hon Fred McKenzie
(Teller)

Par
Hon Kay Hallahan
Hon Tom Helm
Hon Bob Tomas
Hon Grahamn Edwards
Hon Bti. ones

Question thus passed.

Hon D.J Wordsworth
Hon R.H. Lockyer
Hon E.J. Chariton
Hon W.N. Stretch
Hon Murray Montgomery

Bill read a second time.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (TAXING) BILL
Second Reading

Question put and passed.

Bill read a second time.

FINANCIAL INSTITIJTIONS (WESTERN AUSTRALIA) BILL
Committee

The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Hon Doug Weun) in the Chair-, Hon J.M. Berinson
(Attorney General) in charge of the Bill.
Clause 1: Short title -
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Hon PETER FOSS: I want to pick up one remark made by the Attorney General. One of the
reasons this Bill has been so late coming into Parliament is that it has been subject to so
much consideration by the industry. I anm in favour of that, but not to the exclusion of
Parliament. It seems extraordinary that the one institution or group that should have been
exposed to draft Bills and asked for its comments - that is, this Parliament - was not. It
should not have been beyond the capacity of the Attorney General or the Government to
table a green Bill like the one we had for the legal practitioners legislation, so we could have
had some opportunity to debate the matter. We were sitting around in this place waiting for
legislation to come up from the other House, but we were not even given a copy of the
legislation so we could debate it. In the meantime the people who are now putting the
pressure on us to pass this legislation had been looking at it at their leisure; so much so that
Parliament did not get a chance to look at it. The priority, arrangement and management of
this have been totally turned upside down and the very people who should have time to
comment on the Bill have been totally excluded. It is a disgrace.
Hon MAX EVANS: I support Hon Peter Foss. Thbis happens with many pieces of
legislation. I discussed the legislation with the industry today and it sees it as its security
blanket, without looking at the administrative problems involved. The industry has had the
experience of the bonding scheme and wanted to look at Mnother State to State cooperation.
We are trying to see the whole concept. They just think that it will be good because it does
not impinge on them. It is what New South Wales had before, so what are the problems?
Many Government departments are allowed to see drafts of legislation which members of
Parliament cannot see. We should learn from the lesson of industry groups which look at
things from one perspective. We, on the other hand, with our background knowledge, can
often look at two or three perspectives and do a better job.
Clause put and passed.
Clauses 2 to 4S put and passed.
Clause 46: General savings -

I-on MAX EVANS: Can the Attorney General explain why other amendments cannot be
made? If we can pass amendments, what happens at the Queensland level? Is this
legislation unique to Western Australia, or can we do what we like with it?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: The background to these two amendments is as follows: Home
Building Society is the only building society currently trading in Western Australia. It
operates a variety of accounts, including cash management accounts in circumstances where
the depositor is not a member of Home. Home's actions are consistent with the provisions in
the Building Societies Act 1976. Section 138 of the Financial Institutions (Western
Australia) Code will make it an offence for a building society to accept deposits from non-
members unless the building society is authorised to do so by a standard made by the
Australian Financial Institutions Commission.
Section 431 of the Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Code will require a building
society with deposits from non-members at the rime the code becomes operative to offer
membership to each depositor within one year of the code becoming operative. The
provisions of the Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Code referred to would put Home
at considerable inconvenience and cost. Home is also concerned that the requirement to
offer membership to its non-member customers would confuse those customers and might
lead to the loss of customers who do not wish to become members.
The amendments embodied in clauses 46 and 47 have been adopted by the Legislative
Assembly to amend the Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Bill to include provisions
which will vary the SIC in its application in Western Australia by, firstly, enabling a building
society to accept deposits from persons who are not members - clause 46 - and, secondly,
exempting a building society from the requirement to offer membership to non-members
within one year of the commencement of the code - clause 47. Both Victoria and Tasmania
have received approvals under the financial institutions agreement to include equivalent
provisions in their applications. I am further advised that the amendments embodied in
clauses 4 and 47 were approved by the Ministerial Council after the third draft of the Bill
was finalised. The amendments will vary the operation in WA of the FIC and no action is
required by Queensland.
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Hon MAX EVANS: What is the Financial Institutions (Western Australia) Code? Where
does it come from? Is it from the Queensland Act we know nothing about?
Hon J.M. BERITNSON: This situation is covered by clause 8 of the Financial Institutions
(Western Australia) Bill, which is headed "Application in Western Australia of the Financial
Institutions Code". The effect of it is that the FIC - that is, the Queensland provisions - set
out in section 30 of the Financial Institutions Act will apply as a law of Western Australia
and, as so applying. may be referred to as the Financial Institutions (Western Australia)
Code. In other words, Hon Max Evans was correct in taking it that the reference to the code
is to the Western Australian code, but that is enacted by the adoption of the Queensland code.
Hon MAX EVANS: When the Attorney General refers to code, does he mean Act? There is
a Queensland Act and a code.
Hon J.M. BERIN SON: The code is included in the Queensland Act.
Hon MAX EVANS: Are there regulations on top of the code or does the code become the
regulations?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: There are regulations under the Queensland Act and they are
adopted also.
Hon MAX EVANS: How many sections are in the code?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: There are 432 sections.
Hon MAX EVANS: The Attorney General referred to sections 138 and 431. Is it true that
the amendments made in the other place relate to those sections? Members do not have a
copy of the code, yet the Attorney General refers to it. Can members have a look at it?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I said that that section 138 of the Financial Institutions (Western
Australia) Code will make it an offence for a building society to accept deposits from non-
members unless the building society is authorised to do so by a standard made by the
Australian Financial Institutions Commission. Section 138(4) of the code states that a
building society must not provide financial accommodation or accept a deposit of money
from a person who is not a member of the building society unless it is authorised to do so
under the standard. The summary I gave earlier covers the substantive point of the question.
Hon MAX EVANS: The Attorney General has reinforced what he said previously and it all
comes back to the code. I did not know what code he was referring to. The Attorney
General is referring to a code which is one inch thick and we are all supposed to know what
is in it. I wonder whether the credit unions are aware of what they have hanging around their
neck.
Clause put and passed.
Clauses 47 to 49 put and passed.
Title put and passed.

Report
Bill reported, without amendment, and the report adopted.

Third Reading

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [2.52 amn]: I move -
That the Bill be now read a third time.

HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [2.53 am]: I
support the principle contained in this Bill and the other two Bills that were debated
cognately, at the second reading stage. However, this Parliament has been placed in a
position where it has had to consider legislation when the relevant Acts which formi part of
the legislative package have not been made available to members. I amt not referring to the
fact that insufficient Bills have been distributed within the House; I am referring to the
principal legislation affecting the Bills before the House.
One of the reasons this occurred is that the Treasurer has entered into an agreement that is
now binding on the State. If this House were to reject this legislation tonight - a number of
members on this side of the House were of the view that it was an option that should have
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been explored - one large building society in Perth and a number of credit unions based in
Perth with associations in the Eastern States might will find themselves in a very difficult
situation. The Opposition has been deluged with faxes this afternoon from credit unions and
a building society in this State advising of the dire consequences which might flow if the
legislation were rejected tonight.
If the Executive continues to enter into agreements which can not be amended before this
House has had the opportunity to consider them, I suggest that a course of action which is
likely to be followed in future is that the Bills will be rejected and consequences wifl flow
from that rejection.
Another reason I have voted for the legislation tonight is that I am aware that my colleagues
in another place spent most of today negotiating with the Government to ensure that a Select
Committee was appointed to inquire into and report on various matters. The terms of
reference of the Select Committee were read to the H-ouse earlier and I do not propose to
repeat them. One of the important areas which needs to be considered and reported on is
term of reference paragraph (e), which deals with the authority of the Executive to enter into
agreements which may limit or affect the legislative function of the Parliament. Term of
reference paragraph (f) goes wider than that and tequires the Select Committee to consider
and report on such other matters which the committee considers relevant.
If the Government thinks it is smart to put the Parliament in a position where it is forced into
a corner, I advise it that the day is coming when such action will backfire on it. I understand
that the National Rail Corporation Agreement Bill will be introduced into this House in the
near future. I would like to see the Bill rejected for the reason that it is an agreement which
has been entered into by the Premier without any consideration by this Parliament.
It will be introduced as an enabling Bill to give the force of law to an agreement which has
already been entered into, and that is wrong. It is another example of the Executive, in this
case the Premier, entering into an agreement without any debate in the Parliament and
without any opportunity for the Parliament to vary t agreement. The Government should
take on notice the position of members on this side of the House. We will not sit here and
cop being forced into a corner, and in future the Government will wear the consequences if
Bills are introduced in this way.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a third time and passed.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AUTHORITY BILL
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (TAXING) BILL

Committee and Report

Bills passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the
reports adopted.

Third Reading
Bills read a third time, on motions by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and passed.

LOTTERIES COMMISSION AMENDMENT BILL
Assembly's Message

Message from the Assembly received and read notifying that it had agreed to the
amendments made by the Council.

RATES AND CHARGES (REBATES AND DEFERMENTS) BILL
Assembly's Message

Message from the Assembly received and read notifying that the Speaker had ruled that the
amendments made by the Council were beyond the power of the Legislative Council to make
and that the Bill was therefore returned for the concurrence of the Legislative Council.
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Coniminee
The Chairman of Committees (Hon Carry Kelly) in the Chair;, Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney
General) in charge of the Bill.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I move-

That the amendments made by the Council be not insisted on.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Opposition opposes the motion. 1 am glad that the Attorney
General did not move a motion requiring this Chamber to agree with the Speaker's ruling. I
will canvass that area for a few moments before I move on to why the Opposition believes
the Committee should not support the motion. I understand from discussions with my
colleagues in another place that the Speaker has ruled the amendments out of order, but as
when he ruled out of order the Town Planning (Old Brewery) Bill he failed to give reasons
for his ruling. I wish it placed on the record that if the President of this Legislative Council
were to rule a Bill out of order members of this Chamber would demand reasons be given for
that decision.
Once reasons had been given the House could determine whether it was prepared to agree to
the President's ruling. If it did not agree, it would clearly be able to take appropriate action.
Regrettably, that does not appear to be the case in the Legislative Assembly where the
Speaker takes it upon himself to rule Bills out of order but does not give reasons for so doing.
If the Speaker were relying on section 46(l) of the Constitution Acts Amendment Act, which
indicates that Bills appropriating revenue or money, or imposing taxes, should not originate
in the Legislative Council, he should explain the reason why. Section 46(2) states -

The Legislative Council may not amend Loan Bills, or Bills imposing taxation, or
Bills appropriating revenue or moneys for the ordinary annual services of the
Government.

Section 46(3) states -

The Legislative Council may not amend any Bill so as to increase any proposed
charge or burden on the people..

I do not know on which of those subsections the Speaker relied to make his ruling, but if one
made the broad assumption that he relied on section 46(3) then I argue that the amendment
moved and carried in the Chamber yesterday did not impose an additional burden on the
public purse. I say that because the Minister when discussing the amendment acknowledged
that the very people who were covered by the amendment - and in particular I refer to
persons over the age of 60 years who are in receipt of Job Search or Newstart allowances -
were covered under the provisions of at least one of the Acts it was intended to repeal when
the Pensioners (Rates Rebates and Deferments) Act was passed. .As I recall, the Minister
made it clear in his second reading speech that it was the Government's intention not to
disadvantage any person who was presently covered by the provisions of the existing Acts
and clearly the persons the subject of this amendment were covered by those Acts.
I am unsure why the Speaker should continue to rule Bills out of order. The mere fact that he
does not give reasons appears to me to be significant, because it makes the decisions unable
to be challenged. That may be a slick way of not justifying or substantiating the reason
behind the ruling of those Bills out of order. I will say no more about the way in which the
Speaker ruled those Bills out of order, that is, Bills that have been amended in the Legislative
Council. It is a poor state of affairs when this can happen and in due course it should be the
subject of a more substantive motion and a greater debate.
The group of persons the subject of this debate were covered under previous legislation. For
the Government to now reject the amendment seems to me, first, to be abandoning a
particular category of people in our community. I am sure that all members of the Labor
Party who have some compassion left in them would agree that male persons aged between
60 and 65 years who find themselves unemployed and in receipt of either Job Search or
Newstart allowances and who are often in desperate circumstances are the very people the
Government is trying to assist by introducing its various rates rebates and deferments Bills.
The history of the two Bills to be repealed shows that from the time they originated to the
time they were enacted in this House the Government claimed that it was exercising its right
to offer a concession to a group of people which it considered to be disadvantaged or at least
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in need of that concession. I said yesterday that I conceded that right of the Government,
even though it might have been used to gamner votes at an election.
I ask members to recognise the plight of the persons who would be affected by the
amendment we carried yesterday, and I ask the Government to reconsider its position on the
motion.
Hon Max Evans: If this Bill did not go through, or if it were held up and we reverted to the
old legislation, would anyone be disadvantaged?
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Government would probably argue that this Bill, which
consolidates two other Acts, also provides some additional benefits within the community.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Some significant benefits.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Members must realise that the Liberal Party, while crying to offer a
concession to a relatively small group in the community, certainly does not want to be put in
a position of finding that the Government, for its own, probably political, reasons decides to
set the Bill aside and not offer the significant benefits - which was the term used by the
Attorney General - that it wants to offer to a much wider group.
I do not intend to propose that we divide the Chamber on this matter but we will put it to the
test by way of a vote, If we lose the vote on the voices, that in itself will signal that the
Government is not interested in protecting chat very special group of people. More than that,
it will indicate to the Opposition that it is important that we recognise the wider group in the
community in respect of those covered by the Bill.
Hon PETER FOSS: This message is quite an interesting one. It is remarkably uninformative
in that it just says that the Bill is returned and that the amendments contained therein are
beyond the powers of the Legislative Council to make. It does not say why, but presumably
we find out in section 46 of the Constitution Acts Amendment Act relating to powers of the
House in respect of legislation. The only Bills we may not amend are Loan Bills, Bills
imposing taxation, or Bills appropriating revenue or moneys for the ordinary annual services
of the Government, or any Bill so as to increase any proposed charge or burden on the
people.
Hon Doug Wenn: We have just heard all that.
Hon PETER FOSS: I know. If the member were going to vote for this motion I might shut
up and sit down, but I will take the opportunity to go a little further.
Hon George Cash: It is a quarter to three in the morning. I think we should say everything
twice anyway so that people clearly understand.
Hon PETER FOSS: Obviously the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Bill does
not increase any proposed charge or burden on the people. To do anything it must be a Loan
Bill, a Bill imposing taxation, or a Bill appropriating revenue or moneys for the ordinary
annual services of the Government. If that is the case, section 46(6) of the Constitution Acts
Amendment Act provides that a Bill which appropriates revenue or moneys for the ordinary
annual services of the Government shall deal only with such appropriation; and section 46(7)
provides that Bills imposing taxation shall deal only with the imposition of taxation.
The Bill before the House is not a Loan Bill and therefore it must be either a Bill imposing
taxation or one appropriating revenue or moneys for the ordinary annual services of the
Government. If that is what was said in the other place, the Bill offends either subsection (6)
or subsection (7) of section 46 of the Constitutions Act Amendment Act, so the whole Bill
should be struck out- Therefore, I ask that the matter be referred to the Deputy President for
a ruling as to whether the entire Bill should be struck out pursuant to section 46(6) and (7).
That seems to be the logical conclusion to draw from the message we have received from the
other House. I believe the answer is no, it is not invalid, because in fact the ruling from the
other place is totally and utterly wrong and incomprehensible.
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I do not propose to canvass the merits of the Speaker's ruling and I
do not think that any purpose is to be achieved by that. On the other hand, the least I think I
should say is that it is a matter of concern that we are now gradually accumulating a number
of instances where there is a difference of view between what we believe the powers of this
Chamber to be and what the Assembly regards its powers to be.
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Hon Max Evans: We will have to go to war!
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I think we can find a more civilised way than that to approach this
matter! However, I must say char I regret chat in these present circumstances I did not carry
forward a suggestion which I floated, I think the best part of a year ago; that is, that it was
desirable that the Houses, including the Presiding Officers, should get together and in one
forum or another address the question of where the dividing line can properly be drawn.
There would be much less room for difficulties if we were all very clear on where that line is,
especially if the line could be agreed. In spite of the anticipated difficulties and pressures of
the Budget session, I am prepared to say that some work should be done on that. I am
indebted to the Clerk, who has just informed me that the Standing Orders Committee is in
fact working on section 46 of the Constitutions Acts Amendment Act right now. I hope I
will be able to claim, in the event of some happy resolution arising from chat committee's
work, that it was stimulated to the work by the suggestion I made. I am not in a position to
claim chat at the moment but I will hold that in reserve. As to the merits of the question
itself, again I think there is no point to repeating arguments with which we have dealt very
comprehensively in the last few days.
Hon George Cash: Do you believe the Speaker should have provided reasons for his ruling?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I do not see it as my place to comment on the role of the Speaker.
That is properly a matter left for the members of the Legislative Assembly, as we would
expect them to leave us to consider the rulings of the President. That is a proper division.
Hon George Cash: Do you believe that the Legislative Council would require that the
President provide reasons if he made a similar ruling?
Hon J.M. BERINSON: I do not recall a situation like that arising.
Hon George Cash: I am asking you a question.
Hon W.. BERINSON: I do not know, not having had to face the position.
Hon George Cash: How convenient.
Hon W.. BERINSON: One other matter which should be raised is that a fuller response is
required to the question raised by Mr Evans regarding who would be the loser and who
would be the winner if the legislation were frustrated. It would be highly undesirable, as
indicated in earlier debate, if the legislation were not passed because the legislation has two
substantial groups of beneficiaries: First, the group of part owners who have felt aggrieved
for a great length of time about their position; and second, the group of otherwise qualified
owners of residential property who share the accommodation with non-eligible recipients,
especially in circumstances where those non-qualified recipients are members of the family.
It is most desirable that these people be covered, and for the reasons I mentioned in the
debate earlier this week, and in order to allow that extension of the current provision, I urge
the Committee to support the motion.
Hon PETER FOSS: 1 have asked for a ruling regarding whether the amendment should be
ruled our of order. Due to the fact that the other House returned the Bill on the basis that the
amendment we made is one we cannot make, it appears to raise direct questions regarding
whether the Bill itself is a tactic. The only way in which it is a Bill we cannot amend is if it
is a Bill which falls into a particular category, and is combined with other types of
legislation. It obviously deals with more things than appropriation to the annual services of
Government or taxation. If that were the case, and as it is not a loan Bill, it must be an
invalid Bill. I do nor believe it is, but that is what the message would suggest.
The CHAIRMAN: The question before the Committee is that it does nor insist on the
amendment originally made to the Bill. It is not a question of whether we dissent from the
Speaker's ruling at all. As far as requesting a ruling on whether it is a Bill which can be
amended, it would not be possible to give a definitive ruling at this stage. We may only
surmise the reasons for the Speaker's ruling- For those reasons, I suggest that we are not in a
position to provide a ruling.
Question put and passed; the Council's amendments not insisted on.

Report
Resolution reported, the report adopted, and a message accordingly returned to the
Assembly.
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INDUSTRIAL LANDS DEVELOPMENT AUTHORrIY AMENDMENT BILL
Receipt and Firs: Reading

Bill received from the Assembly; and, on motion by Hon Barry House, read a first time.
Second Reading

HON BARRY HOUSE (South West) [3.26 am]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second ine.
T1he purpose of this legislation is to extend the statutory life of the Industrial Lands
Development Authority Act 1968 by an additional 12 months to 30 June 1993. The
Industrial Lands Development Authority Act, by virtue of section 14 of the legislation when
originally enacted, was to expire on 31 December 1990. Act 52 of 1990 extended the life of
the Industrial Lands Development Authority by a further 12 months to 31 December 1991.
In June 1990 the Government announced an intention to establish an Office of Land Services
which was to assume the responsibility of the Industrial Lands Development Authority. As
the Industrial Lands Development Authority was to go out of existence in December 1991,
which would have meant all the assets of the authority would have reverted to the Treasurer,
it was necessary to keep the authority as a statutory body until the Office of Land Services
had been established in a statutory sense. On such a basis the statutory life of the Industrial
Lands Development Authority had to be extended again and, via the Industrial Lands
Development Authority Amendment Act 1991, its life was further extended to 30 June 1992.
In the interim, the Government has introduced the Western Australian Land Authority Bill,
which is intended to set up a statutory body to take over the functdon of the Industrial Lands
Development Authority and repeal its Act. The Western Australian Land Authority
legislation has since passed through this House, and on the basis that there is no guarantee
that the legislation will be proclaimed prior to 30 June the Opposition sees the need for the
Industrial Lands Development Authority to be extended for a further 12 months so that it
may legally continue its activities.
Members should appreciate that the period of extension is of no consequence because if and
when the Western Australian Land Authority legislation is proclaimed, the Industrial Lands
Development Authority will be repealed at that time. The Opposition therefore introduces
the Industrial Lands Development Authority Amendment Bill 1992 to give a legislative
mandate to the Industrial Lands Development Authority for an additional year.
I commend the Bill to the House.
HON JOHN HALDEN (South Metropolitan - Parliamentary Secretary) [3.29 am): The
Government supports the proposal put forward by the Opposition based on the fact that,
although the House today passed the Western Australian Land Authority Bill, the Minister
has some concerns about some of the amendments. It may be that the Bill will not be
proceeded with in the other place. To accommodate the problems that were caused by the
sunset clause in the Industrial Lands Development Authority Act, this Bill was passed
through the other place to ensure ILDA's existence for another 12 months.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

Committee and Report
Bill passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the report
adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon Barry House, and passed.

BILLS (4).- RETURNED
I. Public and Bank Holidays Amendment Bill
2. Guardianship and Administration Amendment Bill
3. Acts Amendment (Confiscation of Criminal Profits) Bill
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4. Acts Amendment (Sexual Offences) Bill 1991
Bills returned from the Assembly without amendment.

RETIREMENT VILLAGES BILL
Assembly's Message

Message from t Assembly received and read notifying that it had agreed to the
amendments made by the Council.

SUPPLY BILL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 28 May.
HON GEORGE CASH (North Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) (3.34 am): The
Opposition supports the Supply Bill. Members will he aware that the Bill will appropriate
$3.1 billion for the services of the yea ending 30 June 1993 pending the passage of the
Appropriation Bills which traditionally come into this House towards the end of the calendar
year. Of the $3.1 billion, $2.9 billion will come from the Consolidated Revenue Fund and
$200 million from the Genera] Loan and Capital Works Fund. -Members will be aware that
this Bill comes into the House annually. Although it has been agreed to on all occasions,
today I wonder whether, at this stage of the proceedings, members should not take it on
themselves to reject the Bill and suffer the consequences. Clearly that would bring about an
election. Given the comments of some members in this House tonight, and the general
position of the Government in this State, no doubt a number of people believe that action
should be pursued.
The amount appropriated in the Supply Bill has increased from $2.005 billion in 1987-88 to
$3.1 billion. It appears to increase at about the same percentage each year. That is no doubt
relative to the general inflation rate. I know tt other members will comment on the amount
of money the Government said was necessary for the voluntary redundancy scheme
introduced by the Government some months ago. Questions will also be asked about the
additional $54 million which the Government has realised will be required to pay for the
accrued levy entitlements and lump sum superannuation payments which are due to those
people who were granted voluntary redundancy.
I would like the Attorney General to provide more information on the fact that railway
receipts will be decreased by $85.3 million compared with the estimate provided in the last
Budget- Although the Attorney said there will be no effect on the general CRLF funding, I
would like him to provide more information on why that dramatic reduction will occur. I
note with interest that the Supply Bill predicts that land tax receipts' for the financial year will
be down $33 million. The reasons for that substantial reduction are the prevailing adverse
economic conditions.
Hon J'.M. Berinson: Most of that was owed to the decision after the Budget to freeze land tax
last year, was it not? I might be confusing that with something else.
Hon GEORGE CASH: The Attorney General is. In his second reading speech he said that
the most recent review by Treasury indicates that taxation collection is expected to be below
estimates by about $33 million generally reflecting the prevailing adverse economic
conditions.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I thought you said land tax.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I did, and part of the reason for the reduction is the provision for
relief from land tax for business properties. That makes up part of the $33 million.
Members will be aware that taxes on land have for centuries been one of the principal
measures of a person's wealth. Taxes on land date back to the Anglo-Saxon era. Land tax
on the English model was first introduced into Australia in 1877 by the State Government in
Victoria. Western Australia followed suit some 30 years later with the passing of the 1907
Land and Income Tax Assessment AcL- It is interesting to note that die first Western
Australia land tax was levied in 1908 at a flat rate of a penny in the pound or, in today's
terms, 40 in the dollar.
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Hon P.G. Pendal: lust as well Mr Berinson was not in charge in those days.
Hon J.M. Berinson: It was like the first English income tax of a shilling in the pound; it was
said to be temporary. It then became 19 shillings in the pound.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Hon Phillip Pendal is right;, if Mr Berinson had been in charge of the
operation ic would have been a lot more than a penny in the pound.
Over the years, there have been a number of amendments to the original land taxing system
in Western Australia. The major amendments generally increased exemptions from the tax
in various areas. In 1922, exemptions were introduced in relation to land held by invalid and
old age pensioners. In 1948, land which was used solely for agriculture, grazing and
horticulture was exempted, and that removed the original purpose of the tax as it was stated
when introduced into Western Australia, In 1971, owner-occupiers of residential land of up
to half an acre or 0.4 hectares were exempted. In 1976, owner-occupiers of residential land
of up to five acres or 2.02 hectares were also exempted. In 1980, a Bill was introduced into
the Parliament to ensure that all owner-occupiers of residential land were exempted. In
1981, a Government committee of inquiry reported that the categories of those who were
paying land tax had been reduced to the following: Vacant land; residential properties not
occupied by an owner - rental accommodation; industrial and commercial properties; and
farming land where less than a third of the farmer's income comes from primary production -
a hobby farm.
While the base for land tax payers has narrowed dramatically over the last seven years, the
actual tax burden is not equally distributed between the categories of landowners to which I
have just referred. The WA State Taxation Department's figures indicate that, today, the
main burden of land tax falls on commercial property owners. In 1989-90, commercial
property owners paid 73 per cent of the Western Australian land tax bill. Members will be
aware that, recently, the Building Owners and Managers Association of Australia prepared a
substantial submission to the Western Australian Government on land tax. The statement in
which I was interested was that the commercial sector comprises half the land tax base but
pays nearly three-quarters of the land tax liabilities. In short, a handful of property owners
bears the brunt of the land tax bill.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is because they own the great proportion of the value of the land.
Hon GEORGE CASH: That is correct. That is why I suggested earlier that it is now a very
inequitable system.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Why is it inequitable if it is based on value? I am not questioning it.
There is ample room for review and modification of the scheme which, as you know, is
under way.
Hon GEORGE CASH: That is the point I will argue in due course. I think I should reach
that point by about five o'clock this morning and, with some of MrT Berinson's interjections,
it might be six o'clock. The article states that, in short, a handful of property owners bear the
brunt of the land tax bill. In Western Australia, the majority of these fuis are life insurance
and superannuation companies or property trusts where the underlying beneficial ownership
rests with ordinary Australians. BOMA calculates that around 846 000 Western Australians
or 70 per cent of the voting age population share in the indirect ownership of commercial
property through life assurance policies, superannuation funds or property trusts.
BOMA further argues in the submission to the State Government that any increases in tax
burden on the commercial property sector adversely affect the savings of thousands of
ordinary Western Australian people. A brief outline of the history of land tax in Western
Australia indicates three things: Firstly, that land tax ceased long ago, at least since 1948 -
that is, when it served as the main function for which it was originally intended, agrarian land
reform; secondly, that what began as a tax aimed at the relatively few large pastoral
landowners has become a tax borne mainly by companies and particularly those which own
commercial properties; thirdly, land tax now impacts, because of an indirect ownership of
commercial property, as an invisible tax upon the earning potential of the savings of
thousands of Western Australians.
Many years ago I studied valuation with a gentleman by the name of Bob Suann.
Hon Barry House: You should have valued the brewery.
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Hon GEORGE CASH: I could have valued the brewery in its original state with the stables.
My valuation colleague, Mr Bob Suann, has produced a document which has been adopted
by the West Australian Small Business and Enterprise Association tided "Review of Land
Tax: Land Tax: Land Valuation: Something is wrong? Is there a fiddle? Who is
responsible? Who is accountable? What must be done?" They are the basic areas that the
document covers. The document contains a huge number of pages and in due course I will
seek leave of the House to table the document because it sets out in a very considered form
the problems associated with the valuation roles in Western Australia and the way in which
certain valuations in respect of certain municipal districts have been carried out. Mr Suann
argues in the document that if one analyses the methods that have been used by the Valuer
General over a period of years in determining which dates should be used as the effective
dates in respect of valuation roles, it appears that pressure has been applied, I assume by the
Government, on the Valuer General's Office to ensure that a maximum return is gained in
regard to taxes and charges by the Government
Hon Reg Davies: What is the gentleman's background?
Hon GEORGE CASH: He is a qualified and very well known valuer in Perth and a property
consultant. He acts for a number of groups in the Perth metropolitan area and country areas.
The document and the attachments are evidence of the sort of work involved in this
submission. It is the first of two. This document sets out the problems associated with the
valuation rolls. The document that Mr Suann is currently working on will set out some of the
solutions that he and the West Australian Small Business and Enterprise Association believe
can be adopted to make good the obvious problems that exist at the moment. 1 urge members
of the House to read the document because it contains some pretty frightening information. I
have no reason to believe that any of the information in the document is incorrect, If it Can
be proven that the Valuer General has been influenced by the Government to use specific
dates as effective dates to increase the monetary return to the Government, andi even in some
cases has fiddled the figures with regard to valuation dates, I believe it is a very serious
matter.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Are you making that accusation against the Valuer General?
Hon GEORGE CASH: No, I am suggesting that this document raises that possibility. That
is the reason I want to table the document. I hope that in due course the Attorney.General, as
the senior member of the Government in this House, will take the opportunity of reading this
document. It is a very important and significant document and, if some fiddle is going on,
quite clearly some action needs to be taken to ensure that the problems are dealt with.
Hon JUM. Berinson: That is an appalling thing to say, even as a hypothetical proposition.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I hope that the Attorney General does not think I will withdraw the
statements I have just made.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is up to you, but it is not a proposition that should be advanced.
Hion GEORGE CASH: The Attorney General does not know whether it should be advanced,
because he has not read the document.
Hon J.M. Berinson: You are not offering any justification for it,
H-on GEORGE CASH: I will offer the Attorney General the documentation that contans the
justification.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I will be interested to read it.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I want the Attorney General to make up his own mind, because if the
information in this document can be shown to be accurate in all ways, it is a very serious
accusation, as the Attorney General said. Obviously, the Attorney General is implying that
he does not believe the Government has been influencing the Valuer General.
Hon J.M. Berinson: I am absolutely certain and, although I am used to your attacks on the
Government, this is an appalling attack on the Valuer General.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I know the current Valuer General personally and in this context I
am using the description in its generic term - I am talking about the Valuer General's Office.
Hon J.M. Berinson: You are not suggesting that the fourteenth person down the line would
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be influenced by the Government in a way that could affect the general valuations in somne
way?
Hon GEORGE CASH: I ask the Attorney General to read the documents and reach his own
conclusion as to whether some fiddle has been going on with regard to effective dates used
on valuation rolls.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Whichever way you put it, what you are saying constitutes a very
serious attack on the Valuer General personally. It is improper and it is not justified and
cannot be.
H-on GEORGE CASH: Nothing I have said was designed to be a personal attack on the
Valuer General. I am talking about the department as such. I am saying that on the evidence
given in this document - I believe it to be true and [ have no reason to believe otherwise - the
matter needs further investigation. Some very serious matters arise from the issues contained
in this document. [ urge the Attorney General to read it. I understand that at one stage he
was responsible for the Valuer General's Office.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is quite right. May I suggest that if you table the document now
there will be an opportunity to photocopy it, since we shall be here for some time.
Hon GEORGE CASH: I seek leave of the House to table this document.
Leave granted. [See paper No 171 .]
Hon GEORGE CASH: I wish to continue on the general question of land tax, before
returning to matters pertaining to the document I have tabled. in 1979-80 land tax
represented 23 per cent of the taxing revenue of the State Government, which was then
approximately $327 million. That increased dramatically by 1987-88 to $1 070 million. In
1991-92 it is estimated that $1 420 million will be raised in total State taxation, and land tax
will represent $124 million of that amount. That represents 8.7 per cent of the total State
taxation revenue. The earlier estimate for land tax revenue for 199 1-92 was $140 million
but, following the Government's measure which would reduce income from this area, the
estimate has been reduced to $124 million. These figures show that since 1979 land tax
revenue has increased at an average annual rate of 17 per cent. If that is adjusted for
inflation the increase in real terms is approximately nine per cent a year. Members will
know that is significantly higher than the average increase in either the CPI or the SDP. That
increase is the second largest of all Australian States. Since 1989 land tax has increased its
proportion of the total State taxation revenue. Indeed, had protests from the business
community not forced the Government to introduce the 1990-91 Land Tax Relief Bill, it
would have accounted for almost 10 per cent of the total revenue in the current financial
year. Members who read their Budget documents will be aware that land tax is the third
largest single source of State Government revenue, after payroll tax and stamp duty. The
relative importance of land tax as a source of revenue has increased during a period when
income from stamp duty has decreased from $542 million in 1988-89 to $378 million in
1990-91. The implication is that since 1989 the Government has been using land tax to make
up the shortfall in income which followed the reduced level of income from stamp duty. It
must be remembered that land tax is a general purposes tax and the income it generates forms
part of the Consolidated Revenue Fund. The revenue from land tax, therefore, does not
provide any special benefit to those who pay it. That is one of the main criticisms in the
report of the two Government appointed inquiries. I turn now to the recommendations for
reform made during the period from 1975 to 1992. The Keall Committee of Inquiry into
Rates and Taxes Attached to Land Valuation presented its report in 1975. The McCusker
Committee of Inquiry into Rates, Taxes and Charges Related to Land Values reported in
1981. Both reports concluded that the present land tax system was inequitable, and made
recommendations for substantial reform.
After reviewing the history of land tax up to 1975, the Keall committee noted that less than
one-fifth of all persons registered at the State Taxation Department as landowners actually
paid land tax. It pointed out that there was a high incidence of tax on a limited number of
properties and that successive exemptions and rebates had caused land tax to be very onerous
for some payers of the tax. The committee's report stated that, "In the opinion of the
committee the present system of applying land tax is inequitable." The committee
recommended that: Land tax be either universally applied or abolished; that if it were
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retained, there be a fixed rate in the dollar for all land and not a sliding scale; and that
exemptions apply only to charitable and religious organisations.
The McCusker committee reaffirmed the conclusion that land tax rested on a narrow base -
one-fifth of all landowners - and was, therefore, inequitable. It reported that the committee
concluded that the land tax system as then constituted was inequitable because it
discriminated between landholders who were potential taxpayers, and that the committee felt
strongly that it was quite inequitable that a charge for a service which so patently benefits the
community as a whole should be borne by only one group of taxpayers. The McCusker
committee was opposed to simply abolishing the tax and was in favour of applying it
universally. It also recognised that the revenue that it generated was essential to the State
and should at least be maintained in the absence of any obvious alternative. The committee
also considered that revenue from a tax on land could be increased, provided it was spread
more widely to take in all classes of landowners.
The McCusker committee recommended that: Land tax should be applied universally, the
tax should be at a flat rate on all land below $20 000 unimproved value and at a differential
rate, by category, on land over $20 000 unimproved value, and that only land held by
Government instrumentalities and religious and charitable organisations should be exempt;
or that all land not presently rated for land tax should be subject to a flat rate community
service levy to fund regional development, or that the fixed scale for land tax should be
reviewed annually by the Minister to meet the Government's budgetary needs from the tax.
The Treasurer announced in November 1991 that the Government proposed to review the
current land tax system. In response to that announcement, the Building Owners and
Managers Association prepared a submission to the Government on its recommendations for
change. BOMA highlighted, in a comprehensive, eight point list, what it regarded as the
deficiencies of the present system. It recommended that land tax should, in the long term, be
abolished, and that it should be replaced by a more broadly based tax administered by the
Commonwealth Government. It recommended that, in the interim, the State Government
should: Set an annual land tax budget to cap increases in the tax; limit annual increases in
land tax to the forecast increase in (ISP; extend the land tax base to all income producing
property, including Government trading enterprises; abolish the aggregation system for
applying land tax; introduce annual revaluations; and recognise that tenants should share in
land tax liabilities.
I have concluded, after giving a fair amount of consideration to the question of land tax, that
it is clear that there are strong arguments in favour of abolishing the present land tax system.
If we accept the need to make up the revenue that will be lost by its abolition, the question
that obviously has to be asked is: What should replace it? The weight of opinion from the
two committees of inquiry and the BOMA report is in favour of a universal, or at least a far'
more broadly based, tax on land. That tax could be admninistrated by the Federal
Government, as BOMA proposes, to include all income producing land, even that held by
State Government trading enterprises, or it could, as at present, be administered by the State
Government in either of the two forms proposed by the McCusker committee: As a
universal land tax, with different rates for different values and types of property, or as a flat
rate community service levy to fund Government undertakings - for example, capital works
programs - that will benefit those who pay it.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Do you remember whether the McCusker recommendation for a
universal land tax base would actually catch owner-occupiers?
Hon GEORGE CASH: That was one of the matters considered by the McCusker committee.
It was not necessarily one of its recommendations, but it offered a number of different
alternatives in respect of that. I guess the question of whether owner-occupiers should pay
land tax comes down to the determination of whether we want a broadly based land tax or
property tax; and that was addressed by both the Keall committee and the McCusker
committee.
I turn now to the report authored in the main by Mr Bob Suann, which was tabled in this
Parliament, and was presented to me by the West Australian Small Business and Enterprise
Association. The report that accompanied the main submission, which is headed "Land
Tax/Land Valuation - Urgent Parliamentary Inquiry Needed", states -
06SNA- 17
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The Association has been convinced that there is something desperately wrong with
the Land Taxing and Land Valuation systems in W.A. and the 'Objections' and
'Appeals' processes relating thereto.
We believe the matter to be so serious that a Parliamentary Inquiry should be
immediately set up to investigate and report.
We believe it is essential that the Inquiry be set up during the current sitting of
Parliament and before the beginning of the next financial year which starts on 1 July
1992. The matter is one of considerable 'Public interest'.
From evidence we have before us it is our view that the Land valuation system has
been tampered with since early 1985. It is possible that some tampering took place
pre- 1985 but as yet we have no substantial evidence of the latter.
In early 1985 strange things started happening in relation to the re-valuation of
ratable land in some 30 Land Districts in Western Australia. These Land Districts
included Armadale, Subiaco, Fremantle and Melville.
For some reason or another new valuations were introduced and brought into force
for 20 of those 30 Land Districts a year before they should have been. This had the
effect of arbitrarily increasing the amount of revenue that the State Government
received.
The bottom line result of this is that all Taxpayers in these 20 Land Districts started
paying more for their Land based Taxes and Rates than they should have been
paying.

Hon J.M. Berinson: That all sounds like Labor electorates. Is the Leader of the Opposition
suggesting the Government was deliberately attacking its own supporters?
Hon GEORGE CASH: I do not have evidence to substantiate Mr Berinson's claim, but if
what he says is correct, that adds to the seriousness of the matters I raised earlier.
Hon J.M. Berinson: It adds to the inconceivability of it.
Hon GEORGE CASH: Some clue as to whether there has been a fiddle is contained in the
report that Mr Berinson has said he will look at later. The quote continues -

The effects of the incorrect applications of the re-valuations are still continuing and
we believe there are now considerably more than 20 Land Districts involved.
Thousands, may be hundreds of thousands of Taxpayers and Ratepayers are affected.
However, not only was the 'Effective Date' for the coming into force of those new
values brought forward by one year, but many of the Effective Dates as shown on the
Land District Valuation Rolls and the Effective Dates as publicly advertised in the
Government Gazette started coming into conflict with each other.
For Rating and Taxing purposes the difference in these two dates has enormous
Revenue implications.
Imagine how much more Revenue could be obtained by a Taxing or Rating Authority
applying the earlier date and hence raking in additional Revenue based on higher
values than should legally have applied?
But the conflict between the L-and District Valuation Rolls Effective Dates and the
Government Gazette Effective Dates has the real potential to allow the system to be
manipulated - not only for Revenue purposes but also for Political purposes.
An unscrupulous Government, could, for example. 'decide' to NOT apply new,
higher, values in certain Land Districts compared to others. There are some who
have speculated that such a situation could leave the door open for an unscrupulous
Government to be able to give 'preferential advantage' to marginal or 'difficult'
seats.
This potential to be able to manipulate must be eliminated.
Evidence received also shows that some of the Effective Dates on the Land District
Valuation Rolls were somehow altered. The reasons for this are not yet clear
although investigations are continuing.
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Unjustified alterations would obviously be an extremely serious matter because there
are strict guidelines governing the adoption and application of new values and Land
District Valuation Rolls cannot just be altered at a whim.
... It should be noted that the date entered on the Land District Valuation Roll is the
absolute date (the touchstone) - not the date advertised in the Government Gazette.
But why are so many of the Effective Dates as shown in the Land District Valuation
Rolls so fundamentally different to the Effective Dates shown in the Government
Gazette - and why were same altered?

This is something that the Parliamentary Inquiry must establish.
Yet the problem does not just lie with the improper introduction of new, increased,
Land values. Evidence shows that theme is also a very serious problem with the actual
Land value determination process.
There is evidence to suggest that some Land valuations as determined by the Valuer
General's Office and applied by the State Taxation Department in the Land District
of Armadale have not been determined in accordance with proper valuation practice
as determined under the Valuation of Land Act.
Investigations are currently taking place in an attempt to ascertain the full extent of
this problem. The problem is believed to be universal throughout WA.
In an attempt to get to the bottom of the problem in the Land District of Armadale, it
has taken the Trustees of the two Land Syndicates over seven (7) years to try to
obtain justice against wrong valuations - and there is still no end in sight.
Over $143,000.00 has so far been spent in legal fees and the Trustees believe that
various Authorities have assembled themselves as a force which is actively motivated
to block any chance of a successful.'Appeal'.
It is the Trustees opinion that various Authorities have ignored their own Statutes and
have given rise to a fundamental withholding of - and a denial of - natural justice.
This is an indictment of the Authority's approach and an indictment of the 'Appeals'
process currently in existence under the Land Valuations Tribunal Act
The Association has been convinced that there is an urgent need to alter the existing
'Objections' and 'Appeals' processes in relation to Valuation errors and Assessment
errors.
This means the 'Objections' and 'Appeals' processes in the Valuation of Land Act
the Land Tax Assessment Act and the Local Government Act must be altered. Other
Acts may also need alteration.
It is impossible to understate the seriousness of the problem that has begun to be
unearthed.
In the accompanying, detailed, file there is overwhelming evidence of gross errors
and deliberate obstruction by various Authorities. It regrettably appears that the
Government has several times gone to the extent of amending the existing Law in
order to thwart the legitimate claims of Objectives.
There is also considerable evidence to suggest that the existing Land Taxing and
Land Valuation systems are open to manipulation - indeed have been manipulated.
Equity and good conscious dictates that no elected Member of State Parliament can
possibly condone the current situation. To do so would be blatant hypocrisy, a denial
of democratic justice and an abdication of responsibility to the 'Public Interest'..
A Parliamentary Inquiry is needed to thoroughly investigate, report, and to put right
what is currently wrong.

That submission is signed by Philip Achurch, the Executive Director of the West Australian
Small Business and Enterprise Association Inc. If the Attorney General, and other members
of Parliament, read the document that I have tabled they will come to the same conclusions
as outlined by that association. I have no doubt that something is wrong in the system. I said
earlier that the association is currently producing the second document, which will contain

3445



positive solutions to some of the problems that have been identified. I share the concerns of
that association. I also call on the Government to institute an inquiry into the land tax/land
valuation system as it currently applies in Western Australia.
I support the Bill.
HON MURIEL PATTERSON (South West) [4.18 am]: I wish to raise matters of
importance to certain individuals and groups in the South West Region. The first matter
concerns elderly women whose husbands served on active service for Australia but who are,
for a number of administrative measons, ineligible to claim the war widow's pension. This is
a Federal matter, but it is important that a State Parliament support the urgent and legitimate
claims of its citizens when they appeal for help from the Government's colleagues in
Canberra.
The House should consider the case of a lady in Mandurah whose husband served in the
Navy throughout the Second World War. He survived the kamikaze attack on UMAS
Australia. He could have applied for a £:2.6d pension as did many others at the time. The
lady's husband, a proud and independent man, did not join a postwar scramble for
Government hand-outs. Instead, he lived out his days content in the knowledge that he had
served his country well. Unknown to him, his proud independence would eventually prevent
his wife from applying for a pension, although by every definition of the term she is a war
widow.
In general, I support the view that the Federal Treasury would actually save money if the
laborious and costly appeals procedure were abolished and pensions automatically granted to
the widows who meet the basic criteria for benefit. Frankly, I believe that the widow of a
man who has seen service in war has the right to benefits of the war widow's pension. I seek
the State Government's support for our war widows. This will not impose any great or
additional burden on Government; quite the reverse. The young girls who married the young
heroes 50 years ago are now in the autumn of their lives and we owe them as much as we
owe their husbands a debt of gratitude and honour.
I turn now to the young men and women of today upon whom our nation depends for much
of its survival. Primary production and related industries are still one of this nation's prime
sources of overseas income. They require a skilled work force able to produce grains, meat,
wool and manual skills upon which every Australian depends. That is why the Denmark
Agricultural College has earned our attention. Barely two years ago the Denmark student
enrolment had declined to a point that it was considered it might be necessary to close down
the agricultural college. However, thanks to the energetic Denmark Agricultural College
Advisory Hoard and the inspired work of Mr Andrew Castle and his colleagues, the college
was promoted throughout the media, and agriculture was given a whole new image. The
success of this campaign can be measured by the fact that student enrolments increased to 49,
which is nine more than the college was designed to house. For the first time, women
formed almost one-third of the student enrolment. The expected enrolment for 1993 is 60
students - a 50 per cent increase above the original capacity. The long term effects of this
upon a previously ageing industry or upon the demographics of our country communities
which have hitherto been thought of as dying are impossible to overestimate. We find it very
encouraging from every angle to see this renewed interest in agriculture. As such, Denmark
Agriculture College deserves every support we can give so that it can continue with this
vitally important work. In particular, the college needs a female dormitory. At present the
young girls must make do with double bunk accommodation behind a temporary partition in
the bays' dormitory. Mr Castle believes, and I agree with him, that the immediate short term
solution is to have a transportable unit moved down to Denmark pending the construction of
more permanent accommodation for our young people. Mr Castle told me that the maturity
of the girls has been an added benefit to the classes and has created a certain amount of
competition and generally lifted the morale throughout the college. Although it may be hard
for members to believe, Denmark's agriculture college does not yet have a single designated
classroom. At present our young agriculturalists learn theoretical skills in a hall which was
already old before it was moved to the present site in the 1950s. It is also adjacent to the
district high school's wood working shop and there is reason to believe that conditions in that
workshop are putring staff and students at risk from dust and noise pollution. Recreational
activities are crammed into a small TV/games room in the manual arts shed. Although this
has been brought to the attention of the relevant authorities little or nothing seems to have
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happened so far, and in my opinion it is definitely a case where Parliament should intervene.
Denmark Agricultural College will be celebrating its fiftieth anniversary this year and I urge
the Government to send this country college more than its congratulations.
I am still talking about matters fundamentally important for the wellbeing and stability of our
country families. I wish to bring to the attention of the House points raised at a meeting of
the rural support team. One reads and sees a lot in the newspaper and the media about
unemployed street kids in the cities, but what about those who are down on the farm? Far
too often it is a case of out of sight, out of mind. Whereas in Perth there are generally next
door neighbours with whom people can share their problems, and shopping complexes and
people around who can take away some of the loneliness and give people an opportunity to
communicate with each other, this is rarely possible when the family is surrounded by
thousands of acres of solitude. The dangerous brooding and isolation of farm life during
hard times must be experienced to be understood. With this in mind, members should
consider the fact that there are no western agricultural care family counsellors in the Shimes
of West Arthur, Kojonup, Cranbrook or Plantagenet. Meanwhile, Southern AG Care has two
part time counsellors dealing with family crises in the Shires of Lake Grace, Kent,
Dumbleyung, Jerramungup, Katanning, Wagin, Tambellup and Woodanilling. Another
$60 000 would allow Southern AG Care to employ a full time family counsellor in nine
country shires. A further matter of concern is the lack of travel allowance for family
counsellors when financial and other counsellors have access to Government vehicles. At
the moment, Southern AG Care counsellors often pay for their own fuel to get to people who
need their help. A low cost option which has been suggested is to give the two Southern AG
Care staff the use of Government vehicles which otherwise would be auctioned off for their
residual value. Finally, the level of violence in country areas is rising as despairing country
parents vent their anger and frustration on their children and on each other.
Members may have heard that the recession is over and that things am much brighter on the
farms. From my observations this is definitely not so. Today in The West Australian under
the headline 'Rural suicides on rise" it was stated -

The incidence of domestic violence, male suicides and alcohol abuse have increased
in rural areas because of the collapse of the rural economy, according to a
psychiatrist.
Brent Waters, professor of child and adolescent psychiatry at NSW University, said
the steady decline in the rural economy in the past 10 years had had a big impact on
rural communities, particularly young people.
He said rural youths' insecurity about the future was being exacerbated by an
increase in family problems.
These factors have contributed to a big rise in the number of men who had committed
suicide ...
Professor Waters said young men living in small country communities were twice as
likely as their urban counterparts to commit suicide.

I have read that article so that members will understand the problem and how necessary this
support is. At this rural support team's meeting that I attended counsellors said they believed
in the urgent need to adapt and adopt the so-called Dulath model which is operating very
successfully in the agricultural middle west of the United States of America. Counselling is
mandatory for the aggressor as well as the victim. Meanwhile, the number of administrators
is kept to a minimum so that limited funds can be targeted at the grass roots level. The
powers of the police are strengthened and they may intervene more directly early enough to
stop domestic violence before it becomes an established pattern in the family. I realise that
funding is a problem for the Government and I offer a suggestion. The Western Australian
Rural Counselling Association sought a hearing with the Premier - which, I understand, has
been without success so far - to discuss funds held by the Treasury in trust on behalf of the
Rural Adjustment and Finance Corporation. At the moment, interest from these trust funds is
being consumed by the Consolidated Revenue Fund without it being reallocated to
agriculture in this State. Some 200 farmers throughout Western Australia are in danger of
losing their properties because of large debts and fluctuating commodity prices.
Hon Reg Davies: Isn't it amazing that we rode on the sheep's back for so many years and
now farmers need help and we cannot do anything.
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Hon MURIEL PATITERSON: I hope the Government does not abandon those people. The
Premier should act quickly on this matter and revolve funds held in trust along the lines of
what is being done in other States. I am amazed when I hear about the Government's
spending $400 000 to encourage husbands to spend more time at the kitchen sink and
$30 000 on researching the nutritional value of pub counter lunches. How much more value
would be the spending of $60 000 to help and encourage families and individuals through
these stressful times.
It is not good to end a speech without some good news and I bring to the House's attention
the work done by the Albany community release program. About three years ago I referred
to the commencement of that program which was then called the prisoners' release program.
In the past, attempts have been made to attack crime without attacking the causes of cnime.
The punitive approach - that is, the police, courts and prisons - does not combat the causes of
crime and, therefore, does not affect the rate of crime. The Albany release program has been
addressing those problems since 1987. A public meeting was called in 1989 at which a
number of leading citizens from Albany attended. From that developed a practical and
constructive program which is unique to Albany. It can best be described as building
bridges.
That program works in the following way: A number of people with various talents and
experiences make contact with the soon to be released prisoners. Upon entering prison, a
prisoner is allocated an officer who is responsible for the prisoner's welfare. However, on
release from prison the officer is to have no contact with the ex-prisoner other than, in some
cases, to drive the prisoner to the nearest town and drop him off at the (IS office. It would
be very difficult for members, in their comfortable surroundings, to realise how
overwhelming that experience would be to someone who has been in gaol and out of
circulation for some time. Could members imagine getting used to different noises, the
speed of cars, the distractions of general movement, having so many people around and
having so much unaccustomed freedom? In most cases the fear begins long before release
and many prisoners are probably wordied that their family and friends may not be waiting
and that they will have nowhere to stay.
This is where the Albany community release program visitors assist. They help in initially
preparing both families and prisoner with ways to cope. In many cases the families do not
live in Albany so prisoners must find a place to stay in Albany. In the past, that would often
be cheap digs at the back of a hotel. That was a trap. Usually a prisoner's resistance to
alcohol was low and his payment could be spent in one night. The committee decided that a
house was needed and when a Homeswesc house became available - it was very dilapidated
and in a bad state of disrepair - Phil Burton, an ex-prisoner himself and coordinator of the
program, asked businesses in Albany for support. Not only did the businesses give their
support but also some gave their time. A number of busy bees were held at that house to tidy
it up, repair and alter it. Bunnings was exceedingly generous and in recognition of that the
house has been named Bunnings House. Phil Burton initiated much of the painting and
repairing of the house which now boasts four bedrooms and a sleep out. The ex-pnisoners
who do not have a home to go to are invited to stay and are asked to pay a small rent to the
Albany community release program. They pay the caretaker two weeks in advance for food.
The length of their stay is flexible, but it is generally eight weeks. That provides ex-
prisoners time to adjust to freedom. It is their most vulnerable time because all of a sudden
they are thrust into society and are forced to become domestically responsible. They must
choose their own food, cook it, be motivated, work on a budget again and find a constructive
use of their time. Therv are many psychological factors that become problems. One ex-
prisoner has told me that even to this day he is still haunted by the sound of doors banging,
doors being locked and bells ringing. One can imagine how their moods would fluctuate
from being tremendously hopeful or without hope at all; depressed when expectations are not
realised and often having to cope with broken relationships when they discover the reality of
open society. It is during this time that those prisoners at the Albany community release
program look for employment opportunities. Despite the unemployment situation in Albany
those prisoners have remarkable success in obtaining work. The program is now looking at a
sponsorship employment scheme between the rural areas and the town. One of the
unexpected things that has developed from Bunnings House is that it is being used by people
other than ex-prisoners. It is not uncommon for friendships to form. When those people
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leave Bunnings House they often share houses. With the expansion of the Albany Regional
Prison it is anticipated that scheme will be extended.
As with all community projects, there are always movers and shakers. I do not want to refer
to all the people, but I pay particular tribute to two people. The first is Mr Bud Coe, who has
a consuming dedication to the rehabilitation of prisoners. Bud was an educator at the prison
and is now TAFE co-ordinator of the Aboriginal program in the great southern for the next
three years. The second person is Mrs Carol Pettersen, who is experienced in community
work and a past chairman of the Womnens Advisory Council to the Premier. Both these
outstanding people have an enviable ability to encourage people and to work with them, and
this has been of great benefit to the community. The committee comprises people who are
vitally interested in this program. This leads me to a side issue: The St John Ambulance
Association has, for the last eight months, been running a successful community based
program in Perth. Mr Adrian Hall, an ex-prisoner who has been working for the Albany
community release program, considers that this program would be an excellent disincentive
for would-be juvenile offenders. He is willing to organise the participants and the venue. A
request was made to the St John Ambulance Association for assistance in running a program
and it advised me that it did not want to set a precedent by operating in the country because
of the associated costs. I urge the Attorney General to extend this program to country areas.
Adrian Hall has a horrific list of offences but as a result of his experiences at the Pardelup
Prison Farm and with the community release program he has rehabilitated himself to a
remarkable level. He now visits the local schools and explains to the students what it is like
to be a criminal and he informs them of the penalties relevant to the offences. I understand
that his talks have had a profound impact on students. He is a remarkable young man who is
prepared to give his time to talk to people in the hope that they will avoid the sad experiences
he encountered. He is extremely fortunate in having the support of a delightful young
woman who has great faith in his rehabilitation and they have my greatest admiration. When
a young man like Adrian believes that the community based program will be a disincentive
to juvenile crime, it is imperative that it is implemented. A very appropriate proverb in this
case is, "Prevention is better than cure."
Last Sunday morning it was my pleasure to join many other visitors at a function to mark the
opening of the Denmark Lionsville Home for the Aged. The Lions Club, in conjunction with
Homeswest, has constructed a wonderful complex of duplex housing which is set among the
tall trees of Denmark. The quality architecture, which is conducive to social housing, can
only enrich the lives of the aged- The land was a contribution from the local shire and the
community effort, from so few, was incredible. Members of the Lions Club built the
carports. and are responsible for other improvements and the day to day running of this
complex. The Denmark Lions Club raised $100 000 for this project and Lions ladies have
raised over many years from cake stalls and other community. functions an amount of
$18 000. This money has been used to provide light fittings and curtains to these homes. It
is important for members to remember that the citizens of Denmark contributed their time to
fundraise. It was not done in business hours, but in unpaid time, which makes the generosity
to the elderly and to their town truly a magnificent gesture.
I support the Bill.
HON R.G. PIKE (North Metropolitan) [4.45 and: With regard to the recent statement by
Premier Lawrence on the prospective abolition of Queen's Counsel, the experience of recent
times has shown us that legal traditions are of supreme importance in providing one of the
few safeguards we have in upholding the rule of law. The only reason for ceasing the
appointment of QCs seems to be an hostility to years of tradition and excellence, yet tradition
and excellence should not be dirty words. From time to time people in the Government
make noises about promoting excellence. They now propose to do away with this tangible
sign of excellence and recognition, apparently out of a muddle headed deference to
republicanism o& egalitarianism. Many of those in favour of abolishing QCs are the people
who hate the idea of excellence and distinction; it is a politics of envy. The Liberal Party
believes in the pursuit of excellence and reward for effort and in the need to encourage
initiative and personal responsibility. We must beware those who demand retreat from the
high ground of individual excellence and achievement to the drab middle ground of universal
conformity.
To argue that QCs artificially inflate prices betrays ignorance of how the market -works and
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to confuse cause and effect QCs are briefed by other lawyers who have to pay their fees
whether they themselves are paid or not. As in any industry, a QC who charges more than he
is worth will get no briefs. By the same token, there is no reason a junior cannot charge as
much as a QC if he thinks he will get it. Obviously a lot of the top QCs around town will
charge much the same, whatever letters they have after their name.
The institution encourages a sense of obligation and helps promote a high standard of
conduct. A QC is aware that he or she is a person who has achieved the highest professional
recognition and is in a position of special eminence and miust and will have an incentive to
behave accordingly.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (H-on Garry Kelly): Order! Is the member reading his speech?
Hon R.G. PIKE: No, but I am referring to copious notes.
The alternative is for high charging lawyers whose skills are much in demand to simply
charge anything they can get. I think a very important point is that there are no QCs in
America, and yet legal costs for top lawyers are far higher than they are here, precisely
because of that fact There is not an institution like Queen's Counsel to force them into a
role which has a tradition of honour and service behind it and which confers professional
recognition in a way other than money. In fact, I predict that abolishing QCs will tend to
raise legal costs for top lawyers, not lower them.
It has been suggested that the legal profession should not be distinguished from ocher
professions by having their honorifics endorsed by the Crown. This ignores the fact that the
legal profession is inexorably tied in with the Crown. Each lawyer is an officer of the court
and each lawyer is admitted to his profession by the court and is subject to discipline and
control of his fees, again by the court. The court exercises the judicial power of the Crown
and it is appropriate that the Crown recognises advancement in the law, as much as it is for
the Crown to be involved in their admission to practice or elevation to the Bench. I do not
expect to hear Hon Joe Berinson suggest that the profession should decide who should be the
judges.
HON P.C. PENOAL (South Metropolitan) [4.49 aml: I support the Bill, which will grant
this Government Supply to the extent of some $3 000 million for the ensuing few months.
Before I touch on the only matter I want to raise in this debate, I put on record my concern
that we should be debating a Bill of this magnitude at 4.50 am. I suggest to the Leader of the
House that he has passed his capacity to organ ise the business of the House if he cannot do
something better than this. I recall early in this session that we were scratching round for
business to deal with. It is more than unacceptable that at the end of a session we should be
treating such an important Bill in a perfunctory way.
The only matter that I will draw to the attention of the House and to the attention of the
Government specifically is one that will have some profound impacts or effects on the life of
the metropolitan area and particularly the southern suburbs during the next 25 years; that is,
the Jandakot Airport master plan. Some important question marks hang over this major
planning process. I will relate to the House the views of the Jandakot Special Rural
Association, which has prepared a most professional submission to me about its concerns. In
that submission it spells out a number of serious and viable alternatives to those that have
been proposed by the Commonwealth Government, probably with the assistance of the State
Government.
The association acknowledges that Jandakot Airport was operating prior to the establishment
of the community that now surrounds it. Notwithstanding that, the association takes the view
that with the huge development plan envisaged for Jandakot the airport's neighbours are
potentially facing a massive increase in aircraft activity and further commercialisation of the
airport land which is likely to have a marked impact on the lives of people in the air-ea. I am
aware, for example, that the Federal Airports Corporation has appointed a firn of consultants
to prepare an environmental impact statement in conjunction with the Federal Department for
the Arts, Sport, the Environment and Territories. I will return to this question of a Federal
Government agency's capacity to have a major impact on the environment of a community
without having to abide by the laws of the State in a moment.
The members of this association put a number of reasons to me for this master plan to be
called into question. The first item already mentioned is the non-compliance of Federal
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authorities with State laws; in this case, State environment laws which I will return to in a
moment. The second concern is the growth or implementation of the master plan over what
we now know to be the Jandakor water mound. That is why this has implications for the
greater metropolitan area. These people tell me that during dry summers up to 50 per cent of
Perth's metropolitan water requirements are drawn from Unangara in the north and Jandakot
in the south. We have seen, for example, fuel contamination in Gnangara and, more recently,
a significant fuel leak emanating from an underground fuel tank at Jandakot Airport, which is
a matter of same concern for members of this association, many of whom live on special
rural properties dependent on that water drawn directly by their own bores. As any member
here would understand, there is deep concern about the fuel leak at the airport and future fuel
leaks if the master plan is allowed to proceed. I am told that if approval is ultimately given
for that plan additional fuel facilities will be required to cope with the eventual 60 per cent to
100 percent increase in aircraft activity.
These people ask me what action will be taken by the Jandakot airport authority to, first,
rectify the present leak and, secondly, mop up the plume already in the water mound. They
wish to know in the long term how fuel will be stored. They also raised with me the fact that
the majority of flying carried out at Jandakot Airport is pilot training and that there have been
a number of forced landings, one of which, I understand, occurred in April. Mercifully, so
far there has not been a major accident. Nonetheless, that inevitable build up of air traffic in
an area that is now widely settled will one day have the consequences suggested by these
people.
There are other problems associated with having the airport where it is, not least of which is
the great variation in noise levels associated with different kinds of aircraft. An associated
problem, of course, is the lead content of emissions from petrol which, as members know, is
harmful to health. All of this means a number of things. I put to the House that the State has
to find some more suitable land to satisfy future housing needs in the metropolitan area. The
land that could be freed up by shifting the Jandakot Airport may well be the land that we are
looking for.
Hon Reg Davies: Do you have suggestions for a future location?
Hon P.G. PENDAL: Yes, I have. Jandakot Airport covers 617 hectares, so it is a large
parcel of prime land within about a 20 minute drive of Perth. We are told the value of such
land may in current terms be $100 000 an acre. That would give it an overall value at present
of $150 million. The growing community feeling is that we ought, for fear that the ground
water mound may be contaminated, consider shifting the airport. We know that could be
done at probably no cost to the Government. Indeed, it may be at a great profit to'the
Government because of the freeing up of that land for residential purposes. Not all of the
land freed up should be considered for that low level residential development as there are
some important tracts of land there of environmental significance which ought to be included
in the proposed Jandakot botanic park being promoted by the Western Australian
Conservation Foundation. It is to the credit of the conservation council that it takes the view
that it would not object to seeing an appropriate form of development across the water
mound if the airport was removed. I think the building over the mound in a careful and
appropriate way is a concession on the part of the Conservation Council of Western Australia
that should be acknowledged by the wider community. If we moved the Jandakot Airport
out, it has been suggested we could relocate it to a place not so near Perth - for example,
Northam has been mentioned - and that too might go some way towards bringing about a
minor level of decentralisation which we do not seem to be able to achieve in this city, for
whatever reason.
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Garry Kelly): Order! Northam is too hilly for an airport.
Hon P.G. PENDAL: I am sure that the planners will take your views into account, Mr
Deputy President, because you probably will not be here next year to represent those views
to the Parliament.
I draw that matter to the attention of the House. It is a problem that will not go away and it is
something for which we have a solution within our grasp. That solution would be a financial
way out for the Commonwealth Government, would relieve the burden on the State
Government of protecting the mound against any fuel leakages, and would satisfy the
conservation movement in this State that we are protecting its interests.
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Finally, I return to the matter to which I referred earlier; that is, the question of Federal
Government agencies, in this case the Federal Airports Corporation, not having to abide by
State environmental or pollution laws. That is at the heart of what I am tailking about here,
and that is at the heart of the concern of the rural associations' membership - the ground
water could be polluted in a way that we know has happened in the past. From an
Opposition point of view I am pleased to say that the Federal and State Oppositions have
taken the stance that there is an urgent need for all Commonwealth bodies to be bound by
State pollution control laws. I particularly congratulate my Federal counterpart, Fred
Chaney, who recently has been prepared to bite the bullet on that matter and to say publicly
that it is unacceptable for any Federal authority, including the Federal Airports Corporation,
to be able to ignore environmental compliance at its own choosing. I note that Mr Chaney
has said that in this matter the Federal Airports Corporation itself says it will abide by
Western Australian Water Authority standards; but in the view of Mr Chaney - and it is a
view I share - there should not be a discretionary escape route for any Commonwealth
organisation. There is no justification for the national Government to be placed above the
law which applies to the rest of us; or, for that matter, which should apply to the State as a
corporate entity.
I note that in December 1990 in the House of Representatives Mr Chancy moved an
amendment to legislation then before that Federal House that would have bound the
Commonwealth to abide by State pollution and environmental laws. At the time the Federal
Minister for the Environment, Hon Ros Kelly, said that although she agreed with the
proposition, the Government could not accept it. I san told that the legislation was later
dropped by the Federal Government, which in fact has taken no action to eliminate what is
clearly a double standard in its own approach to environmental protection.
I am told by Mr Chaney that there is a provision in what is called the Intergovernmental
Agreement on the Environment, which is shortly to be signed by the Federal Minister and the
State Ministers, for the granting of what Mrs Kelly calls "full faith and credit" to State laws;
but I am pleased to say that Mr Chancy takes the view - and it is one the State Opposition
supports in its entirety - that that proposal for full faith and credit is not enough. There needs
to be a specific removal of Commonwealth immunity with respect to pollution control and it
is a matter L, as the Opposition spokesman on the Environment, intend to follow up and to
pursue through the Parliament in the next session.
In summary, this is a serious problem for a place like Jandakot; a problem that in the long
term, with increased airport activity and expanded airport facilities, threatens those very
precious ground water supplies upon which this city depends. There is a solution, which I
have outlined tonight and which does not prohibit or embargo future development on the
mound. That solution would put the Commonwealth ahead financially and still allow some
of that land to be incorporated into a botanical park and have the rest given over to low level
and appropriately secured residential development. I commend those ideas to the
Government and ask it to take them seriously. I ask that they be referred to the appropriate
Ministers in the Western Australian Government. As well, I leave as a parting gesture to the
Minister for the Environment, Hon Bob Pearce, the thought that he must not sign that
Intergovernmental Agreement on the Environment with the other States and Mrs Kelly until
we have secured a position where the Commonwealth must abide by State pollution laws just
as we expect everybody else to do. I support the Bill.
[Quorum formed.]
HON DERR[CK TOMLINSON (East Metropolitan) [5.08 am]: In speaking to this Bill,
the purpose of which is to grant the Government the sum of $3.1 billion for Supply, I cannot
pretend any enthusiasm for the task. I would be much more enthusiastic were I speaking to
reject Supply. It would be foolish, however, to pretend that a rejection of Supply would be
seriously contemplated by any Opposition in the current political climate. However, if the
circumstances existed in which an expression of no confidence in Government were justified.
there is no clearer explanation of people who are in the wrong place in this House than
pseudo-journalists who, in spite of their appearance of being intellectually depraved, would
not fool anybody about their lack of capacity to string a sentence together.
There is no better illustration of the reason for an expression of ino confidence in the
Government than that demonstrated in our public health system - to use the words of the
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State Minister for Health - outlined in an article which appeared in the Sunday Times on
31 May in which be predicted that the public hospital system would collapse unless the
Federal Government made major changes to the health system. It is not merely that the
public health system is threatened with collapse but also that the State Minister for Health
seeks to blame someone else or some other institution for that critical situation. I want to
correct a longstanding impression which is abroad in our community.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Is the member saying that Commonwealth funding through Medicare
for public hospitals is adequate?
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Not at all; neither would!I be so deceitful as to stand here
and say that Medicare is an adequate system; neither would I be so deceitful as to support the
MHR for Canning when he says that doubling the Medicare levy would solve the problem,
because doing that would not meet the shortfall between the expenditure on the health system
and the income from the levy. Doubling the levy would not go anywhere near meeting the
cost. I do not pretend that Medicare or "medimess" is not a major factor in the crisis in the
health system in this State, but I make the point that the crisis in the public hospital system is
not due to a shortage of beds. The queue is referred to in an article in the Sunday Times,
under the heading "Surgery queues grow in dispute". The article reads -

The health department said its latest estimate of people waiting for hospital treatment
was 11,800 at the end of April.

That was not due to the lack of beds.
Hon J.M. Berinson: It is a lack of capacity to service them.
IHon DERRICK TOMLINSON, It is certainly that. The article in the Sunday Times
contrasts with the honest statement of the Attorney General that it is a lack of capacity to
service them. The statement reads -

The record queue comes at the start of winter when Perth hospitals tend to fill up with
emergencies and non-urgent Surgery has to be postponed because of a lack of beds.

There is no lack of beds; neither is there a lack of capital outlay to increase the capacity of
our hospitals or to upgrade them.
Referring to the 1990-91 annual report of the Health Department, capital projects in that year
totalled $43 711 022; that is, close to $43.8 million. That amount provided an upgrade of the
health service at Coolgardie; $1.7 million for a cardiac catheter laboratory at Fremantle
Hospital; an amount of $105 880 000 for the Royal Perth Hospital north block; Sir Charles
Gairdner, radiotherapy equipment $2.5 million; Fremantle Hospital redevelopment $2.5
million; and an additional $9.9 million for the redevelopment of the Hospital Linen and
Laundry Service. That is a total expenditure of $43.8 million in one year. The amount of
expenditure at the Royal Perth Hospital north block included the provision of 12 theatres. At
present, three of the theatres are not in use. Turning to another major teaching hospital in the
Perth metropolitan area, Fremantle Hospital has three theatres functioning. Theatres at the
Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital are not being used. Not only do we find theatres not being
used but also wards are closed and beds are vacant; so, the capacity is there.
We should consider the consequences of the queues, and the people who have been waiting
for some time for what is called elective surgery. A leading ophthalmic surgeon, who will
remain anonymous to protect the ethics of the profession, had a list on Monday morning for
elective ophthalmic surgery. The nature of ophthalmic surgery is that a large number of the
patients are elderly. As some of us are discovering as we grow older, one of the faculties
which deteriorates is eyesight- The queue for surgery that day largely comprised elderly
people, people on Medicare or pensioner health services. Unfortunately, two emergency
cases were admitted to the hospital on the Sunday evening. Those cases took priority; so,
instead of the ophthalmic surgeon merely working a couple of extra hours in surgery, as in
the past, he had to deal with the emergency cases firt. As the surgeon had to deal with the
emergency case first, and as this took an hour of his scheduled operating time, the people
who had been prepped for surgery were told, "I am dreadfully sorry, but you cannot be done
today." Why? It was not because the surgeon was tired. He probably was, but he is
accustomed to long hours of surgery. He could not complete his elective surgery on the
Monday simply because the hospital cannot afford to meet the costs of overtime, sutures,
medication and anaesthetic which is beyond the scheduled number of operations. The human
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consequences for these people are distressing; they had prepared themselves for surgery and
had been prepared by undergoing the preliminary stages of anaesthesia, but they were told,
"We are sorry, we are not going to do you today. We will take you back to the ward."
Hon Peter Foss: When were they treated, was it a month later?
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: They had to be rescheduled. A constituent from High
Wycombe rang me the other day in considerable anxiety because his mother had presented
herself for elective surgery the day before only to be told, "We are so sorry dear, but we
cannot do you today. We will contact you and let you know.' A week later he range me and
said. "Could you do something about it?" I am not a miracle worker, and I could do little
apart from sympathise. However, I rang the hospital and asked whether anything could be
done to relieve his anxiety. The answer was no. They said that they could not program
advance elective surgery with sufficient confidence to ensure that schedules were met. This
was simply because emergency surgery arises. Therefore, the elective surgery must be
delayed and considerable anxiety must be added to the patient awaiting surgery in our public
hospitals.Beds are empty. The surgical ward at Swan Districts Hospital, containing 16 beds,
was closed two years ago as a temporary measure to accommodate overruns an expenditure
in that financial year. The ward closed in May of that year and the people of the Swan
districts were told that it would reopen in the next financial year. However, two years later
the surgical ward remains closed.
Hon J.M. Berinson: What is your suggested solution, Mr Tomlinson?
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: My suggested solution is that we should block Supply! We
should put this Government to the test and we could then bring in a Government which has a
responsible attitude to economic management!
Hon J.M. Berinson: Is that your serious proposal as a solution for something which I took
you to advance as a serious problem?
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: It is a serious answer. Unfortunately, not enough of my
colleagues will take the challenge to throw the Attorney General and his incompetent
economic managers out of office. In all fairness to Hon Joe Berinson, I acknowledge that no
simple solution exists to this funding crisis in the hospital system. Even if a change of
Government occurred and a new approach were taken to fiscal and public sector financial
management, there would be no miracle solution to the problem. However, a responsibility
rests on any Minister, whether he or she is a Minister in a Labor or Liberal Party
Government. to at least be honest about the problems involved - as Hon Joe Berinson was a
few minutes ago. Ministers should say that the crisis in health care and in public hospitals is
not due to a shortage of beds or to an unprecedented demand on the operating theatres of our
public hospitals. Certainly, a shift has occurred to private health insurance to Medicare,
which has meant an increased percentage of the population is demanding or needing care in
the public hospital system rather than that of the private system. Certainly, that shift from
private to the public sector has exacerbated the problem. However, the truth at the heart of
this problem is the inability of the Government to meet the costs of care. The consequences
of the inability of the Government to meet the costs of care is the closure of wards.
Hon J.M. Berinson: That is a symptom. The care could only come through adequate
Commonwealth funding. It is the Commonwealth which imposes the level of demand on the
public hospitals, and which at the moment is inadequately meeting costs.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I am grateful for the Attorney General's interjection
because it demonstrates another Government inadequacy. Not only is the Government
placing the blame and the responsibility for the crisis in the public hospital system on
incorrect causes, but also, instead of referring to the causes - to which Hon Joe Berinson
referred - it is now saying that every problem in finance in this State is the fault of the
Commonwealth. We could talk about the problems in technical and further education.
Hon J.M. Berinson: We are talking about public hospitals.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: We can say that the Commonwealth is not giving us enough
money. We can say that the Commonwealth has increasingly refused the process of funding
for the TAFE sector, and as a consequence of the withdrawal of .the Commonwealth's
funding a crisis looming in technical and further education. The only solution that the State
Government can find is for more funding by the Commonwealth. The legal aid system has
an increasing demand for a finite sum of legal aid. The Legal Aid Commission is rationing
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funds and discriminating against applicants who under all reasonable tests qualify for aid.
Hon J.M. Berinson: You will be aware that in spite of that fact the State share of legal aid
funding has increased in the last five years.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Sure, legal aid funding has increased.
Hon J.M. Berinson: Na, I am saying the State share has increased.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: What has the State done? It has looked for other sources of
funds. For example, it introduced changes to the legal contribution fund and the Opposition
supported that.
Hon J.M. Berinson: But that is not meeting the extra State share.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: What justification was given by the Attorney General for
that need to look for alternative sources of funds? The justification was that the
Commonwealth's contribution to legal aid was diminishing proportionately. Again, instead
of the State owning up and saying. "Look, we have some responsibility for the inadequacies
of the public programs", the Government turns to the Commonwealth and says it is to blame.
Hon J.M. Berinsan: No we don't.
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: It is a great diversionary tactic. When the Government's
health, school and port system is in crisis, it turns to the centre and says. 'They don't give us
enough money." The proposal for a centralised tax levy and the redistribution of the tax levy
formula does not give the State an adequate shame of funds to meet its costs. An intelligent
State Government would meet with the Federal Government and work out an alternative.
The Government should not just sit there and say, "It's the Federal Government's fault that
we have only three operating theatres at Fremantle Hospital, that 12 operating theatres in the
north block of Royal Perth Hospital are not being used and that the surgical ward at Swan
District Hospital has been closed for two years." That is a nothing more than utter
codswallop, and I make no apologies for the language I used.
I acknowledge that the State is constrained in the financial options available to it. We are
still in the worst recession since the 1930s. We have one in 10 of our adults and one in three
of our youth unemployed. We have a burgeoning demand upon social welfare expenditure
and that must come out of the public sector at the expense of competing demands of other
agencies. I acknowledge the financial plight in which the State Government finds itself. I
also acknowledge that the State Government this year, for the second year in succession, has
not been able to meet its promised payment for the Petrochemical Industries Co Ltd debts. I
acknowledge that the Stat Government had to borrow twice to ensure the liquidity of the
State Government Insurance Office and the R & I Bank Ltd. I acknowledge the State
Government had to use capital loan borrowings to meet its recurrent expenditure. I
acknowledge that is nothing more than financial incompetence. Were I free to follow my
conscience I would not be supporting this Supply Bill.
Hon Reg Davies: But Liberals can do that any time they like, can't they?
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Unfortunately, because of the realities of the political
circumstances I support the Bill.
HON BARRY HOUSE (South West) [5.35 am]: I will deal with three important issues
during this general debate, and the first one is a good-news story. I will start by paying credit
to Ross Payton from Payton Finance, Bunbury. In the midst of the disasters from the 1980s
Payton Finance stands out like a beacon in its honesty and good management. Members will
remember that the collapse of Payton Finance occurred in 1986. Payton Finance formed a
very important part of the Bunbury and south west business communities. It was a huge
blow to the general community because not only were businesses involved with Payton
Finance but also many community groups such as hockey clubs had invested money with the
company and had grown to rely on it very heavily. An article in the South Western Times on
Thursday, 28 May headed "The fall and rise" states -

Ross Payton climbs back
With the announcement that Payton Finance has paid creditors the full amount of its
1986 bankruptcy agreement, former owner Ross Payton has broken his long-standing
silence.
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Ross Payton feels like a great weight has been lifted from his shoulders.
For almost six years since the collapse of Payton Finance he has carried a personal
responsibility for the distribution of assets from the business his father Norm Payton
established in 1939.
it is an indication of his success that former creditors ask him when he will start
accepting their money again.
... But compared to many recent insolvencies, the wind down of Payton Finance has
been conducted with dignity and inspired old-fashioned loyalty from creditors.
He is proud of his achievement.

He has every right to be proud. The article continues -

A total of $25m, including principal and five months' interest, has been paid and a
relatively small amount still remains to be distributed.

The article continues -

"We continued paying almost on a quarterly basis," Mr Payton said.
"Of 2500 creditors, it was a pleasure to deal with 2499 - the odd person will never be
happy with anything.
Trustee Stan Robson has only praise for everyone involved with the agreement which
was arranged under Part Ten of the Bankruptcy Act.
It allows the business to be wound down without being declared bankrupt.
"It was probably the biggest, most successful, Part Ten in Australia," he said.
The decision to cease normal trading in 1986 was made when interest rates were in an
upward spiral, there was a rural downturn and the real estate industry was depressed.

The article illustrates very clearly that Payton Finance was able to pay out all its creditors in
full and has done it virtually on its own. At the time of the collapse in 1986 many thought
that the Government should step in and assist with the rescue of Payton Finance, but wisely
Payton Finance resisted and it was given time to work its way out of debt. The latest good
news completely vindicates Paytons' stand at that time and its management since, because if
it had accepted Government assistance it would have ended up discredited like so many other
big players who got involved with business in the 1980s. Who knows? The firm could have
ended up like the Swan Building Society and the Teachers Credit Society, which are now
items of reference to the Royal Commission. It is a very significant event in the south west
Ross Payton, on behalf of Payton Finance, can hold his head high and deserves
congratulations.
The second article that I bring to the notice of the House is a newspaper article which reports
on a financial settlement in Victoria. This is important because it has huge ramifications in
Western Australia and, in particular, for many farmers in the south west region. It also has
huge ramifications for the Government of Western Australia and particularly the Department
of Agriculture. An article from The Australian Financial Review of 2 June headed "Vie
offers landmark settlement to farmers" states -

The Victorian Government has offered a $1.75 million settlement to 51 potato
farmers who claimed their land became contaminated with the chemical dieldrin,
lawyers representing the farmers said yesterday.
The Victorian Farmers Federation said the farmers applied dieidrin between 1965 and
1987 on the advice of the State Department of Agriculture and Rural Affairs.
They claimed damages because their land was contaminated with dieldrin used by
them on the advice of the department from 1985 to 1987, a federation spokesman, Mr
Clay Manners, said.
Dieldrin was now generally banned for agricultural use because of its toxic effect on
humans, he said.

Further on, the article states -
The Dieldrin Action Group's chairman, Mr John Dawson, said the offer was an
achievement for farmers.

3456 [COUNCIL]



[Thursday, 4 June 1992]145

'Many of these farmers have been deprived of a substantial part of their livelihood
since 1987 and this settlement provides new hope," Mr Dawson said.
"It provides for a financial package of compensation to the farmers as well as a
scheme to enable cattle to be put back on the land."

When I was first elected in 1987, one of the burning issues during the election campaign in
the south west was the level of organochlorine residues in beef cattle. There was a
considerable school of thought that the issue was a beat up by the industry in the United
States of America as a tactic in a trade war. That probably has some credibility. However,
the bottom line was that a lot of harm was done to Australia's beef industry in general and
particularly to many south west farmers because they were harder hit than most. 'Me use of
chemicals in the form of dieldrin in particular, DDT, heptachlor and other organochlorines
by mostly potato growers was based on a recommendation and advice from the WA
Department of Agriculture. Dieldrin had been applied 20 or 30 years ago and in some cases,
50 years ago, but residue levels that were returned were higher than the US Health
Department levels and a huge scare went through the beef industry. In Western Australia,
many farmers were affected by, first of all, the advice and recommendations of the
Department of Agriculture. As I have said, most of the potato growing fraternity used
organochiorines in the form of dieltirin, DDT and heptachlor in large quantities. It also
involved areas being sprayed with dieldrin for argentine ants and areas around power poles
being sprayed by SECWA. Telecom and the Health Department were also involved to some
extent.
The international trade in beef was restricted for some time as a result of this scare. It was
only by careful management and diplomacy that some degree of credibility in the market was
eventually restored. The Department of Agriculture played a very important role in the
restoration of that situation and handled its part of the recovery very well. However,
nowhere did the Department of Agriculture or any other Government department accept
responsibility for any incorrect advice that was given to the agricultural sector which thought
it was doing the right thing by following that advice. How did it affect farmers? Anyone
with affected land had beef which tested too high. It meant that they could not sell the beef
that were ready to be turned onto the market and many beef cattle had to be destroyed.
Compulsory levies, another form of tax, were imposed; whole herds were lost overnight;
farmers were forced to restructure their operations; some farmers were forced to go into
sheep, some into growing vines and others into alternative forms of land use on that affected
land. However, the end result was that many farmers were forced into difficult economic
times through no fault of their own.
An example involves a dairy farmer who I believe was one of the worst affected. He bought
a property some years ago and together with his son and other members of his family
developed it into an excellent dairy. At its prime, the property had 100 head of prime dairy
cattle. As it turned out, during the time of the previous owner of the property, approximately
25 years previously, the property had been sprayed with dieldrin for argentine ants by the
Department of Agriculture. Twenty-five years on from that time this farmer was stopped
from supplying milk which was his livelihood because the chemical test results of residue
levels were suddenly reported to be too high to meet the local standards. That raised a few
questions. First, what happened to the test results for the previous 25 years? They were
taken on a regular basis and nothing untoward was reported. The only conclusion I can reach
is that the tests must have been doctored in some way over those years to cover up the mea]
situation. I believe this farmer has a very valid case for compensation along the lines of the
Victorian experience. This judgment is the forerunner of judgments across Australia for
these sorts of affected areas. I will certainly urge all landowners affected by the chemical
residue levels to have another look at their situations and take up the cause. I certainly urge
the State Government to have a close look at its potential liability because in the light of the
evidence that has been presented in the last couple of days, I believe there is some potential
for liability.
The third issue I wish to raise involves my new responsibility as Opposition spokesman for
conservation and land management issues. I have had the responsibility for only a little over
a week.
Hon J.M. Berinson:. You should be an expert then.
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Hon BARRY HOUSE: Absolutely. One of the first issues that arose was one in my own
backyard. I live at Yallingup and last weekend I was approached by several people from the
local community who amr concerned about the activities of the Department of Conservation
and Land Management in the Lecuiwin-Natualiste National Park, which is between
Yallingup and Cape Nacuraliste. Last week CALM brought in machinery to close the coastal
track from Yallingup to Three Beams, which is a popular surfing spot on the coast. The track
was dug up and logs were placed in strategic places to stop people from driving their vehicles
on it. In addition CALM semi-cleared an area - it is called scrub rolling - about 30 metres
wide on an inland track which runs alongside an already existing track. I originally thought
the clearing was for another road down the steep escarpment, and was concerned that it
would have been subject to erosion.
I asked a question in this House and have spoken to the CALM officers concerned and I am
satisfied that it is not a clearing, but is scrub rolling. The scrub is rolled to form a buffer
zone in preparation for prescribed burning, which will be carried out in the winter months, if
there are a couple of dry weeks, or in spring. I was also concerned about the possibility of
dieback being spread by the machinery. To some extent I have been reassured that CALM
takes precautions in this regard and is environmentally responsible. It is an environmentally
sensitive area and the last thing I want is the spread of ieback, which has already claimed so
much of our national parks.
My major concern is the closure of the track from Yallingup to Three Bears, because it is
against the wishes of the community. It is also against the wishes of the Busselton Shire
Council and its concern goes back to the days when I was a councillor before I was elected to
this House.
Hon Doug Wenn: Have you spoken to Councillor Terry House on this?
Hon BARRY HOUSE: No, I have not. He was on the Busselton Shire Council when I was.
The Busselton Shire Council has always opted for a coastal road between Yallingup and
Sugar Loaf and that is still its position. It runs counter to CALM's proposal, which is for a
moad further inland with a couple of spur roads leading to the coast.
The local surfing fraternity is very much in favour of the coastal road option. By the local
surfing fraternity I do not mean the surfers who blow into the town for a couple of days, but
the long term residents, who are responsible people. Three people who come to mind are
Kevin Merrifield, Cliff Hills and Ron Ellis, who have lived in the area for 20 or 30 years and
are environmentally aware. The moad is also used by fishermen. This option is supported by
the bush fire brigade at Yallingup, which recognises the need to keep the coastal road open.
This option is supported also by tourism interests in the area who are keen for a coastal
scenic drive from Yallingup to Sugar Loaf.
Hon Doug Wenn: You are wrong and I suggest that you speak to representatives of the
advisory committee. It has fully discussed the matter with CALM, the surfing fraternity and
the local council.
Hon BARRY HOUSE: It has not been supported by anyone other than CALM. I understand
that CALM garnered some support from the Yallingup, Progress Association at a meeting
which was poorly attended. Following that meeting a well attended meeting held at
Yallingup, overwhelmingly rejected CALM's option, preferring the coastal option. A
representative from CALM addressed the meeting, but apparently he had his blinkers on. I
have a very high regard for people like Ian Rothierhanm, the district CALM officer based at
Busselton, and Neil Taylor who operates out of that area. These people have a lot of
experience and knowledge in managing the national parks in the area and generally they do a
good job. However, on this issue they appear to have their blinkers on and I think they are
wrong.
CALM recently spent $35 000 on the road and the work it has done is futile. Already an
attempt has been made to unblock the road and a couple of the logs in the car park area have
been hauled away. Apparently the police are involved in this matter.
Hon Doug Wenn: It does not mean that CALM has done that. Someone could have gone in
with a chain saw.
Hon BARRY HOUSE: I did not say that CALM removed the logs; I said that someone had
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already removed them. I guarantee that within a couple of weeks another crack will be found
around that moad. CALM does not have the resources to police this area. It is acknowledged
by CALM that a road along the coast must be kept open for safety reasons; for example, to
attend to surfing accidents and bushflres. The road cannot be kept open for emergency
vehicles unless someone is policing it. I suggest that by default the track will be open very
soon.
The surfing fraternity will not opt for CALM's proposal to travel another five to
10 kilometres on the main road. Each day they stand on a high point around Yallingup to
check out the surf and if it looks good at Three Bears they go there immediately via the
shortest route.
I certainly hope that CALM acknowledges the overwhelming wish of the community and
chat it will link the coastal road to the road between Yallingup and Caves Road. It can be
done by installing speed humps or some safety precaution to prevent motorists from speeding
through the townsite. Limestone outcrops are responsible for two of the three problems
associated with the Three Bears track. The other is a blowout area. With the cooperation of
the local suffers and other residents - I understand their Cooperation has been offered - they
could build up and maintain a decent crack. They could use volunteer equipment, materials
and time to upgrade the road and maintain it in a good conchtdon.
Many things seem to point towards the ridge option of CALM as being more
environmentally sensitive than the coastal option because the coastal option is not as exposed
to the elements, and it is always more difficult to build and maintain a road on a higher level.
The end result is that I appeal to CALM to work with the residents, the shire council, bush
fires brigade and surfing fraternity to decide on a logical option. I think the coastal road will
best serve the residents and the large number of visitors to Yallingup. Yaulingup attracts
visitors of all ages, from one year to 100 years, and from all backgrounds. It is not an
exclusive enclave for a few people. It is one of the most scenic and attractive spots on our
coastline and, therefore, it should be available for everybody to enjoy. That concludes my
comments on the three local issues I wanted to raise in this general debate. I support the Bill.
HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Attorney General) [6.01 am]: I realised a
few minutes ago that this is the last Supply Bill debate in which I will take part. I thank all
members who have spoken in this debate for ensuring that I am able to face that with such
complete equanimity and, indeed, pleasure. I commend the Bill to the House.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

Committee and Report
Bill passed through Committee without debate, reported without amendment, and the report
adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Attorney General), and passed.

ROAD TRAFFIC AMENDMENT BILL
Returned

Bill returned from the Assembly without amrendmnent.

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY BILL 1991
Assembly's Message

Message from the Assembly received and read notifying that it had agreed to the
amendments made by the Council.

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE - SPECIAL
On motion by Hon J.M. Berinson (Leader of the House), resolved -

That the House at its rising adjourn until a date and time to be fixed by the President.

3459



3460 [COUNCIL]

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE - ORDINARY

HON J.M. BERINSON (North Metropolitan - Leader of the House) [6.03 am]: I move -
That the House do now adjourn.

Adjourrnment Debate - Rodd, Abigail - Resignation

HON SAM PIANTADOSI (North Metropolitan) [6.04 am]: I bring to the attention of the
House that one of the Chamber staff, Ms Abigail Robb, will leave the employment of
Parliament House today. This is her final day and!I am sure I speak an behalf of all members
in wishing her well in her new career as a legal eagle. While working in this Chamber no
doubt she has had the opportunity to observe the finer points in the debating skills of' certain
members in this House.
Members: Hear, hear!
[Applause.]
Question put and passed.

House adjourned at 6.05 am (Friday)
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

POLICE - MIR WING
Pilots

326. Hon P.H. LOCKYER to the Minister for Police:
(1) How many pilots operate in the police air wing?
(2) How many of these pilots were members of the Police Force prior to

qualifying as pilots?
(3) Were any pilots employed because they were qualified pilots?
(4) Do all police air wing pilots hold commercial pilots licences?
(5) How many pilots hold instrument ratings?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1) (a) Six fixed wing pilots.

(b) Three helicopter pilots.
(2) Six were police officers prior to qualifying as pilots.
(3) Yes, one.
(4) Yes.
(5) Seven pilots hold a command instrument rating. One fixed wing pilot is

currently studying for his rating.

POLICE - CARNARVON
'Juvenile Complaints

327. Hon P.11. LOCKYER to the Minister for Police:
(1) Has the Minister received any complaints from Carnarvon residents with

regard to the behaviour of juveniles in Carnarvon and the concern that local
police were unable to deal with them due to constrictions placed in their way
by legislation which appears to restrict police doing their job?

(2) Will the Minister undertake to have urgent consultations with Carnarvon
residents with regard to solving their concerns?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1) No. The member needs to be more specific as to dates and locality and also

particulars of legislation allegedly restricting police in their operations.
(2) 1 will consider this if any formal approach is made to my office.

SCHOOLS - ONSLOW
Homework Club

334. Hon P.11. LOCKYER to the Minister for Education:
(1) Is an arrangement in place for a homework club to be put in place for students

at the Onslow school?
(2) If yes, who is going to fund this arrangement?
(3) Will it be available to all students?
(4) If no, why not?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) Yes. The homework club has been in place since Monday, 11I May 1992. It

takes place for one and a half hours on Mondays, Tuesday, Wednesdays and
Thursdays in the school library.

(2) The homework club is funded through the Aboriginal tutorial assistance
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scheme which is a Department of Employment, Vocational Education and
Training program. This program is based on funding made available by the
Commonwealth Government for the specific purpose of improving
educational outcomes for Aboriginal students.

(3) Non-Aboriginal students can attend if the school's Aboriginal parent
committee arees. At the moment non-Aboriginal students are attending.
The Aboriginal parent committee will be asked to agree to this formally at its
next meeting which will be arranged in two to three weeks' time.

(4) Not applicable.

POLICE - HIGH SPEED CHASES
Discharge of Firearms Records

338. Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON to the Minister for Police:
(1) How many reports of discharge of firearms by police officers during high

speed motor vehicle pursuits were recorded in each of the years ftonm 1989 to
1992, inclusive?

(2) Are details of the circumstance of each episode/incident recorded?
(3) If yes, what were the details of each episode/incident recorded above?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1) 1989 1

1990 4
1991 4
1992 Nil recorded.

(2) Yes.
(3) These derails arc not for public release. However, I am prepared to provide

information to the member on a personal basis.

FIREWOOD - CONSUMER AFFAIRS, MINISTRY FOR
Underweight Deliveries Complants

343. Hon P.O. PENDAL to Hon John Walden representing the Minister for Consumer
Affairs:
(1) Has the Minister's department received any complaints over firewood

deliveries that are below the stated weight?
(2) If so, how many complaints have been received in the past two years?
(3) What action, if any, is taken by the Minister's department to ensure that

cons umers do not receive less firewood than the stated amount?
Hon JOHN WALDEN replied:
(1) Yes.
(2) The ministry's trade measurement unit has received 14 complaints regarding

short weight firewood since 1 July 1990.
(3) Action taken by the ministry's trade measurement unit has included -

Running consumer awareness campaigns in the classified ads firewood
column advising purchasers of the requirements of the Weights and
Measures Act.
Two prosecutions of sellers have been instituted with the following
results -

1988 - one charge with fines of $100 and costs of $40.20.
1990 - two charges with fines of $120 on each charge and costs
of $24.20.
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WATER NYMPHS (PAINTING) - BY NORMAN LINDSAY
Art Gallery of Western Australian - Vincent Family Donation 1960s

347. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for The Arts:
(1) Is it correct that during the 1960s a Normian Lindsay work entitled "Water

Nymphs" was donated to the Western Australian Art Gallery by the family of
the lace Seddon Vincent?

(2) If so, what is the whereabouts of that piece of art today?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
(1) The Art Galler of Western Australia advises that no records held by the

gallery disclose such a donation. A watercolour work by Norman Lindsay
entitled "Storm Witches" was presented by Mrs F.M. Vincent in memory of
her late husband Senator Seddoni Vincent in 1980. This work is housed in the
gallery's print collection.

(2) Not known.
TRUSTEE INVESTMENT STATUS - REVIEW

Attorney General's Announcement - Rules or Laws Changes and Summary
349. Hon N.F. MOORE to the Attorney General:

(1) Following the closure of the Permanent Building Society, or at some other
time, did the Attorney Genera] announce a review of the rules or laws relating
to trustee investment status?

(2) Has any review been undertaken, and if so, with what result?
(3) Has any change been made to the rules or laws affecting trustee investment

status?
(4) If so, what was that change?
(5) Is there available any summary or statement of the rules or laws governing

trustee investment status?
(6) If so, will the Attorney General table a copy?
Hon. J.M. BERINSON replied:

The law regarding authorised trustee investment status is now being reviewed
by the Special Premiers' Conference working group on non-bank financial
institutions with a view to reporting to the Premiers on the introduction of
uniform standards. fle question of authorised trustee investment status has
been the subject of review for some time, but has now been deferred pending
the outcome of the Special Premiers' Conference process.

No.
(6) Not applicable.

JUVENILE OFFENDERS - PUBLIC OFFICER ASSAULT, 12 MARCH CHARGE
Crimes (Serious and Repeat Offenders) Semencing Act (Third Schedule - Serious Violent

Offences) - First Conviction
359. Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON to the Attorney General:

Can the Attorney General confirm that a 17 year old youth, charged under
section 318 with assaulting a public officer on 12 March 1992 and listed for
trial at the Armadale Children's Court in August, will, if convicted, be the first
juvenile to be dealt with as a serious repeat offender (Third Schedule - Serious
Violent Offences) under the Crimes (Serious and Repeat Offenders)
Sentencing Act 1992?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
I am unable to confirm the information from detail available to the Crown
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Law Department or the courts. Further requests for information should be
directed co the police as the prosecuting authority.

WELLS, ROY - HEAP, MAL
District Court Judgment - Damages Award; Legal Expenses Er Grai'ia Payment

360. Hon P.O. PENDAL to the Attorney General:
I refer to a District Court judgment on 4 May by His Honour, Judge Blaxell, in
the matter of Roy Wells (Plaintiff) and Mal Heap (Defendant) and ask -
(1) Is the Attorney General aware that Mr Wells received judgment and was

awarded $3 000 damnages?
(2) Is the Attorney General also aware that Mr Heap was a Government

inspector with the weights and measures branch of the Ministry of
Consumer Affairs?

(3) Is the Attorney General further aware that despite the award of $3 000,
Mr Wells is approximately $5 000 out of pocket for legal expenses?

(4) Will the Attorney General consider recommending an ex gratia payment
to cover such costs?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
(l)-(2)

Yes.
(3) No. The amount of $3 000 would seem to refer to the award of damages. In

addition, costs which are subject to taxation were awarded to Mr Wells by the
court. I am advised that a bill of costs has been submitted by the plaintiff for
taxation by a registrar of the District Court.

(4) Not applicable.

POLICE - RECRUITMENT COURSES, POLICE ACADEMY, MAYLANDS
Budget~ Allocation and Expenditure

370. Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON to the inister for Police:
(I) What was the Budget allocation and actual expenditure for police recruitment

courses at the Police Academy, Maylands for each of the financial years 19 89-
1990, 1990-1991 and 1991-1992?

(2) How many courses were run in each of those years?
(3) How many police cadets commenced and how many graduated from each of

those courses?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

(1) BudgexhAllocation ActuaalExpndr
1989-90 $22400 $39981
1990-91 $52200 $45391
1991-92 $23700 $26114

(2) Ycam iaadon
1989-90 2 courses
1990-91 2 courses
1991-92 1 course

(3) Ycar~of Total Number Total Number
Gradtion Students Commence Studetkns Grdsated
1989-90 331 317
199D-91 344 334
1991-92 187 - 185
The tern 'cadets' is understood to refer to police recnuits.
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GREEK - TERTIARY ENTRANCE EXAMINATION SUBJECT
Other States

372. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education:
Is Greek included as a tertiary entrance examination subject in ocher Australian
States?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
Modem Greek is a tertiary entrance examination subject in South Australia,
Victoria, New South Wales, Queensland, Tasmania, ACT and Northern
Territory.

OPTICAL DISPENSERS - LICENCES ABOLITON
373. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Health:
(1) Are licences for optical dispensers in Western Australia to be abolished?
(2) If so, when, and for what reason?
H-on KAY HALLAH-AN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -

(1) There is no current intention that the licensing requirements for optical
dispensers be abolished.

(2) Not applicable.
OPTICAL DISPENSERS ACT' - AMENDMENTS

Government Gazenal
374. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

Health:
Further to question on notice No 90 of 17 March 1992 -
(1) What regulations have been amended to cover the recommendations

made in the discussion papers tidled "Review of the Optical Dispensers
Act 1966"?

(2) In what Government Gazette were they published?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for Health has provided the following reply -
(1) None. Amendments are still in the process of being developed.
(2) Not applicable.

AUSTRALIAN WORKERS UNION - PORT HEDLAND COMPANIES AND
BUSINESSES

Forced Signing of Staff Payment Agreements
418. Hon P.H. LOCKYER to Hon John Halden representing the Minister for Productivity

and Labour Relations:
(1) Is the Government aware that the Australian Workers Union is attempting to

force companies and businesses in the Port Hedland area to sign agreements
relating to pay arrangemnts with their staff?

(2) If so, is the Government aware that the Australian Workers Union is informing
those who refuse to sign that they will not be allowed to operate on site at
Broken Hill Proprietary or Leslie Salt operations?

(3) Does the Government support the Australian Workers Union's tactics?
Hon JOHN HALDEN replied:
(1) The Minister is aware that the Australian Workers Union is pursuing

enterprise agreements with companies and businesses in the Port Hedland
area.
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(2) The Government is not awart of such sedaon. The relevant industrial award
does contain, however, a preference to union members clause as provided for
in the Australian Industrial Relations AcL.

(3) The Government supports the negotiation of enterprise bargaining agreements
as they are provided for in the national wage ease of October 1991.

POLICE - SWANBOURNE HOSPITAL ADMINISTRATION BLOCK
Jarrah Staircase Theft Inquiry

425. Hon P.O. PENDAL to the Minister for Police:
(1) Has the Police Fore investigated the theft from the Swanbourne Hospital

administration block of the jarrah staircase?
(2) If so, with what result?
(3) If not, why not?
(4) If no inquiry has begun on the ground that no complaint of the theft has been

lodged, will he accept ths as such a complaint?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1),(3)-(4)

Yes.
(2) No trace of offender(s). Property not recovered.

POLICE - TRAFFIC PATROL VEHICLES, RURAL AREAS
Cruise Control Units Consideration - Fuel Consumption Improvement

427. Hon P.H. LOCKYER to the Minister for Police:
(1) Will the Government consider the inclusion of cruise control units to traffic

patrol vehicles operating in country areas with a view to improving their fuel
consumption?

(2) If the Government will not agree to all vehicles being fitted, will it consider
fitting some vehicles with a view to comparing those vehicles with cruise
control fuel consumption with those which do not?

(3) If not, why not?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(l)-(2)

Yes.
(3) Not applicable. Cruise control has been fitted to two country traffic vehicles

within the current financial year for evaluation purposes.

DENMARK ENVIRONMENT CENTRE - GRANTS
428. Hon MURIEL PATTERSON to the Minister for Education representing the Minister

for the Environment:
With respect to the Denmark Environment Centre -

(1) How many gramts have been received in the last three years?
(2) What is the amount of any such grants?
(3) What was the purpose of the grants?
(4) How has this money been spent?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for the Environment has provided the following reply -
(1) The Minister for the Environment has made one grant to the Denmark

Environment Centre.
(2) $1241.
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(3) The grant was an equipment grant.
(4) Not known.

POLICE DEPARTMENT -WEST COAST HELICOPTERS PTY LTD
Contract Cancellation -Payment in Full; Settlement Agreement

435. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) As the Police Department has cancelled its contract with West Coast

Helicopters Pty Ltd some 12 months before the contract was due to expire, was
the contract paid out in full?

(2) Was any agreement reached with West Coast Helicopters Pty Ltd in settlement
of the cancellation of the contract, and if yes, what are the terms of the
contract?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1)-(2)

No.
CARAVAN PARKS - DWELLINCUP, CONSERVATION AND LAND

MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT LAND)
21 Year Lease Details - Development Tenders

452. Ron MAX EVANS to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for the
Environment:

With reference to the proposed caravan park on Departnent of Conservation
and Land Management land at Dwellingup -
(1) How much will the private developer pay the Department of

Conservation and Land Management for his 21 year lease of this section
of State Forest?

(2) Will the developer be restricted from selling this long term lease, with its
right to a further 21 year extension?

(3) If not, why not, and if so, how will the restriction be expressed?
(4) What is the name of the company leasing this land?
(5) What are its principle assets and who are its directors?
(6) What relationship does Mr Paul Ogilvie of Rockingham have between

the developing company and the developer as selected by CALM?
(7) Is he the same Paul Ogilvie now employed in the home depot store in

Rockinghamn?
(8) Why is he no longer employed as manager in the Rockingham Holiday

Village?
(9) How many years experience does he have in management, and in the

caravan park industry?
(10) Were tenders called for this development?
(11) If not, why not?
(12) If so, will the Minister table full details of competing tenders or

development proposals?
(13) Is the Minister aware that land now being offered for sale in Dwellingup

by the Department of Land Administration has an upset price of $29 000
for a quarter acre block?

(14) Has the Department of Land Administration been asked to value the
20 hectares development site, and if not, why not?

(15) If so, what is the value of this land?
(16) When will this land be excised from State forest?
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Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for the Environment has provided the following reply-
(1) If an area of State forest is leased, a lease rental based on a percentage

of gross turnover will be negotiated. The maximum term available for
a State forest lease is 20 years, not 21 years.

(2) Yet. There is no option for a lease extension available for a State
forest lease.

(3) CALM leases have a standard clause requiring consent of the lessor
before leases can be transferred or assigned.

(4)-(6)
The selected proponent is the Ogilvie family and syndicate which
Mr Paul Ogilvie directs. At this stage there is no formal arrangement.
The legal entity is still to be determined.

(7) 1 am not aware in detail of Mr Ogilvie's other business interests.
(8) 1 understand Mr Ogilvie is occupied in developing other business

interests, the Dwellingup caravan park in particular.
(9) Mr Ogilvie has been a business proprietor for 15 years and a caravan

park manager for two and a half years. He was an active member of
the Caravan Park and Trades Association for two years.

(10) Expressions of interest were called through public advertisement.
(11) Not applicable.
(12) Expressions of interest are called in confidence.
(13) No.
(14) No. It is not a development site.
(15) Not applicable.
(16) Whether it is excised or not is a matter still be to be determined.

LEEUWIN-NATI.RALISTE NATIONAL PARK - THREE BEARS COASTAL
TRACK CLOSURE

Clearing of Bush Reason
456. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for

the Environment:
(1) Why has the coastal track to the Three Bears area in the Leeuwin-Naturaliste

National Park at Yallingup been closed against the wishes of the Busselron
Shire Council, the surfing and fishing fraternity and the volunteer bush fire
brigade?

(2) Why has the Department of Conservation and Land Management cleared a
30 metre wide swath of bush (including many melaleucas over 100 years old)
from an inland track to the coast down a steep incline which is potentially
subject to erosion?

(3) Why was the existing track, which runs alongside the swath of cleared bush,
not upgraded to avoid further environmental damage?

(4) What precautions were taken to prevent the spread of dieback in this
environmentally sensitive area by the CALM equipment used in this exercise?

(5) With access to the coastal areas closed, how does CALM propose to deal with
emergencies such as surfing and bush fires which may arise in ths area?

Hon KAY HALLA}IAN replied:
The Minister for the Environment has provided the following reply -

(1) The coastal track to the Three Bears surfbreak in the Leeuwin-
Naturaliste National Park has been closed to public access to prevent
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substantial further erosion of the track and to allow degraded areas
along and close to the track to rehabilitate. The closure of the track
was prescribed in the management plan for the park, a public
document, published in March 1989.

(2) CALM has not cleared a 30 metre wide swath of bush north of
Yallingup. The area referd to is a 30 metre wide area of scrub
rolling in preparation for prescribed burning. The vegetation has been
flattened but not pulled up so there is no risk of erosion from the
operation.

(3) The track alongside the 30 metre scrub rolled area will be a
management track only and does not have to be upgraded to cater for
additional traffic.

(4) As part of the planning for the operations an assessment was made of
the hygiene necessary to minimise the risk and impact from disease.
These hygiene measures were implemented by the officer supervising
the operation.

(5) CALM has given an undertaking that there will be sufficient access for
firefighting north of Yallingup. This level -of access will also be
available for other emergency services during the fire season when
there is the greatest likelihood of accidents involving waxer spans.
During winter CALM will provide any access it can for emergency
vehicles while accomplishing the closure of the coastal track to the
public and recovery of the degraded areas.

KINGS PARK RESTAURANT - REDEVELOPMENT
Signing of Lease Agreement

457. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for the
Environment:
(1) Has a lease agreement for the redevelopment of the Kings Park Restaurant

been signed?
(2) If so, on what dare and with which lessee?
(3) If not, when is the lease expected to be signed?
(4) Having regard for the fact that tenders for the lease were, called more than two

years ago and the community has been without this restaurant facility for some
12 months, what is the reason for the delay in completing the lease?

(5) Is it intended that the redevelopment will be in the form of the award winning
design?

(6) When is work on the redevelopment expected to commence?
(7) When will the new restaurant be open to the public?
Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:

The Minister for the Environment has provided the following reply -

The agreement relating to the redevelopment of the Kings Park
Restaurant was signed on 21 February 1992 by representatives of the
Kings Park Board and Australian Tourist Restaurants Pty Ltd and
approved by the Governor in Executive Council on 17 March 1992.
The terms and conditions of the lease to be granted by the board to
Australian Tourist Restaurants Pty Ltd are contained in schedule 1 of
this agreement.

The agreement provides for the lease to be signed after practical
complexion of the redevelopment thereby enabling the lease
commencement date to be determined.
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(5) The redevelopment will generally be in accord with the concept of the
award winning design.

(6) Work has been in progress for some weeks on design development and
is about to commence on the preparation of contract documents.

(7) The new restaurant is expected to be opened to the public in
September 1993.

WEEDS - SPRAYING, MANNING FORESHORE
Responsible Awthorhy; Reasons

458. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for the
Environment:
(I) Is the Minister aware that "tweeds control" spraying of the natural undeveloped

river foreshore, in the vicinity of the Manning suburb, has been conducted on
occasions, and as recently as last week?

(2) What authority is responsible for this spraying operation?
(3) Why is spraying being carried out in this natural bush area?
(4) Given the potential threat to the native plants and birds which inhabit the area,

will the Minister undertake to examine whether any valid need exists for the
continuation of such spraying?

Hon KAY H-ALLAHAN replied:
The Minister for the Environment has provided the following reply -

(1) 1 understand that the Swan River Trust has sprayed the area once to
trial the effectiveness of fusillade as a selective herbicide to control
perennial grasses such as couch, buffalo and kikuyu which have
invaded the natural rush environment. I am not aware of other
spraying operations.

(2) The Swan River Trust was responsible for the spraying exercise
referred to in (1).

(3) The spraying was carried out in the natural bush area to control exotic
weeds which are altering the native habitat.

(4) The spraying is in fact needed to help regenerate the natural
environment. I understand that the Swan River Trust is to prepare a
report which will outline the effectiveness of the spray on the exotic
weeds, including results of water testing and measures of the impact of
the spray in invertebrates taken before and after the operation.
Preliminary results indicate that it did not impact on the river water or
invertebrates in the river. Results of the impact of the spray on
invertebrates in the rushes have still to be produced.

KUMNIJIRRA IRRIGATION CHANNELS - BANANA PLANTATIONS
Hobby Farmers and Broadacre Farmers Definition - Irrigation Rates and Charges

462. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for Water
Resources:
(1) What is the definition of a "hobby fanner" as distinct from a "broadacre

farmer" in the context of drawing water from Kununurra irrigation channels to
irrigate banana plantations?

(2) What is the rate per hectare charged for hobby farmers and broadacre farmers
who draw water from irrigation channels in Kununurra?

(3) How many broadacre farmers and hobby farmers draw water from the
irrigation scheme at Kununurra?

(4) Which committee or group advises the Minister on the provision of irrigation
water in Kununurra?
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Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
Please refer to my reply to question without notice of 2 June 1992.

PUBLIC SERVICE - YOUTH EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING
200 Clerical and Keyboard Positions

464. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Employment and Training:
In a media statement dated 31 December 1991 the Minister for Education and
for Employment and Training said that young people contemplating training
"will also be able to apply for more than 200 clerical and keyboard positions in
the public service" -

(1) Have these 200 positions been made available?
(2) If yes,

(a) where have these positions been made available;,
(b) have these positions been advertised, and
(c) how was it possible when the Government has promised to cut

staff across the board in Government, departments?
Hon KAY HALLJAHAN replied:

Departmental officers are making inquiries to provide answers to the
member's questions. The Minister will respond directly to the member in
writing as soon as the information is available.

COMMUNITY SERVICES, DEPARTMENT FOR - MEDIA AND OR PUBLIC
RELATIONS CONSULTANTS EMPLOYMENT, 1990-91

465. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Education representing the Minister for
Community Services:
(1) Did the Department of Community Services employ any media and or public

relations consultants in -

(a) 1990;
(b) 1991?

(2) If yes, what were the names of the firms or individuals involved?
(3) How much was paid to each firm or individual in the year -

(a) 1990;
(b) 1991?

Hon KAY HALLAHAN replied:
Departmental officers are making inquiries to provide answers to the
member's questions. The Minister will respond directly to the member in
writing as soon as the information is available.

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE

PERTH CITY FORESHORE - IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT
Next Phase Decision

291. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Leader of the House representing the Premier:
Given the considerable public participation and support for the improvements
to the Perth city foreshore, when is it anticipated that a decision will be made
to proceed with the next phase of the project and thereby further involve the
community in the consultative process of planning this important area of the
city?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
The Premier has provided the following reply -
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The Government has the matter under current consideration.
FORESTS - MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES FOR THE SOUTH WEST FORESTS

Submission Deadline Extension
292. Hon P.G. PENDAL to Hon Mark Nevill representing the Minister for the

Environment:
I refer to the forest management strategy for the south west forests and ask
whether the Minister will consider extending the 5 June deadline so that some
submissions, still under preparation, can be lodged?

Hon MARK NEVIIJL replied:
The Minister for the Environment has provided the following reply -

The submission period for the draft review of management strategies for the
south west forests has already been extended by one month providing a total
of four months for submissions to be prepared. I do not wish to extend the
formal public submission period any longer. Several submittors who have
anticipated missing the deadline by a day or two have already contacted
officers of the Department of Conservation and Land Management and the
Environmental Protection Authority to advise that their submission will be
lodged within a few days, and I do not have a problem wit meeting further
requests of that.

KUNUNURRA IRRIGATION CHANINELS - BANANA PLANTATIONS
Hobby Farmers and Broadacre Farmers Definition - Irrigation Rates and Charges

293. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police representing the Minister for Water
Resources:

(1) What is the definition of a hobby fanner as to distinct from a broadacre fanner
in the context of drawing water from Kununturra irrigation channels to irrigate
banana plantations?

(2) What is the rate per hectare charged for -
(a) hobby farmers; and
(b) broadacre farmers
who draw water from irrigation channels in Kununurra?

(3) How many -

(a) broadacre farmers; and
(b) hobby fanners
draw water from the irrigation scheme at Kununurra?

(4) Which committee or group advises the Minister on the provision of irrigation
water in Kununurra?

Point of Order

Hon FRED McKENZIE: That is question on notice No 462.
Hon GEORGE CASH: By way of explanation, I advise that there was an

understanding that the various questions of which I had given notice were to
be incorporated into Hlansard so they were answered today. However, for
reasons outside my control, and I think most members' control, chat did not
occur and an arrangement was made with the Leader of the House's office to
ensure that those answers were provided today.

Questions without Notice Resumed
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

The Minister for Water Resources has provided the following response
(1) Irrigation rates and charges for the Ord River irrigation area based on

the method and security of supply, not on crop type or form of
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agriculture. The definitions "hobby farmer" (horticulturist) and
"broadacre farmer" are used to describe the size of farms. Hobby
farmers loosely describes farms smaller than 20 hectares. Economics
of hobby farms usually require intensive type agriculture -
horticulture. These would include banana plantations However,
horticulture is no: restricted to hobby farms only. There is no
distinction made between each type of farmer in the context of
drawing water from the irrigation channels as all farmers have access
to unlimited volumes of water with the rate constrained by their
offtake. Broadacre and hobby farms are rated the same except for
Packsaddle Plains.

(2) The following table lists the charges applicable in the Ord River
irrigation district for those farms that draw water from irrigation
channels.

Per Hectare per
on Total Area Irrigated

Hectare
Packsaddle Plains
Hobby (Horticulture) $19.75 plus $41.00

min of
$154.00 pa

Broadacre $36.10
Ivanhoe Plains
Horticultural - pumped $33.20

- gravity $36.10
Broadacre - pumped $33.20

- gravity $36.10

(3) (a) Broadacre - 53;
(b) Hobby -41.

(4) Ord River Irrigation Advisory Committee.

SWAN BREWERY SITE - HERITAGE ACT' LISTING
294. Hon P.G. PENDAL to the Parliamentary Secretary representing the Minister for

Heritage:
(1) Is it a fact that the Minister or the Government has listed the old Swan

Brewery under the provisions of the Heritage Act?
(2) If so, what procedures were followed and when did listing formally take

place?
Hon MARK NEVILL replied:

The Minister for Heritage has provided the following reply -

(1) Yes.
(2) The place was formally entered into the Register of Heritage Places on

an interim basis by notice placed in the Government Gazette on
I1I February 1991. A total of 316 submissions were received, 164 in
favour of' registration and 152 against. A report on the assessment of
submissions was consequently prepared and provided to the City of
Perth. The Minister for Heritage issued the heritage protection group,
the Brewery Preservation Society, the Swan Brewery Action Group,
the Swan Valley Fringe Dwellers and Mr Gerry Morrison with an
invitation to make representation on any aspect of the submissions or
any other relevant matter. One response was received from fringe
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dwellers with a substantial submission asserting the traditional value
of the site. The Heritage Council subsequently met and con sidered the
submission and made a final recommendation which confirmed their
earlier view that dhe whole precinct is a place of cultural and heritage
significance because of its aesthetic, historical and scientific values.

Hon P.O. Pendal: Does that say the dare upon which that was referred to them?
Hon MARK NEVIL.L: No. The site is of value to both the present Aboriginal

community and the broader community and to future generations and
permanent registration was recommended.

POLICE - HIGH SPEED CAR CHASES
3 June Chases Concern - Accidents; Arrests

295. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Police:
I refer to seven high speed car chases involving juvenile car thieves last night.

Hon Graham Edwards: How do you know they were juveniles?
Hon BARRY HOUSE: That is as reported on the radio.
(1) Did any of the chases end in accidents resulting in personal injury or property

damage?
(2) Were there any arrests, and have we returned to the alarming high rate of car

thefts and high speed chases prior to Christmas 1991 ?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

An extremely worrying situation is developing where police must contend
with serious offenders - as occurred last night. I do not know whether they
are juveniles but they have, by all appearances, endeavoured to set up and ramn
police between two vehicles. The police have had to take some fairly drastic
evasive action to avoid, in some instances, a car being driven at them from
behind and another car from being driven at them from in front.

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: At the same rime?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS: Yes. That occurred last night and has occurred on a

number of occasions. It is an extremely worrying situation because the police
are being placed in danger, as are unsuspecting members of the public. The
Commissioner for Police has issued an instruction that his operational police
officers are to take advantage of any lawful opportunity to apprehend the
offenders regardless of any financial implications. I am drafting a memo to
the commissioner endorsing his instruction. However, I reiterate my view
that paramount in the operations of the police are two things: Firstly, the
safety of the police officers concerned; and, secondly, the safety of the public.
The police have my full support in their efforts to apprehend these offenders
as quickly as possible.
I make a plea to the public: if these circumstances involve juveniles, their
parents must know or suspect that their children, or children they know, are
involved in these activities. In the interests of preventing serious injury or
death to the people involved - the offenders, the police or the public - they
should be responsible and put the police in contact with those offenders so
that they can be apprehended. I make that plea to any member of the public
who has knowledge of these offences. I call on them to come forward
immediately because I do nor want to see another situation develop similar to
that which occurred earlier this year. Whether they are juveniles or not, some
members of the public must know who these people are and it is incumbent
upon those people to come forward. I do not want police officers risking theft
lives in their erndeavours to apprehend those offenders. By the same token,
the police cannot be expected to let those offenders roam. In the interests of
public safety they will have to take some risks to apprehend those offenders.
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POLICE - HIGH SPEED CAR CHASES
3 June Chases Concern - Accidents; Arrests

296. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Minister for Police:
Did any of the car chases char occurred last night result in accidents or arests?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
My understanding is that no arrests were made. I cannot recall whether there
were any accidents. However, my concern is not for damage to vehicles; my
concern is primarily for any injury that might occur to a police officer,
member of the public or offender.

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE - NOS 297,298
Answers Request

297. Hon MAX EVANS to the Leader of the House:
Why have I not received answers to questions on notice 297 and 298?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
It is due to what is called a glitch in the system. As I understand it, the
answers were sent to my office rather than to the office dealing with the
inclusion of answers in the Supplementary Notice Paper. I have the answers
and I will provide them together with the questions as they are relevant to Hon
Max Evans' interest in a forthcoming Bill.

REDUNDANCY PACKAGES - CONSOLIDATED REVENUE FUND
ESTIMATES, 1991-92

$50 Million Receipts - Estimzated Revised Cost Breakdown
298. Hon MAX EVANS to the Leader of the House representing the Treasurer:

With reference to the Capital Works Program for the year ending 30 June
1992, page 55 of the General Loan and Capital Works Fund Estimates of
Expenditure shows a transfer to Consolidated Revenue Fund for redundancy
payments of $50 million -

(1) Where are the receipts to Consolidated Revenue shown?
(2) If the total is not $50 million what is the breakdown of the $50 million

transferred to Consolidated Revenue Fund?
Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:

The Treasurer has provided the following reply -

(1) Pages 7 and 24 of the 1991-92 Consolidated Revenue Fund Estimates.
(2) The estimated revised cost of the scheme is $101.5 million, comprising

$47.8 million for the redundancy scheme, $19.3 million for accrued leave
entitlements and $34.4 million for superannuation payouts.

REDUNDANCY PACKAGES - TOTAL COSTS
Budge; Overrun Reason

299. Hon MAX EVANS to the Leader of the House representing the Treasurer:
(1) What are the total costs to the Government of the voluntary severance scheme?
(2) Why has this scheme been allowed to exceed the budget of $50 million?
(3) Will the Treasurer borrow further funds?
(4) Was a budget drawn up for large Government departments?
(5) If so, what were their budgets and how much was the excess over budget?

Hon J.M. BERINSON replied:
The Treasurer has provided the following reply -

(1) Payments under the special voluntary severance scheme totalled
approximately $47.8 million. In addition, $19.3 million has been paid for
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accrued leave entitlements and $34.4 million for superannuation payouts in
advance of when they would normally have been paid.

(2) It is due to the excellent response from departments and authorities to abolish
more positions than were originally identified in the budget process, to allow
for more redeployees to be permanently placed, and to provide for the
recruitment of school leavens.

(3) This question is not understood.
(4) No. A global provision was made under the miscellaneous Services Division

of the 1991-92 Consolidated Revenue Fund Estimates.
(5) Not applicable.

POLICE - BREAK-INS STATISTICS 1983, 1991
Vehicle Theft Statistics 1983, 1991 - Manpower 1982, 1991

300. Hon W.N. STRETCH to the Minister for Police:
(1) What was the number of break-ins reported to the police in the year ended

30 June 1983?
(a) What was the rate per 1 000 households?
(b) What was the equivalent number and rate for the year ending

31 December 1991?
(2) What was the number of motor vehicle thefts and break-ins reported to the

police in the year ending 30 June 1983?
(a) What is that rate per 1 000 registered motor vehicles in Western

Australia?
(b) What is the equivalent number and rate for the year ending

31 December 1991?
(3) What was the strength of the Western Australia Police Force in total at

31 December 1982?
(4) What was the equivalent strength of the same force at 31 December 1991?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

I thank the member for notice of the question. However, some of the detail is
not available and some is not readily available. I suggest that the member put
the question on notice and I will respond as soon as possible.

INDUSTRIAL SITE, DOWN ROAD, ALBANY - FIRE CONTROL AUTHORITY
301. Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY to the Minister for Emergency Services:

Who or what authority is responsible for fire control at the Albany industrial
site at Down Road after it is developed?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
I thank the. member for notice of the question. The industrial area at Down
Road will be under the authority of the Shire of Albany. As development
proceeds it is usual for a review of fire protection to be undertaken to ensure
chat fire protection, commensurate with the risk, is provided.

SUBIACO OVAL - REPORTS PAYMENT
Harot, David; Mwacnish, Andrew

302. Hon MAX EVANS to the Minister for Sport and Recreation:
The Minister has two reports on the Subiaco oval prepared for the Australian
Sports Commission by David Hatt, a member of that commission.
(1) Was the Australian Spans Commission paid for these reports and, if

so, how much was it paid for each report?
(2) Was David Hatt paid for preparing the reports and, if so, how much

was he paid for each report?
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(3) Was Andrew Macnish paid for his work on the second report and, if
so, by whom?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

David Hant was not paid. He is a tota sport zealot and is very wel respected
in this State and federally for his knowledge and expertise in this area. He is
even more greatly respected by me because he does this work for nothing.
Andrew Macnish was paid; I am not sure of the amount, but I can provide that
information to the member at a later stage. We are very fortunate to have the
opportunity to use the services of Andrew Macnish who is well respected in
the community. He is even mome qualified for this job because he plays for
Subiaco! He did an excellent job and I am advised he has developed an
excellent computer program.
Hon Max Evans asked me for copies of those reports and I have indicated to
him that I will provide him with them. I expect to have them ready within the
next couple of days.

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE - OUTSTANDING
Minister for Transport' s High Proportion

303. Hon BARRY HOUSE to the Leader of the House:
(1) I have two outstanding questions to the Minister for Transport. I have done a

quick calculation and 32 of the 78 unanswered questions are to the Minister
for Transport; that is, well over one-third. Is there any reason why so many of
the unanswered questions were directed to the Minister for Transport?

(2) As this is the last day of this sitting and we are likely to be here until the early
hours of the morning, is there any possibility of producing a supplementary
Notice Paper for today's sitting to provide an opportunity for the answers to
questions to be recorded in Hansard this session?

Hon 1.M_ BERINSON replied:

I do not represent the Minister for Transport in this House, so I cannot speak
with any real authority. I would think, even going on the basis of the
question, that the most obvious answer to the high proportion of unanswered
questions in respect of the Transport portfolio is the high proportion of
questions directed to that portfolio. I am confident, without being in a
position to be precise simply because I do not represent the Minister, that the
response from her portfolio would be well up to the standard of all other
Ministers and departments.

WELLN{ESS DAY - PUBLIC RESPONSE
304. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Sport and Recreation:

(1) Does the Minister have any indication of the response by Western Australians
to this State's first wellness day?

(2) If so, can the Minister indicate which country and metropolitan shires showed
the biggest interest?

(3) Is wellness day likely to remain an annual event?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

I thank the member for his question. As there was a lot of interest when I
raised this matter previously I thought I would provide the final breakdown of
the wellness day participation rates. As members will be aware, wellness day
is a combined initiative of the Ministry of Sport and Recreation and local
government anid encourages all sections of the population to make a decision
to undertake at least 15 minutes of physical activity, and have this recorded
with their local shire or the ministry.

3477



On Wednesday, 27 May approximately 138 000 Western Australians took
time out to participate in wellness day. proving that a healthy and active
lifestyle is high on their list of priorities. I ask country members to take note
of this: The Shire of Bruce Rock was the overall State leader with 63.5 per
cent of the population involved in some form of recreational activity on the
day.. This was closely followed by the Shires of Quairading and Plantagenet
with participation rates of 55 per cent and 51.5 per cent respectively.

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Were those percentages verified?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS: The member can take it from me that they are correct.

In Geraldton almost 42 per cent of the population, approximately 8 800
people, participated in wellness day. Figures for the metropolitan area show
that Arniadale with 32.9 per cent and Kwinana with 31.6 per cent were the
most active participating shires on the day. On the strength of this first up
response it would be fair to say that wellness day is alive and well in Western
Australia and will continue to live on, bigger and healthier in the years to
come.

POLICE - CRIME RATE REDUCTION
Minister for Police's Statements - Statistics Evidence or Gut Feeling

305. Hon W.N. STRETCH to the Minister for Police:
In view of the Minister's constant statements that the crime rate has been
curbed since he came into Government and his inability to answer my
questions today on that rate, does he base his statements on statistical
evidence or his gut feeling?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
If I wanted to get annoyed, I could say that the member is misrepresenting me.
I have never made the statement he is attributing to me. I have said quite
clearly that since this Government came to office it has by way of deliberate
policy increased immensely the resources - both staff numbers and monetary -
to ensure the police have the ability to do their job. The figures!I have quoted
of late are comparisons between the first few months of this year and the first
few months of last year. I have been at great pain to point out that we should
treat these figures with caution, but that they do show a significant drop is
encouraging. I hope that our crime rate is on a downward path. When I have
mentioned the figures in this House I have said that I do not want to be seen to
be crowing about them and I reiterate that we must treat them with caution.
They are encouraging figures and 1, as I am sure most members would, hope
that we are on a downward trend which will result in a significant decrease in
the crime rate in the future.

POLICE - JOONDALUP COMPLEX
Opening Date; Manpower; 241-Hour Operations

306. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) When is the Joondal up police complex to open?
(2) How many police and other personnel will be attached to the Jooindalup police

complex?
(3) Is the Joondalup police complex to be a 24 hour police station?
H-on GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1) No definite date has been set. This building is yet to be completed and

handed over. At least two weeks' work still remains to be done. Further
delays may occur owing to a current dispute.

(2) 53 comprising 50 police and three non-police.
(3) Yes.
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SCAMCAM - NEW SOUTH WALES TRIALS
Western Australian Police Departent Acquisition Intention

307. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) Is the Minister aware of the scarncan hightech satellite system which can

detect stolen or unregistered motor vehicles and which system was introduced
onto New South Wales roads in February 1992?

(2) Has the tracking system been a success in New South Wales?
(3) Is it intended that the Western Australia Police Force should acquire scamcamn

equipment?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1) 1 am aware that the New South Wales Road and Traffic Authority is carrying

out trials on two monitoring systems: The scamrcarn and the automatic
network travel time system. The scarncam is only for the movement of heavy
vehicles and is not in use for the monitoring of all vehicles. Neither of these
systems currently use satellite; rather, they use radio transmission for the
transfer of data.

(2) Inquiries with the New South Wales Police Department and the Road and
Traffic Authority have revealed that this system has only recently been
implemented, and is still being evaluated and developed.

(3) The Western Australian Police Department is aware of the system being
trialled in New South Wales, and is awaiting results.
MOTOR VEHICLES - KEEP LEFT FAILURE CONCERN

Road Traffic Code Amendmnent Consideration
308. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:

(1) Is the Minister aware of considerable concern in the commiunicy about the
failure of drivers to drive vehicles as close as practicable to the left boundary
of a carriageway?

(2) Will the Minister consider an amendment to the Road Traffic Code to ensure
that where a carriageway is one way or has two or morn marked lanes for
vehicles travelling in the same direction, drivers be required to keep to the left
where practicable unless overtaking?

Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1) Yes.
(2) Legislation already exists (Reg 501 RTC) which requires drivers to keep their

vehicles to the left when travelling on a carriageway where there ame no
marked lanes. This includes one way carriageways where there are no
marked lanes. Multi-laned roads are designed and constructed to cater for
high volumes of traffic and as such all lanes need to be utilised to facilitate an
effective traffic flow. Legislation also exists (Reg 503(l) RTC) which
prohibits drivers from travelling in the right hand lane on a fast lane
carriageway unless their speed is within nine kmns of the posted speed limit. A
fast lane carriageway is defined as a dual carriageway where the speed limit is
80 km/h or more and there are two or more marked lanes. 1 have asked the
Traffic Board to examine this further and advise of a suitable education
program that may be initiated through the road trauma trust fund.

POLICE - ABORIGINAL JUVENILES
Interviews in the Presence of Parents, Guardians etc

309. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) Does the Government support the view that no Aboriginal juvenile should be

interrogated by a police officer except in the presence of a parent, other
person responsible for the care and the supervision of the child or, in the
absence of a parent or such other person, an officer of an agency or
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organisation charged with responsibility for the came and welfare of
Aboriginal juveniles?

(2) If not, why not?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:

Yes. Instructions concerning the interview of all juveniles issued by the
Commissioner of Police to police officers direct that where a child is to be
interviewed by a police officer in relation to the commission of an offence, the
officer is to ensure where practicable that a parent, guardian, other relative,
school teacher, justice of the peace or other independent person to whom the
child can turn for advice or support is present at the interview. Where the
officer has exhausted all avenues in attempting to have an independent person
present at the interview, another police officer, senior in rank to the
interviewing officer and not connected in any way with the case, should
where practicable be present.

ABORIGINAL PERSONS - POLICE INITI1ATED INTERVENTIONS
Offensive Language Charges

310. Hon GEORGE CASH to the Minister for Police:
(1) Does the Government support the general proposition that -

(a) the use of offensive language in circumstances of interventions
initiated by the police with Aboriginal persons should not normally be
occasion for arrest or charge; and

(b) that the police could examine and monitor the use of offensive
language charges preferred against Aboriginal persons?

(2) If not, why not?
Hon GRAHAM EDWARDS replied:
(1)-(2)

Police routinely exercise discretion with respect to charges for use of
offensive language. Offensive language by itself is not normally an occasion
for arrest. Ihe incidence of these charges is not monitored in any formal way,
as charges for use of offensive language are recorded as "disorderly conduct".
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